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Dear Fellow Stockholders:

Since IDT’s inception, we’ve had a core focus in the retail telecom industry. We successfully battled the industry’s
oligarchs by innovating new retail telecommunications services and moving nimbly to pursue emerging opportunities.

In fiscal 2013, our flagship Boss Revolution PIN-less international long distance calling product increased revenues
by over 75% compared to the prior year and drove IDT’s significant year-over-year increases in adjusted EBITDA
and free cash flow.

But recently, we have broadened our retail focus beyond telecom.

We’ve moved from a telecom-centric approach to a sharp focus on the needs of our target customers – primarily first
and second generation immigrants, many of whom are unbanked or under-banked.

Reflective of this transformation, we adapted our Boss Revolution platform to support an expanding suite of comple-
mentary payment services including domestic and international air-time transfer, domestic bill payment, and interna-
tional money transfer.

We married this flexible platform to our growing network of over 35,000 neighborhood retailers, our experience
serving immigrant communities, and the powerful Boss Revolution brand to create an integrated and scalable
approach to serve the voice and payment needs of immigrant communities and the under-banked on a global scale.

In addition to the exciting potential of payment services and other opportunities within our IDT Telecom division,
we see tremendous value in our Zedge and Fabrix Systems businesses.

For those of you unfamiliar with these businesses, Zedge (www.zedge.net) is the leading mobile content discovery
platform for free, high quality games, ringtones, and wallpapers, and is frequented by tens of millions of unique users
monthly. Zedge’s Android app has averaged in the 15 most downloaded apps on Google Play for 3 years running
and its iOS app is growing quickly. We recently announced that we are exploring alternatives to unlock Zedge’s
value.

Fabrix Systems (www.fabrixsystems.com) is a leading provider of enterprise class integrated storage and computing
platforms for applications requiring processing and storage of large and constantly growing quantities of big data.
Fabrix Systems’ largest deployments are in the media and entertainment space, which - given the huge growth in
video-on-demand - bodes well for the future.

As you can see, we are geared up and working hard to build upon the significant progress achieved during fiscal
2013. We look forward to updating you on our progress during the year ahead.

Sincerely,

Howard S. Jonas
CEO & Chairman of the Board
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Part I
As used in this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “the Company,” “IDT,” “we,”
“us,” and “our” refer to IDT Corporation, a Delaware corporation, its predecessor, International Discount
Telecommunications, Corp., a New York corporation, and its subsidiaries, collectively. Each reference to a
fiscal year in this Annual Report refers to the fiscal year ending in the calendar year indicated (for example,
fiscal 2013 refers to the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013).

Item 1. Business.

OVERVIEW
We are a multinational holding company with operations primarily in the telecommunications industry. We
have three reportable business segments, Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services, which
comprise our IDT Telecom division, and Zedge Holdings, Inc., or Zedge. Telecom Platform Services provides
telecommunications services, including prepaid and rechargeable calling products and international long dis-
tance traffic termination, as well as various payment services. Consumer Phone Services provides consumer
local and long distance services in the United States. Zedge owns and operates an online platform for mobile
phone consumers interested in obtaining free and relevant, high quality games, apps, and personalization
content, such as ringtones, wallpapers, and alerts. All other operating segments that are not reportable
individually are included in All Other. All Other includes Fabrix Systems Ltd (formerly Fabrix T.V., Ltd.), or
Fabrix, a software development company specializing in highly efficient cloud-based video processing, storage
and delivery, our real estate holdings, and other smaller businesses.

Financial information by segment and geographic areas is presented under the heading “Business Segment
Information” in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report.

Our headquarters are at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey 07102. We lease space at 550 Broad Street,
Newark, New Jersey where many of our employees work. The telephone number at our headquarters is
(973) 438-1000 and our web site is www.idt.net.

We make available free of charge through the investor relations page of our web site (www.idt.net/ir) our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amend-
ments to these reports, and all beneficial ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by directors, officers and
beneficial owners of more than 10% of our equity as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We have adopted a Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics for all of our employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer. Copies of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on
our web site.

Our web site and the information contained therein or incorporated therein are not incorporated into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

KEY EVENTS IN OUR HISTORY
We were founded in August 1990 and were originally incorporated in New York as International Discount
Telecommunications, Corp. We were renamed IDT Corporation and reincorporated in Delaware in December
1995. We entered the telecommunications business in 1990, providing international call re-origination service.
In 1995, with our access to the favorable international telephone rates we received as a result of our calling
volume, we began selling wholesale termination services to other long distance carriers.

We completed an initial public offering of our stock on March 15, 1996. Our Class B common stock is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “IDT.”

In 1996, we entered the Internet telephony market with our introduction, through our subsidiary Net2Phone,
Inc., of PC2Phone, the first commercial service to connect voice calls between personal computers and tele-
phones over the Internet.

In January 1997, we began marketing prepaid calling cards.
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In fiscal 2009, we introduced Boss Revolution PIN-less, our pay-as-you-go, international calling service. The
Boss Revolution platform on which it was built has since been expanded to include payment offerings such as
domestic and international airtime top-up, domestic bill pay and international money transfer service.

On October 28, 2011, we completed the Genie Spin-Off, which was a pro rata distribution of the common
stock of our subsidiary, Genie Energy Ltd., or Genie, to our stockholders of record as of the close of business
on October 21, 2011. At the time of the Genie Spin-Off, Genie owned 99.3% of Genie Energy International
Corporation, which owned 100% of IDT Energy and 92% of Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. IDT Energy is a retail
energy provider supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the North-
eastern United States. Genie Oil and Gas is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable trans-
portation fuels from the world’s abundant oil shales and other fuel resources. Genie Oil and Gas resource
development projects include initiatives in Colorado, Israel and Mongolia. As of October 28, 2011, each of
our stockholders received one share of Genie Class A common stock for every share of our Class A common
stock and one share of Genie Class B common stock for every share of our Class B common stock held of
record as of the close of business on October 21, 2011. Genie and its subsidiaries met the criteria to be
reported as discontinued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash
flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Straight Path Communications Inc. Spin-Off
On July 31, 2013, we completed the Straight Path Spin-Off, which was a pro rata distribution of the common
stock of our subsidiary, Straight Path Communications Inc., or Straight Path, to our stockholders of record as
of the close of business on July 25, 2013. At the time of the Straight Path Spin-Off, Straight Path owned 100%
of Straight Path Spectrum, Inc. (formerly IDT Spectrum, Inc.), which holds, leases and markets fixed wireless
spectrum licenses, and an 84.5% interest in Straight Path IP Group, Inc. (formerly Innovative Communications
Technologies, Inc.), which holds intellectual property primarily related to communications over the Internet
and the licensing and other businesses related to this intellectual property. As of July 31, 2013, each of our
stockholders received one share of Straight Path Class A common stock for every two shares of our Class A
common stock and one share of Straight Path Class B common stock for every two shares of our Class B
common stock held of record as of the close of business on July 25, 2013. Straight Path and its subsidiaries
met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities, results of
operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

In August 2013, our Board of Directors instructed management to investigate and pursue strategic alternatives
to unlock the value in our Zedge subsidiary, including, without limitation, a spinoff or initial public offering of
its stock. We intend to retain financial advisors to assist us in analyzing and executing on these alternatives.

Dividends
In fiscal 2013, we paid aggregate dividends of $0.75 per share on our Class A common stock and Class B
common stock, or $17.1 million in total, which were paid as follows:

• On October 16, 2012, we paid a cash dividend of $0.15 per share for the fourth quarter of fiscal
2012 to stockholders of record at the close of business on October 9, 2012 of our Class A common
stock and Class B common stock; and

• On November 13, 2012, we effectively paid the fiscal 2013 dividends in advance by distributing
$0.60 per share to stockholders of record at the close of business on November 5, 2012 of our
Class A common stock and Class B common stock.

On September 10, 2013, we paid a special cash dividend of $0.08 per share to stockholders of record at the
close of business on August 30, 2013 of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock.

We anticipate resuming regular quarterly dividends commencing with a $0.15 payment for the first quarter of
fiscal 2014 fiscal, which we expect to pay in December 2013, provided that the first quarter’s results are con-
sistent with our expectations.
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IDT TELECOM
IDT Telecom is comprised of Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services. Telecom Platform
Services provides telecommunications services, including prepaid and rechargeable calling products and
international long distance traffic termination, as well as various payment services. Consumer Phone Services
provides consumer local and long distance services in the United States.

In fiscal 2013, IDT Telecom had revenues of $1,602.1 million, representing 98.9% of our total consolidated
revenues from continuing operations, and income from operations of $50.3 million, as compared with rev-
enues of $1,496.4 million and income from operations of $10.0 million in fiscal 2012.

Telecom Platform Services
Our Telecom Platform Services segment, which represented 99.1% and 98.7% of IDT Telecom’s total rev-
enues in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, markets and distributes multiple communications and
payment services across four broad business categories, including:

• Retail Communications provides international long-distance calling products primarily to
immigrant communities worldwide, with its core markets in the United States. These products
include our flagship Boss Revolution PIN-less product (an international calling service sold through
our Boss Revolution payment platform) as well as other prepaid calling card products including
traditional, disposable calling cards.

• Wholesale Termination Services is a global telecom carrier, terminating international long distance
calls around the world for Tier 1 fixed line and mobile network operators, as well as other service
providers, through our network of 650-plus carrier interconnects.

• Payment Services provides payment offerings, including domestic and international airtime top-up
sold both in traditional hard card format and over our Boss Revolution payment platform, gift
cards sold in the United States and Europe, and our recently launched bill pay and international
money transfer service. Payment Services also includes reloadable prepaid debit cards and Bank
Identification Number (BIN) sponsorship services offered in Europe by our Gibraltar-based bank,
IDT Financial Services Limited.

• Hosted Platform Solutions provides customized communications services that leverage our
proprietary networks, platforms and/or technology to cable companies and other service providers.
The majority of Hosted Platform Solutions’ revenue is generated by our cable telephony business.

During fiscal 2013, our Telecom Platform Services segment generated $1,587.6 million in revenues worldwide
and income from operations of $48.5 million, as compared with revenues of $1,477.1 million and income
from operations of $5.9 million in fiscal 2012.

Retail Communications
Retail Communications’ revenue (41.4% and 37.3% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, respectively) was $656.5 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $551.7 million in fiscal 2012.

In fiscal 2009, IDT Telecom introduced Boss Revolution PIN-less, our international calling service that allows
users to call their families and friends overseas without the need to use a traditional disposable calling card or
enter a personal identification number, or PIN. Customers can add value to their account balances at any Boss
Revolution retailer, by phone or online. Our Boss Revolution PIN-less calling service has become a leading
PIN-less international calling service in the United States. Because each retailer and customer establishes an
account on the Boss Revolution payment platform, the resulting relationship also provides us with an oppor-
tunity to sell additional services. The Boss Revolution payment platform is an online portal that can be
accessed via a regular web browser and utilized to sell a wide variety of our products and services. In fiscal
2011, we started to sell payment offerings such as international airtime top-up through the Boss Revolution
platform, and in fiscal 2012 we added domestic airtime top-up offerings. In fiscal 2013, we introduced
domestic bill pay over the Boss Revolution platform, and we continued to grow revenue from Boss Revolution
PIN-less by continuing to build our retail network.

The introduction of international and domestic airtime top-up over the Boss Revolution payment platform
represent successful efforts to leverage our existing capabilities and distribution network to expand the scope
of services we provide to our customers and generate new sources of revenue to replace declining revenues
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from our traditional calling cards. The Boss Revolution payment platform also provides us with a direct, real-
time relationship with all of our retailers, resulting in a cost-effective and adaptable distribution model that can
rapidly respond to changes in the business environment.

We are also geographically expanding the footprint where we offer our Boss Revolution payment platform. In
fiscal 2012, we launched Boss Revolution in the United Kingdom and Spain. During fiscal 2013, we expanded
Boss Revolution’s footprint to Germany and three markets in the Asia-Pacific region—Australia, Hong Kong
and Singapore.

Although they now comprise a decreasing portion of our retail revenues, we continue to sell our traditional
calling cards under the “La Leyenda,” “Boss,” “Playball,” “GOOOL,” “RED,” “Feliz,” “PT-1” and
“PennyTalk” brand names, among others, providing telephone access to more than 230 countries and terri-
tories. We sell more than 1,000 different calling cards in the United States and more than 800 different cards
abroad, with specific cards featuring favorable rates to specific international destinations. Our calling cards are
marketed primarily to the ethnic and immigrant communities in the United States, Europe, Asia, Latin America
and Africa that tend to generate higher per capita levels of international long distance calls over tele-
communications networks. Our traditional calling card business is declining in revenue as customers transition
to other products, including, among others, PIN-less, internet-based and mobile products.

In the United States, we distribute our products, including Boss Revolution PIN-less and other offerings and
traditional disposable prepaid calling cards, primarily through a network of distributors that, either directly or
through several hundred sub-distributors, sell to retail outlets throughout most of the United States. In addi-
tion, we have an internal sales force that sells prepaid products directly to retailers. We also sell our products
online directly to the consumer.

Retail Communications’ sales have traditionally been strongest in the Northeastern United States because of
our extensive local distribution network. During fiscal 2012, IDT Telecom continued to develop distributor
relationships and sell directly to retailers in other areas of the United States, such as the West Coast, where we
previously did not enjoy a strong market presence. The Boss Revolution retail network in the United States is
now comprised of over 35,000 active retail locations, primarily located in neighborhoods with significant
immigrant populations. We also sell prepaid calling services in Europe, Latin America and Asia, as discussed in
detail in the International Operations section below.

Retail Communications also includes sales of: (1) customized (private label) calling cards, which we sell to
large retailers printed with the retailer’s name and logo for sale to their customers; (2) IDT-branded calling
cards, which are prepaid calling cards printed with the IDT, Entrix or DSA logo and design that are sold to
small and medium-sized retail chains, such as supermarkets, drug stores and convenience stores, for resale to
their customers; and (3) rechargeable calling cards, such as PennyTalk, which are marketed to consumers and
business customers nationwide that can be used by U.S. callers to call internationally from any phone,
including a cell phone.

Wholesale Termination Services
Wholesale Termination Services’ revenue (43.3% and 48.4% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal
2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively) was $687.6 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $715.4 million in fiscal
2012.

Wholesale Termination Services terminates international telecommunications traffic utilizing our proprietary
least-cost-routing system, aggressive purchasing strategies, extensive provisioning experience and our high
volume of international long distance telephone traffic to provide major and niche carriers, operators, and
other service providers such as call aggregators with competitive international termination rates at several
quality levels.

During fiscal 2013, IDT Telecom terminated 32.6 billion minutes compared to 30.8 billion minutes in fiscal
2012, making us one of the largest carriers of long distance minutes worldwide. Wholesale Termination Serv-
ices accounted for 22.4 billion minutes and 21.3 billion minutes of the total IDT Telecom minutes in fiscal
2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively.

IDT Telecom has a significant number of direct connections to Tier 1 providers outside the United States,
particularly Tier 1 providers in Latin America, Asia, Africa and the Middle East. These direct connections
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improve the quality of the telephone calls and reduce the cost, which enables us to generate more traffic with
higher margins to that foreign locale. Tier 1 providers are the largest recognized licensed carriers in a country.
We also have direct relationships with mobile network operators, reflecting their growing share of the voice
traffic market. In fiscal 2013, we expanded these direct relationships with fixed and mobile network operators,
and expect to continue this expansion in fiscal 2014. However, as has occurred in previous quarters, we con-
tinue to experience considerable market rate shifts. Although this creates some pricing instability, we have
often been able to take advantage of these pricing movements. In particular, market rate shifts in Southern
Asia in the later part of fiscal 2013 led to declining volumes of traffic to this region.

In addition to offering competitive rates to our carrier customers, we emphasize our ability to offer the high
quality connections that these providers often require. To that end, we offer higher-priced services in which we
provide higher quality connections, based upon a set of predetermined quality of service criteria. These services
meet a growing need for higher quality connections for some of our customers who are providing services to
high-value, quality-conscious retail customers. As of July 31, 2013, Wholesale Termination Services had more
than 470 customers. IDT Telecom has over 650 carrier relationships globally.

Payment Services
Payment Services’ revenue (12.0% and 10.4% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal 2013 and fiscal
2012, respectively) was $191.3 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $153.0 million in fiscal 2012. Payment serv-
ices’ sales increased substantially in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013 particularly as a result of the introduction of our
domestic and international airtime top-up products to the Boss Revolution platform.

We introduced international airtime top-up services in fiscal 2008. Our international airtime top-up products
enable customers to purchase minutes for a prepaid mobile telephone in another country. This product appeals
to residents of developed countries such as the United States who regularly communicate with or financially
support friends or family members in a developing country. Our payment services offerings combine our plat-
form capabilities, our distribution reach into immigrant communities and our relationships with mobile net-
work operators in developing countries into a simple and reliable service.

Future growth of our Payment Services segment will be, in large part, contingent upon our ability to enter into
new international airtime top-up partnerships with wireless providers, as well as continued growth of interna-
tional airtime top-up volume within existing relationships and the introduction of new payment offerings
through the Boss Revolution payment platform. In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, we launched our domestic
bill payment services in partnership with a licensed domestic bill pay provider.

In addition, in the first quarter of fiscal 2014, we initiated an international money transfer service on a limited
basis over our Boss Revolution platform after obtaining requisite licenses. We believe that these services are
complementary to our existing product lines, and can be efficiently delivered through our retail network—
currently linked by our Boss Revolution platform. The regulated financial services products are marketed by
our subsidiaries IDT Payment Services Inc. and IDT Payment Services of New York LLC in the United States,
and by our Gibraltar based bank in Europe. The money transfer licensing process began in the first quarter of
fiscal 2013. Money transfer applications have been filed in 49 U.S. jurisdictions. As of July 31, 2013, IDT
Payment Services has received money transmitter licenses in Puerto Rico, the District of Columbia and the
following 35 states: Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia,
Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi, Missouri, Nebraska,
Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylva-
nia, South Dakota, Utah, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin and Wyoming. We expect to be licensed in
nearly every U.S. state by the end of calendar 2013.

Hosted Platform Solutions
Hosted Platform Solutions’ revenue (3.3% and 3.9% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, respectively) was $52.2 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $57.0 million in fiscal 2012.

Hosted Platform Solutions provides customized communications services that leverage our proprietary net-
works, platforms and/or technology to cable companies and other service providers. The majority of Hosted
Platform Solutions’ revenue is generated by our cable telephony business.
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International Operations
In Europe, we market our Retail Communications products in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Spain,
Germany, Belgium, Italy, Luxembourg, Sweden, Switzerland, Denmark, Norway, and Austria, seeking to
capitalize on the demographic opportunity presented by immigration from underdeveloped countries to
Europe’s developed nations. Because the immigrant market is fragmented, and due to the large number of
markets in which we compete, we offer over 600 different prepaid calling cards in Europe. In Europe, we
market our Payment Services products in the United Kingdom.

We maintain our European corporate, Retail Communications and Wholesale Termination Services operations
in London, England. We also operate satellite offices in Germany, Belgium, Spain and Greece.

We also provide wholesale termination services to international telecom companies, including foreign state-
owned or state-sanctioned post, telephone or telegraph companies and Tier-1 carriers, new and emerging
telephone companies, and value-added service providers.

Our European operations, including Wholesale Termination Services and Retail Communications, generated
$250.3 million of revenues in fiscal 2013, an 18.0% decrease from the $305.3 million of revenues generated
during fiscal 2012. Our European operations’ revenues constituted 15.6% of IDT Telecom’s revenues from
continuing operations in fiscal 2013, as compared to 20.4% in fiscal 2012.

In Asia, we sell Retail Communications products in Hong Kong, Singapore, Australia, Japan, Korea, Malaysia
and Taiwan. In Hong Kong, we are one of the top providers to the Filipino and Indonesian populations, the
two largest overseas worker segments. In addition, in Singapore, our Retail Communications products are a
market leader to the Indian populations, which is the largest ethnic segment in Singapore, as well as the large
Indonesia population. In fiscal 2013, IDT Telecom generated $93.7 million in revenues from our operations in
the Asia Pacific region compared to $99.0 million in fiscal 2012.

In Latin America, we market Retail Communications products in Argentina, Brazil, Peru, Chile, and Uruguay.
In addition, we offer post-paid phone services in Brazil to consumers and small businesses. We maintain Latin
American headquarters in Buenos Aires, Argentina. In fiscal 2013, IDT Telecom generated $28.6 million in
revenues from the sale of Retail Communications products in Latin America compared to $25.5 million in
fiscal 2012.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution
In the United States, we distribute Retail Communications and Payment Services products, including Boss
Revolution PIN-less, domestic and international airtime top-up offerings, and prepaid calling cards primarily to
retail outlets through our network of distributors or through our own internal sales force. In addition, our white
label calling cards as well as our IDT-branded calling cards are also marketed to retail chains and outlets
through our own internal sales force, and from time to time we may utilize third-party agents or brokers to
acquire accounts. We also market prepaid offerings, including Boss Revolution PIN-less and domestic and
international airtime top-up, direct to the consumer via online channels including the Boss Revolution mobile
apps for Apple iOS and Android.

In Europe and Asia, we sell our prepaid calling cards including both white label and IDT-branded calling cards
through independent distributors and our own internal sales force. Additionally, we sell Boss Revolution PIN-
less and domestic and international airtime top-up in select European and Asia-Pacific markets, and in Asia we
sell postpaid services direct to consumers and small businesses. Wholesale Termination Services are marketed
and sold through our internal wholesale sales team.

Telecommunications Network Infrastructure
IDT Telecom operates a global voice and data network that enables us to provide an array of tele-
communications and payment services to our customers worldwide utilizing a combination of proprietary and
third-party applications. Proprietary applications include call routing and rating, customer provisioning, call
management, product web pages, calling card features, and payment services features. Proprietary applications
provide the flexibility to adapt to evolving marketplace demands without waiting for third-party software
releases, and often provide advantages in capability or cost over commercially available alternatives.
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The IDT Telecom core voice network utilizes Internet Protocol, or IP, and is interconnected through gateways
to time-division multiplexing, or TDM, networks worldwide. This hybrid IP/TDM capability allows IDT
Telecom to interface with carriers using the lowest cost technology protocol available. To support its global
reach, IDT Telecom operates voice switches and/or points of presence in the United States, Europe, South
America, Asia and Australia. IDT Telecom receives and terminates voice traffic from every country in the
world, including cellular, landline and satellite calls through direct interconnects. The network includes data
centers located in the United States and the United Kingdom. It is monitored and operated on a continual basis
by our Network Operations Centers in the United States.

Consumer Phone Services
Our Consumer Phone Services segment generated revenues of $14.5 million and income from operations of
$1.8 million in fiscal 2013, as compared to revenues of $19.3 million and income from operations of $4.1
million in fiscal 2012. Consumer Phone Services’ revenues declined 24.8% and 27.0% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal
2012, respectively, when compared to the prior fiscal years. We continued to operate the business in harvest
mode—maximizing revenue from current customers while maintaining expenses at the minimum levels essen-
tial to operate the business. This strategy has been in effect since calendar 2005 when the Federal Communica-
tions Commission, or FCC, decided to terminate the UNE-P pricing regime, which resulted in significantly
inferior economics in the operating model for this business. We expect the Consumer Phone Services’ customer
base and revenues will continue to decline in fiscal 2014.

We currently provide our bundled local/long distance phone service in 11 states, marketed under the brand
name IDT America. Our bundled local/long distance service, offered predominantly to residential customers,
includes unlimited local, regional toll and domestic long distance calling and popular calling features. A second
plan is available, providing unlimited local service with our long distance included for as low as 3.9 cents per
minute. With either plan, competitive international rates and/or additional features can be added for additional
monthly fees. We also offer stand-alone long distance service throughout the United States.

As of July 31, 2013, we had approximately 7,800 active customers for our bundled local/long distance plans
and approximately 35,700 customers for our long distance-only plans, compared to 10,500 and 45,200
customers, respectively, on July 31, 2012. Our highest customer concentrations are in large urban areas, with
the greatest number of customers located in New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts.

ZEDGE

Zedge owns and operates a popular online platform for mobile phone consumers interested in obtaining free,
high quality games, apps, and personalization content including ringtones, wallpapers, and notification sounds.
We believe that Zedge’s popularity stems from its ability to select and present content in a customized and
personally relevant manner. To this end, we have invested heavily in developing a proprietary, machine
learning based, behavioral recommendation engine, tasked with discovering and packaging the content in an
easy, attractive and self-intuitive fashion. As a result of Zedge’s successful service and large user base, it is able
to offer advertisers, game developers, musicians and artists a scalable, non-incentivized, user acquisition plat-
form with global reach.

Users access Zedge through smartphone apps, which are available in both the Google Play and iTunes store, or
through feature phones or Zedge’s website. Zedge has grown its user base without any material investment in
marketing, user acquisition or advertising. Consumer growth stems from the demand for, and popularity of,
the content offerings, the quality of the recommendations and the commitment to providing an exceptional
user experience. As of July 31, 2013, the Zedge smartphone app surpassed 70 million installations. The
Android app has averaged amongst the Top 15 most popular free apps in the Google Play store for the past
three years and we believe it has been installed on approximately 20% of all Android handsets in the US.

We believe that Zedge’s users are social influencers and avid consumers of casual and social mobile games. The
smartphone users are primarily located in North America and Europe, are a young, 18-34, age demographic
and represent an almost equal gender breakout. The web users are concentrated in the emerging markets, are
also young and skew male.
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Zedge rolled out its Android app in late 2009 with content channels dedicated to ringtones, wallpapers and
notification sounds. In April 2012, Zedge expanded its Android offering by introducing two new channels -
mobile games and live-wallpapers. In late 2012, Zedge launched a limited version of its smartphone iOS app
featuring wallpapers. Zedge also maintains a web presence primarily frequented by feature phone users. We
expect that web traffic will decline as smartphones proliferate the global market and upgrade to the Zedge
smartphone apps.

The ringtone and wallpaper content library is comprised of millions of user generated content submissions that
are uploaded from our website while the mobile games catalogue is curated from the Google Play store.

Zedge developed a proprietary technology platform that meets the various demands of the business and is
centered on content management and discovery, web and app development, data mining and analytics,
machine learning, mobile content/device compatibility and ad serving and reporting. From an end user’s per-
spective, the platform minimizes response latency and maximizes content relevancy. Zedge’s architecture
contains a fully redundant production environment that can tolerate multiple server failures with minimal end-
user disruption. In addition, it utilizes a variety of hosted services including cloud computing and outsourced
datacenter management in order to scale efficiently and competitively. The technology mix optimizes function-
ality, scalability, flexibility performance, cost and ease.

Zedge’s revenues are generated from offering direct advertisers, advertising networks, game publishers and
marketers exposure to the customer base via advertising inventory that is sold on the smartphone app and
website. We believe that advertisers are attracted to Zedge due to its growing user base, demographics, non-
incentivized, user acquisition platform focused on mobile games and personalization content discovery, ability
in optimizing ad inventory performance and direct distribution relationships with many leading mobile game
publishers. During fiscal 2013, Zedge generated revenues of $5.8 million compared to $3.8 million in fiscal
year 2012. Approximately $4.7 million, or 81%, of fiscal 2013 revenues were generated from advertising
inventory on mobile devices compared to $2.4 million, or 63%, in fiscal 2012. Zedge’s income from oper-
ations in fiscal year 2013 was $0.3 million compared to a loss of $(0.2) million in fiscal 2012.

We currently own approximately 83% (69% on a fully diluted basis) of Zedge. We are in the early stages of
considering strategic options for Zedge. The alternatives include, amongst others, a spin-off as a separate
company, a sponsored spin-off, taking in a strategic partner, an initial public offering or an outright sale.

ALL OTHER
All other operating segments that are not reportable individually are collectively included in All Other. All
Other includes Fabrix, a software development company specializing in highly efficient cloud-based video
processing, storage and delivery, our real estate holdings, and other smaller businesses.

During fiscal 2013, All Other generated $12.7 million in revenues, representing 0.7% of our total consolidated
revenues from continuing operations, and loss from operations of $(7.3) million, as compared with revenues of
$6.1 million and loss from operations of ($3.7) million in fiscal 2012.

Fabrix Systems Ltd
Fabrix Systems Ltd. is our majority-owned venture that developed and licenses a proprietary video software
platform optimized for cost effective video storage, high throughput streaming and intelligent content dis-
tribution. This software is marketed to cable and telecommunications operators, Internet service providers and
web-based video portals that require deep video storage capabilities or offer unicast television applications
including video-on-demand, multi-screen delivery, cloud storage, time/place shifting and remote DVR storage
capabilities. Fabrix’s grid-based solution runs on commercial, off-the-shelf equipment servers and other
equipment sold by system integrators such as IBM and Alcatel-Lucent. Fabrix’s technology powers major
North American and European multi-system operators’ cloud-based DVR offering. In addition, another North
American operator utilizes Fabrix technology for deep video storage and to provide streaming.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2011, Fabrix successfully deployed its deep video storage product with a North
American tier-1 operator. In addition, the major American cable operator that licensed the Fabrix software in
August 2010 to empower its cloud-based DVR offering continued to purchase additional product. In the third
quarter of fiscal 2013, Fabrix commenced software deliveries to a major European operator.
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During fiscal 2013, Fabrix generated $10.6 million in revenues and a loss from operations of $(1.4) million, as
compared with revenues of $3.6 million and a loss from operations of $(3.0) million in fiscal 2012. In fiscal
2013 and fiscal 2012, Fabrix received cash from sales of $16.0 million and $8.0 million, respectively.

In December 2012, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours purchased shares of Fabrix for cash of $1.8 million. The
shares were purchased from holders of non-controlling interests in Fabrix and represented 4.5% of the equity
in Fabrix. In August 2013, both Fabrix and a wholly owned subsidiary of ours purchased shares of Fabrix for
aggregate cash of $1.1 million. The shares were purchased from holders of non-controlling interests in Fabrix
representing 2.8% of the equity in Fabrix, which increased the Company’s ownership in Fabrix to 88.4%.

COMPETITION

IDT Telecom

Telecom Platform Services

Retail Communications
We believe success in providing our Retail Communications services is dependent on our ability to provide low
rates and reliable service to our customers, while efficiently distributing our products and services to a geo-
graphically and culturally diverse customer base.

In recent years, we have introduced new sources of revenue, such as Boss Revolution PIN-less and interna-
tional airtime top-up that have now largely replaced revenues from sales of traditional disposable calling cards.
There can be no assurance that we will continue to grow our Boss Revolution PIN-less and international air-
time top-up sales, or that we will be able to continue to generate new sources of revenue to offset the
continuing decline in our traditional disposable calling card revenues.

Like all international calling services, our Boss Revolution PIN-less service is subject to fierce competition.
While virtually any company offering retail voice services is a competitor of ours, we face particularly strong
competition from other prepaid calling card providers offering both traditional and PIN-less prepaid voice
products, mobile virtual network operators (or MVNOs) with aggressive international rate plans, and voice
over Internet protocol (or VoIP) and other “over the top” (OTT) service providers.

Many of the largest telecommunications providers, including AT&T and Verizon, currently market prepaid
calling cards, which in certain cases compete with our products. Our largest competitors in the national retail
chain store market are InComm, Blackhawk Network and Coinstar. In marketing prepaid calling cards to
customers outside the United States, we compete with large foreign state-owned or state sanctioned post,
telephone or telegraph companies. We believe that our interconnect and termination agreements, network
infrastructure and least-cost-routing system provide us with the ability to offer low-cost, high quality services,
while our distribution network provides us with access to customers, and that these factors represent com-
petitive advantages. However, as some of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and
name recognition, and are capable of providing comparable call quality and service levels, our ability to main-
tain and/or to capture additional market share will remain dependent upon our ability to continue to provide
competitively priced services.

Wholesale Termination Services
The wholesale carrier industry has numerous entities competing for the same customers, primarily on the basis
of price, products and quality of service.

In our Wholesale Termination Services business, we compete with:

• interexchange carriers and other long distance resellers and providers, including large carriers such
as AT&T and Verizon;

• historically state-owned or state-sanctioned post, telephone or telegraph companies such as
Telefonica, France Telecom and KDDI;
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• on-line, spot-market trading exchanges for voice minutes, such as Arbinet;
• other VoIP providers;
• other providers of international long distance services; and
• alliances between large multinational carriers that provide wholesale carrier services.

We believe that our extensive network of interconnect and termination agreements, as well as the significant
volume of traffic to specific locations generated by our Wholesale Termination Services and Retail
Communications businesses, provide us with a competitive advantage and the ability to offer quality services at
competitive prices. We have generally had to pass along all or some of our per-minute cost savings to our
customers in the form of lower prices.

Payment Services
We believe that our international airtime top-up offerings have been successful because:

• we have focused on geographic corridors, such as the United States to Central America, that tend
to generate high volumes of business; and

• we have developed a comprehensive product offering that includes product, marketing and
distribution focused on those corridors, taking advantage of synergies with our prepaid calling
products such as traditional calling cards and Boss Revolution PIN-less, and tailoring international
airtime top-up to the needs of customers in those corridors.

The major competitors to Payment Services’ international airtime top-up offerings include:

• international mobile operators, who seek to control more of their own distribution channel or
create their own products that are directly competitive to international airtime top-up; and

• other distributors, who develop a more comprehensive product offering than our international
airtime top-up offerings or aggressively discount their product offerings that are similar to our
international airtime top-up offerings.

Consumer Phone Services
We offer long distance phone services to residential and business customers in the United States. We also offer
local and long distance phone services bundled for a flat monthly rate in 11 states. The U.S. consumer phone
services industry is characterized by intense competition, with numerous providers competing for a declining
number of wireline customers, leading to a high churn rate because customers frequently change providers in
response to offers of lower rates or promotional incentives.

The regional bell operating companies, or RBOCs, remain our primary competitors in the local exchange
market. We are also competing with providers offering communications service over broadband connections
using VoIP technology, such as cable companies and independent VoIP providers. Companies also provide
voice telephony services over broadband Internet connections, allowing users of these Internet services, such as
Vonage and Skype, to obtain communications services without subscribing to a conventional telephone line.
Mobile wireless companies are deploying wireless technology as a substitute for traditional wireline local
telephones. Electric utilities have existing assets (in the form of “last mile” connections to the customer’s
premises), very large back-office support organizations and access to low-cost capital that could allow them to
enter a telecommunications market rapidly and accelerate network development.

Due to changes in the U.S. regulatory environment that affected our cost of provisioning bundled local/long
distance phone services and increased competition, we ceased marketing activities for this service, and as a
result, our Consumer Phone Services business has declined significantly.

ZEDGE
Zedge faces competition in various forms. Ringtones and wallpapers are a commodity and many smaller apps
and websites offer both free and paid ringtones and wallpapers. Zedge faces competition from various
discovery services, including Quixey, HeyZap and AppsFire, as well from as a host of smaller personalization
content providers. Zedge appears to have a competitive advantage due to its large user base, which is over-
indexed for social and mobile games consumption, its proprietary recommendation engine, its market ranking
and its longevity. Zedge is unaware of any service that maintains a content library as extensive as Zedge’s
library, or curates the content in such a relevant and easy to use fashion.
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REGULATION
The following summary of regulatory developments and legislation is intended to describe what we believe to
be the most important, but not all, current and proposed international, federal, state and local laws, regu-
lations, orders and legislation that are likely to materially affect us.

Regulation of Telecom in the United States
Telecommunications services are subject to extensive government regulation at both the federal and state levels
in the United States. Any violations of the regulations may subject us to enforcement actions, including interest
and penalties. The FCC has jurisdiction over all telecommunications common carriers to the extent they pro-
vide interstate or international communications services. Each state regulatory commission has jurisdiction
over the same carriers with respect to their provision of local and intrastate communications services. Local
governments often indirectly regulate aspects of our communications business by imposing zoning require-
ments, taxes, permit or right-of-way procedures or franchise fees. Significant changes to the applicable laws or
regulations imposed by any of these regulators could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Regulation of Telecom by the Federal Communications Commission
The FCC has jurisdiction over all U.S. telecommunications service providers to the extent they provide inter-
state or international communications services, including the use of local networks to originate or terminate
such services.

Universal Service and Other Regulatory Fees and Charges
In 1997, the FCC issued an order, referred to as the Universal Service Order that requires all tele-
communications carriers providing interstate telecommunications services to contribute to universal service
support programs administered by the FCC (known as the Universal Service Fund). In addition, beginning in
October 2006, interconnected VoIP providers, such as our subsidiary Net2Phone, are required to contribute to
the Universal Service Fund. These periodic contributions are currently assessed based on a percentage of each
contributor’s interstate and international end user telecommunications revenues reported to the FCC. We also
contribute to several other regulatory funds and programs, most notably Telecommunications Relay Service,
FCC Regulatory Fees, and Local Number Portability (collectively, the Other Funds). We and most of our
competitors pass through Universal Service Fund and Other Funds contributions as part of the price of
our services, either as part of the base rate or, to the extent allowed, as a separate surcharge on customer bills.
Due to the manner in which these contributions are calculated, we cannot be assured that we fully recover
from our customers all of our contributions. In addition, based on the nature of our current business, we
receive certain exemptions from federal Universal Service Fund contributions. Changes in our business could
eliminate our ability to qualify for some or all of these exemptions. As a result, our ability to pursue certain
new business opportunities in the future may be constrained in order to maintain these exemptions, the elimi-
nation of which could materially affect the rates we would need to charge for existing services. Changes in
regulation may also have an impact on the availability of some or all of these exemptions. If even some of these
exemptions become unavailable, they could materially increase our federal Universal Service Fund or Other
Funds’ contributions and have a material adverse effect on the cost of our operations and, therefore, on our
ability to continue to operate profitably, and to develop and grow of our business. We cannot be certain of the
stability of the contribution factors for the Other Funds. Most recently, the Telecommunication Relay Service
Fund contribution factor increased considerably — approximately 40% — from the prior year’s contribution
factor. Significant increases in the contribution factor for the Other Funds in general and the Tele-
communications Relay Service Fund in particular can impact our profitability. Whether these contribution
factors will be stable in the future is unknown, but it is possible that we will be subject to significant increases.

Interconnection and Unbundled Network Elements
FCC rule changes relating to unbundling have resulted in increased costs to purchase services and increased
uncertainty regarding the financial viability of providing service using unbundled network elements. As a
result, starting in 2006, we placed our Consumer Phone Services business in “harvest mode,” wherein we seek
to retain existing customers but do not actively market to new customers.

We continue to negotiate interconnection arrangements with Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, or ILECs,
generally on a state-by-state basis, for our Consumer Phone Services business as well as other businesses. These
agreements typically have terms of two or three years and need to be periodically renewed and renegotiated.
While current FCC rules and regulations require the incumbent provider to provide certain network elements
necessary for us to provision end-user services on an individual and combined basis, we cannot assure that the
ILECs will provide these components in a manner and at a price that will support competitive operations.
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Access Charges
As a provider of long distance services, we remit access fees directly to local exchange carriers or indirectly to
our underlying long distance carriers for the origination and termination of our long distance tele-
communications traffic. Generally, intrastate access charges are higher than interstate access charges. There-
fore, to the degree access charges increase or a greater percentage of our long distance traffic becomes
intrastate, our costs of providing long distance services will increase. Similarly, as a local exchange provider,
we bill access charges to long distance providers for the termination of those providers’ long distance calls.
Accordingly, as opposed to our long distance business, our local exchange business benefits from the receipt of
intrastate and interstate long distance traffic. Under FCC rules, our interstate access rates must be set at levels
no higher than those of the ILEC in each area we serve, which limits our ability to seek increased revenue from
these services. Some, but not all, states have similar restrictions on our intrastate access charges.

For nearly a decade, the FCC has had open regulatory proceedings in which it has considered reforming
“intercarrier compensation,” which is a term that covers the payments that carriers bill and remit to each
other—access charges and reciprocal compensation, generally—for the use of telecommunications networks to
originate and terminate phone calls. On November 18, 2011, the FCC released a Report and Order and Fur-
ther Notice of Proposed Rulemaking wherein it set forth a schedule which, over a period of several years,
substantially reduces terminating access rates. Since we both make payments to and receive payments from
other carriers for terminating long distance calls, the FCC’s action has the effect of reducing payments we
receive from other carriers while also reducing our costs to terminate our long distance calls. The FCC has also
raised the possibility – which it has yet to conclusively act upon – that it will reduce originating access charges
in a similar manner. Due to the nature of IDT’s business, IDT pays, but does not bill originating access
charges. At this time we cannot predict the effect future FCC actions may have upon our business.

Customer Proprietary Network Information
In 2007, the FCC increased its regulatory oversight of Customer Proprietary Network Information, or CPNI.
The FCC took this increased role in response to several high-profile cases of “pretexting,” which occurs when
an individual secures, through deception, from a communications provider the private phone records of
another person. We have a CPNI compliance policy in place and we believe we currently meet or exceed all
FCC requirements for the protection of CPNI. However, we cannot be assured that we are in full compliance
and if the FCC were to conclude that we were not in compliance, we could be subject to fines or other forms of
sanction.

Regulation of Telecom by State Public Utility Commissions
Our telecommunications services that originate and terminate within the same state, including both local and
in-state long distance services are subject to the jurisdiction of that state’s public utility commission. The
Communications Act of 1934, as amended, generally preempts state statutes and regulations that prevent the
provision of competitive services, but permits state public utility commissions to regulate the rates, terms and
conditions of intrastate services, so long as such regulation is not inconsistent with the requirements of federal
law. We are certified to provide facilities-based and/or resold long distance service in all 50 states and facilities-
based and resold local exchange service in 45 states. In addition to requiring certification, state regulatory
authorities may impose tariff and filing requirements, consumer protection measures, and obligations to con-
tribute to universal service and other funds. Rates for intrastate switched access services, which we both pay to
local exchange companies and collect from long-distance companies for terminating in-state toll calls, are
subject to the jurisdiction of the state commissions. State commissions also have jurisdiction to approve nego-
tiated rates, or establish rates through arbitration, for interconnection, including rates for unbundled network
elements. Changes in those access charges or rates for unbundled network elements could have a substantial
and material impact on our business.

Regulation of Telecom—International
In connection with our international operations, we have obtained licenses or are otherwise authorized to
provide telecommunications services in various foreign countries. We have obtained licenses or authorizations
in Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hong
Kong, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Peru, Portugal, Singapore, South Africa, Spain, Sweden,
Switzerland, the United Kingdom and Uruguay. In numerous countries where we operate or plan to operate,
we are subject to many local laws and regulations that, among other things, may restrict or limit the ability of
telecommunications companies to provide telecommunications services in competition with state-owned or
state-sanctioned dominant carriers.
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Regulation of Internet Telephony
The use of the Internet and private IP networks to provide voice communications services is generally less regu-
lated than traditional switch-based telephony within the United States and abroad and, in many markets, is not
subject to the imposition of certain taxes and fees that increase our costs. As a result, IDT is able, in many
markets, to offer VoIP communications services at rates that are more attractive than those applicable to tradi-
tional telephone services. However, in the U.S. and abroad, there have been efforts by legislatures and regu-
lators to harmonize the regulatory structures between traditional switch-based telephony and VoIP. This could
result in additional fees, charges, taxes and regulations on IP communications services that could materially
increase our costs and may limit or eliminate our competitive pricing advantages. Additionally, several foreign
governments have adopted laws and/or regulations that could restrict or prohibit the provision of voice
communications services over the Internet or private IP networks. These efforts could likewise harm our ability
to offer VoIP communications services.

Money Transmitter and Payment Instrument Laws and Regulations
We have further developed our business in the area of consumer financial services. Our offerings now include
money transfer, which launched in the first quarter of 2014, and various network branded or “open loop”
prepaid card offerings. These industries are heavily regulated. Accordingly, we, and the products and services
that we market in the area of consumer financial services, are subject to a variety of federal and state laws and
regulations, including:

• Banking laws and regulations;
• Money transmitter and payment instrument laws and regulations;
• Anti-money laundering laws;
• Privacy and data security laws and regulations;
• Consumer protection laws and regulations;
• Unclaimed property laws; and
• Card association and network organization rules.

In connection with the development of our money transmission services and the expansion of our network
branded prepaid card offerings, we are actively pursuing our own money transmitter licenses. As of July 31,
2013, we had money transmitter licenses in 35 states, Puerto Rico and Washington, DC, and applications
pending in additional states. Our goal is to acquire licenses in all of the jurisdictions where our current or
expected activities, or the activities of our agents, distributors or reload partners, require licenses.

Regulation of Other Businesses
We operate other smaller or early-stage initiatives and operations which may be subject to federal, state, local
or foreign law and regulation.

Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, domain name registrations and trade secret laws
in the United States and other jurisdictions and contractual restrictions to protect our intellectual property
rights and our brand names. All of our employees sign confidentiality agreements. These agreements provide
that the employee may not use or disclose our confidential information except as expressly permitted in con-
nection with the performance of his or her duties for us, or in other limited circumstances. These agreements
also state that, to the extent rights in any invention conceived of by the employee while employed by us do not
vest in the Company automatically by operation of law, the employee is required to assign his or her rights to
us.

We own at least 190 trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States
and at least 155 pending applications and registrations abroad. We protect our brands in the marketplace
including the IDT, Boss Revolution and Net2Phone brands. Where deemed appropriate, we have filed trade-
mark applications throughout the world in an effort to protect our trademarks. Where deemed appropriate, we
have also filed patent applications in an effort to protect our patentable intellectual property. IDT Corporation
owns 9 issued patents and 14 patent applications in the United States and 10 patents issued abroad with 16
patent applications pending abroad.
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We maintain a global telecommunications switching and transmission infrastructure that enables us to provide
an array of telecommunications, Internet access and Internet telephony services to our customers worldwide.
We have domestic and foreign patents and patent applications regarding our infrastructure and/or global tele-
communication network for our international telecommunications traffic and the international traffic of other
telecommunications companies.

Circumstances outside our control could pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. For example, effec-
tive intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which our products and services
are distributed. Also, the efforts we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effec-
tive. Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to
compete. Also, protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time consuming. Any increase in the
unauthorized use of our intellectual property could make it more expensive to do business and harm our
operating results.

Companies in the telecommunications industry and other industries in which we compete own large numbers
of patents, copyrights and trademarks and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement
or other violations of intellectual property rights. As we face increasing competition, the possibility of
intellectual property claims against us grows. Although we do not believe that we infringe upon the intellectual
property rights of others, our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights
against their use.

IDT Telecom
In addition to IDT Corporation’s patents, Net2Phone currently owns 36 issued patents and has 4 pending
patent applications in the United States. Net2Phone has 8 foreign issued patents, and no patent applications
pending abroad.

Net2Phone owns at least 25 trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United
States. Net2Phone owns at least 133 trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in
various foreign countries. Net2Phone’s most important mark is “NET2PHONE.” Net2Phone has made a
significant investment in protecting this mark, and Net2Phone believes it has achieved recognition in the
United States and abroad. Net2Phone is currently engaged in an international filing program to file trademark
applications for trademark registrations of the mark NET2PHONE in a number of foreign countries.

Zedge
Zedge owns at least 4 trademark and service mark registrations and at least 7 pending applications in the
United States and in various foreign countries. Zedge’s most important mark is “ZEDGE.” Zedge has made a
significant investment in protecting this mark and the other marks it is seeking to protect. Zedge is currently
engaged in a domestic international filing program to file trademark applications for trademark registrations of
the mark “ZEDGE” and other trade names in the United States and in a number of foreign countries. While
Zedge cannot insure that there will be no opposition to its current applications, no such opposition currently
exists.

Other
We also currently own two patents and three pending patent applications and three registrations in the United
States that relate to business operations we oversee or businesses-in-development. We also own or license cer-
tain trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States and additional
registrations abroad.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
We incurred $7.2 million, $4.6 million and $2.8 million on research and development during fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, all related to Fabrix.

EMPLOYEES
As of October 1, 2013, we had a total of approximately 1,320 employees, of which approximately 1,310 are
full-time employees.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

RISK FACTORS
Our business, operating results or financial condition could be materially adversely affected by any of the
following risks as well as the other risks highlighted elsewhere in this document, particularly the discussions
about regulation, competition and intellectual property. The trading price of our Class B common stock could
decline due to any of these risks.

Risks Related to Our Businesses

Each of our telecommunications lines of business is highly sensitive to declining prices, which may
adversely affect our revenues and margins.
The worldwide telecommunications industry has been characterized in recent years by intense price competi-
tion, which has resulted in declines in both our average per-minute price realizations and our average per-
minute termination costs, as well as decreases in our revenue. Many of our competitors continue to
aggressively price their services. The intense competition has led to continued erosion in our pricing power, in
both our retail and wholesale markets, and we have generally had to pass along all or some of the savings we
achieve on our per-minute costs to our customers in the form of lower prices. Any increase by us in pricing
may result in our prices not being as attractive, which may result in a reduction of revenue. If these trends in
pricing continue or increase, it could have a material adverse effect on the revenues generated by our tele-
communications businesses and/or our gross margins.

Because our prepaid products including Boss Revolution products generate a significant portion of our
revenue, our growth and our results of operations are substantially dependent upon growth in these products
and these products continue to face significant competition which has adversely affected our profitability in
recent years and may continue to adversely affect our profitability.
Because of the significant percentage of our revenues generated by our retail products, our results of operations
and future growth significantly depend on the performance of these products.

We compete in the prepaid calling market with many of the established facilities-based carriers, such as
AT&T, Verizon and Sprint, and with providers of alternative telecommunications services such as Mobile
Virtual Network Operators and other prepaid wireless providers. These companies are substantially larger and
have greater financial, technical, engineering, personnel and marketing resources, longer operating histories,
greater name recognition and larger customer bases than we do. The use by these competitors of their
resources in or affecting the international prepaid calling market could significantly impact our ability to
compete against them successfully. In addition to these larger competitors, we face significant competition
from smaller prepaid calling providers, who from time-to-time offer rates that are substantially below our
rates, and in some instances below what we believe to be the cost to provide the service, in order to gain
market share. This type of pricing by one or more competitors can adversely affect our revenues, as they gain
market share at our expense, and our gross margins, if we lower rates in order to better compete.

The continued growth of the use of Internet protocol-based services, including Boss Revolution Pin-less, has
adversely affected the sales of our traditional prepaid calling cards as customers migrate from using calling
cards to using these alternative services. We expect pricing of IP-based services to continue to decrease, which
may result in increased substitution and increased pricing pressure on our international prepaid calling sales
and margins.

Certain traditional wireless operators have been rolling out unlimited international long distance plans that
include international destinations to which customers can place direct calls from their mobile phones without
time limitation. Currently, applicable destinations are limited. As more international destinations are added to
the “international unlimited” list, this can adversely affect our revenues, as these operators gain subscriber
market share.

In addition, like all international calling services, our Boss Revolution products are subject to fierce competi-
tion. Whether it is direct competitors, who offer similar calling services, or indirect competitors such as wire-
less service providers and VoIP carriers, which offer alternative international calling services, competitors that
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offer alternatives to Boss Revolution try to attract their potential distributors and international callers with
aggressive pricing and promotion. This competition can adversely affect the revenues and profitability of our
Boss Revolution products.

We may not be able to obtain sufficient or cost-effective termination capacity to particular destinations.
Most of our telecommunications traffic is terminated through third-party providers. In order to support our
minutes-of-use demands and geographic footprint, we may need to obtain additional termination capacity or
destinations. We may not be able to obtain sufficient termination capacity from high-quality carriers to partic-
ular destinations or may have to pay significant amounts to obtain such capacity. This could result in our not
being able to support our minutes-of-use demands or in a higher cost-per-minute to particular destinations,
which could adversely affect our revenues and margins.

The termination of our carrier agreements with foreign partners or our inability to enter into carrier
agreements in the future could materially and adversely affect our ability to compete, which could reduce our
revenues and profits.
We rely upon our carrier agreements with foreign partners in order to provide our telecommunications services to
our customers. These carrier agreements are for finite terms and, therefore, there can be no guarantee that these
agreements will be renewed at all or on favorable terms to us. Our ability to compete would be adversely affected if
our carrier agreements were terminated or we were unable to enter into carrier agreements in the future to provide
our telecommunications services to our customers, which could result in a reduction of our revenues and profits.

As our international airtime top-up business grows and more competitors enter this space, our ability to secure
competitive direct or indirect, exclusive or non-exclusive, agreements with international wireless operators to
have access and to resell their in-country mobile top-ups could become more difficult or less attractive, thereby
having an adverse effect on our revenues and operations.

Our customers, particularly our Wholesale Termination Services customers, could experience financial
difficulties, which could adversely affect our revenues and profitability if we experience difficulties in
collecting our receivables.
As a provider of international long distance services, we depend upon sales of transmission and termination of
traffic to other long distance providers and the collection of receivables from these customers. The wholesale
market continues to feature many smaller, less financially stable companies. If weakness in the tele-
communications industry or the global economy reduces our ability to collect our accounts receivable from our
major customers, particularly our wholesale customers, our profitability may be substantially reduced. More-
over, the recent economic recession both in the United States and elsewhere may affect our customers’ access to
liquidity and impair our ability to collect on receivables. While our most significant customers, from a revenue
perspective, vary from quarter to quarter, our five largest wholesale carrier customers accounted for 5.1% of
our total consolidated revenues from continuing operations in fiscal 2013 compared with 5.6% in fiscal 2012.
This concentration of revenues increases our exposure to non-payment by our larger customers, and we may
experience significant write-offs related to the provision of wholesale carrier services if any of our large
customers fail to pay their outstanding balances, which could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Our revenues will suffer if our distributors and sales representatives fail to effectively market and distribute
our traditional disposable prepaid calling card products, our Boss Revolution products, our international
airtime top-up offerings and other services.
We currently rely on our distributors and representatives for marketing and distribution of our traditional
disposable prepaid calling card products, our Boss Revolution products, our international airtime top-up offer-
ings and other services. We utilize a network of several hundred sub-distributors that sell our traditional dis-
posable prepaid calling cards, Boss Revolution products, and international airtime top-up to retail outlets
throughout most of the United States.

In foreign countries, we are dependent upon our distributors and independent sales representatives, many of
which also sell services or products for other companies. As a result, we cannot control whether these foreign
distributors and sales representatives will devote sufficient efforts to selling our services. In addition, we may
not succeed in finding capable distributors, retailers and sales representatives in new markets that we may
enter. If our distributors or sales representatives fail to effectively market or distribute our prepaid calling card
products, Boss Revolution products, international airtime top-up offerings and other services, our ability to
generate revenues and grow our customer base could be substantially impaired.
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Natural or man-made disasters could have an adverse effect on our technological infrastructure.
Natural disasters, terrorist acts, acts of war, cyber attacks or other breaches of network or information
technology security may cause equipment failures or disrupt our operations. Our inability to operate our tele-
communications networks as a result of such events, even for a limited period of time, may result in significant
expenses and/or loss of market share to other communications providers, which could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Certain functions related to our business, particularly the business of IDT Telecom, depend on a single
supplier or small group of suppliers to carry out its business, and the inability to do business with some or all
of these suppliers could have a materially adverse effect on our business and financial results.
Certain functions related to our business, particularly the business of IDT Telecom, depend on a single supplier
or small group of suppliers to carry out its business. Were the services of any one of them to become
unavailable or available only in decreased capacity or at less advantageous terms, this could result in inter-
ruptions to our ability to provide certain services, could cause reduction in service and/or quality as the func-
tion is transitioned to an alternate provider, if any alternate provider is available, or could increase our cost,
which in the current competitive environment, we may not be able to pass along to customers. Accordingly,
any of these events could materially and negatively impact our business, our revenues, our margins, and our
relationships with customers.

We could be harmed by network disruptions, security breaches, or other significant disruptions or failures of
our IT infrastructure and related systems or of those we operate for certain of our customers.
To be successful, we need to continue to have available, for our and our customers’ use, a high capacity, reli-
able and secure network. We face the risk, as does any company, of a security breach, whether through cyber-
attacks, malware, computer viruses, sabotage, or other significant disruption of our IT infrastructure and
related systems. As such, there is a risk of a security breach or disruption of the systems we operate, including
possible unauthorized access to our and our customers’ proprietary or classified information. We are also
subject to breaches of our network resulting in unauthorized utilization of our services or products, which
subject us to the costs of providing those products or services, which are likely not recoverable. The secure
maintenance and transmission of our and our customer’s information is a critical element of our operations.
Our information technology and other systems that maintain and transmit customer information, or those of
service providers or business partners, may be compromised by a malicious third party penetration of our
network security, or that of a third party service provider or business partner, or impacted by advertent or
inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees, or those of a third party service provider or business part-
ner. As a result, our or our customers’ information may be lost, disclosed, accessed or taken without the
customers’ consent, or our products and services may be used without payment.

Although we make significant efforts to maintain the security and integrity of these types of information and
systems, there can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective or that attempted
security breaches or disruptions would not be successful or damaging, especially in light of the growing sophis-
tication of cyber-attacks and intrusions. We may be unable to anticipate all potential types of attacks or
intrusions or to implement adequate security barriers or other preventative measures. Certain of our business
units have been the subject of attempted and successful cyber-attacks in the past. While we have completed our
analysis and remediation of most attacks, and have implemented security designed to foil future similar
attacks, with respect to certain of these attacks, we are still in the process of determining what information
may have been compromised and its potential impact.

Network disruptions, security breaches and other significant failures of the above-described systems could
(i) disrupt the proper functioning of these networks and systems and therefore our operations or those of cer-
tain of our customers; (ii) result in the unauthorized use of our services or products without payment,
(iii) result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of proprietary,
confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or our customers, including trade secrets,
which others could use to compete against us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and
outcomes; (iv) require significant management attention or financial resources to remedy the damages that
result or to change our systems; (v) subject us to claims for contract breach, damages, credits, fines, penalties,
termination or other remedies; or (vi) result in a loss of business, damage our reputation among our customers
and the public generally, subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny or expose us to litigation. Any or all of
which could have a negative impact on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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We could fail to comply with requirements imposed on us by certain third parties, including regulators.
An increasingly significant portion of our telecom transactions are processed using credit cards and similar
payment methods. As we shift from sales through our traditional distribution channels to newer platforms,
including Boss Revolution and platforms utilized by our financial services business, that portion is expected to
increase and that growth is dependent on utilizing such payment methods. The banks, credit card companies
and other relevant parties are imposing strict system and other requirements in order to participate in such
parties’ payment systems. We are required to comply with the privacy provisions of various federal and state
privacy statutes and regulations, and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, each of which is
subject to change at any time. Compliance with these requirements is often difficult and costly, and our failure,
or our distributors’ failure, to comply may result in significant fines or civil penalties, regulatory enforcement
action, liability under or termination of necessary agreements related to our financial services business, each of
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and/or operations and that of our distrib-
utors who could be liable as well. Further, as we move into more payment and financial services in addition to
services and products that are solely telecom related, those operations may be subject to different and more
stringent requirements by regulators and trade organizations in various jurisdictions. Our financial services
unit is subject to federal and state banking regulations and we are also subject to further regulation by those
states in which we are licensed as a money transmitter. We do not believe that our distributors are themselves
required to become licensed as money transmitters in order to engage in their normal business activities.
However, there is a risk that a federal or state regulator will take a contrary position and initiate enforcement
or other proceedings against a distributor, us, our issuing banks or our other distribution partners. Some states
are aggressively enforcing their regulations, which can lead to us being required to spend extensive time and
resources gathering information and complying with requests, and can lead to fines or restrictions on activities.
Such a development could have an adverse impact on our business. We may not be able to comply with all
such requirements in a timely manner or remain in compliance. If we are not in compliance, we could be sub-
ject to penalties or the termination of our rights to participate in such payment systems or provide such serv-
ices, which could have a material negative impact on our ability to carry on and grow our Retail
Communications and Payment Services operations.

Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations intended to help detect and prevent illegal or
illicit activity and our failure, or the failure of one of our disbursement partners or payment processors to
comply with those laws and regulations could harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Our money transfer and network branded prepaid card services are subject to an increasingly strict set of legal
and regulatory requirements intended to help detect and prevent money laundering, terrorist financing, fraud
and other illicit activity. The interpretation of those requirements by judges, regulatory bodies and enforcement
agencies is changing, often quickly and with little notice. Economic and trade sanctions programs that are
administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, prohibit or
restrict transactions to or from or dealings with specified countries, their governments, and in certain circum-
stances, with individuals and entities that are specially-designated nationals of those countries, narcotics traf-
fickers and terrorists or terrorist organizations. As federal, state and foreign legislative regulatory scrutiny and
enforcement action in these areas increase, we expect our costs to comply with these requirements will
increase, perhaps substantially. Failure to comply with any of these requirements by us or our disbursement
partners could result in the suspension or revocation of a money transmitter license, the limitation, suspension
or termination of our services, the seizure and/or forfeiture of our assets and/or the imposition of civil and
criminal penalties, including fines.

The foregoing laws and regulations are constantly evolving, unclear and inconsistent across various juris-
dictions, making compliance challenging. If we fail to update our compliance system to reflect legislative or
regulatory developments, we could incur penalties. New legislation, changes in laws or regulations,
implementing rules and regulations, litigation, court rulings, changes in industry practices or standards,
changes in systems rules or requirements or other similar events could expose us to increased compliance costs,
liability, reputational damage, and could reduce the market value of our money transfer and network branded
prepaid card services or render them less profitable or obsolete.

We provide communications services to consumers and are therefore subject to various Federal and state
laws and regulations.
As a provider of communications services to consumers, such as our Boss Revolution international calling
service or our prepaid calling card services, we are subject to various Federal and state laws and regulations
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relating to the manner in which we advertise our services, describe and present the terms of our services, and
communicate with our consumers. Compliance with these laws requires us to be constantly vigilant as they
often vary from state to state. Failure to comply with these laws, could result in action being taken by Federal
and state agencies or offices responsible for consumer protection, like the Federal Trade Commission.

We are subject to licensing and other requirements imposed by U.S. state regulators, and the U.S. federal
government. If we were found to be subject to or in violation of any laws or regulations governing money
transmitters, we could lose our licenses, be subject to liability or be forced to change our business practices.
A number of states have enacted legislation regulating money transmitters. As of July 31, 2013, we had
obtained licenses to operate as a money transmitter in 35 U.S. states, Washington, DC and Puerto Rico, and
have applications pending in additional states. We are also registered as money services businesses with the
Financial Crimes Enforcement Network of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or FinCEN. As a licensed
money transmitter, we are subject to bonding requirements, liquidity requirements, restrictions on our invest-
ment of customer funds, reporting requirements and inspection by state and foreign regulatory agencies. If our
pending applications were denied or if additional states or jurisdictions require us to apply for a license, we
could be forced to change our business practice or required to bear substantial cost to comply with the
requirements of the additional states or jurisdictions. If we were found to be subject to and in violation of any
banking or money services laws or regulations, we could be subject to liability or additional restrictions, such
as increased liquidity requirements. In addition, our licenses could be revoked or we could be forced to cease
doing business or change our practices in certain states or jurisdictions, or be required to obtain additional
licenses or regulatory approvals that could impose a substantial cost on us. Regulators could also impose other
regulatory orders and sanctions on us. Any change to our business practices that makes our service less attrac-
tive to customers or prohibits use of our services by residents of a particular jurisdiction could decrease our
transaction volume and harm our business.

Our business is subject to strict regulation under federal law regarding anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing. Failure to comply with such laws, or abuse of our card programs for purposes of money
laundering or terrorist financing, could have a material adverse impact on our business.
Provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act, the Bank Secrecy Act and other federal laws impose substantial regu-
lations on financial institutions that are designed to prevent money laundering and the financing of terrorist
organizations. Increasing regulatory scrutiny of our industry with respect to money laundering and terrorist
financing matters could result in more aggressive enforcement of these laws or the enactment of more onerous
regulation, which could have a material adverse impact on our business. In addition, abuse of our money
transfer services or prepaid card programs for purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing, notwith-
standing our efforts to prevent such abuse through our regulatory compliance and risk management programs,
could cause reputational or other harm that would have a material adverse impact on our business.

The Dodd-Frank Act, as well as the regulations required by the Dodd-Frank Act, and the creation of the
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau could harm us and the scope of our activities, and could harm our
operations, results of operations and financial condition.
The Dodd-Frank Act, which became law in the United States on July 21, 2010, calls for significant structural
reforms and new substantive regulation across the financial services industry. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act
created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB, whose purpose is to issue and enforce consumer
protection initiatives governing financial products and services, including money transfer services. The CFPB
will create additional regulatory oversight that will affect us. The Dodd-Frank Act and actions by the CFPB
could have a significant impact on us by, for example, requiring us to limit or change our business practices,
limiting our ability to pursue business opportunities, requiring us to invest valuable management time and
resources in compliance efforts, imposing additional costs on us, limiting fees we can charge for services,
requiring us to meet more stringent capital requirements, impacting the value of our assets, delaying our ability
to respond to marketplace changes, requiring us to alter our services in a manner that would make them less
attractive to consumers and impair our ability to offer them profitably, or requiring us to make other changes
that could harm our business.

The CFPB has recently issued regulations implementing the remittance provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act.
These regulations, which are effective on October 28, 2013, will impact our money transfer and network
branded prepaid card services business in a variety of areas as described elsewhere in these risk factors. These
requirements and other potential changes under CFPB regulations could harm our operations and financial
results and change the way we operate our business.
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We may also be subject to examination by the CFPB, which has broad authority to enforce consumer financial
laws. In July 2011, many consumer financial protection functions formerly assigned to the federal banking
agency and other agencies were transferred to the CFPB. The CFPB has a large budget and staff and has broad
authority with respect to our money transfer service and related business. It is authorized to collect fines and
provide consumer restitution in the event of violations, engage in consumer financial education, track
consumer complaints, request data and promote the availability of financial services to underserved consumers
and communities. In addition, the CFPB may adopt other regulations governing consumer financial services,
including regulations defining unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, and new model disclosures. The
CFPB’s authority to change regulations adopted in the past by other regulators, or to rescind or alter past
regulatory guidance, could increase our compliance costs and litigation exposure.

The Dodd-Frank Act establishes a Financial Stability Oversight Counsel that is authorized to designate as
“systemically important” non-bank financial companies and payment systems. Companies designated under
either standard will become subject to new regulation and regulatory supervision. If we were designated under
either standard, the additional regulatory and supervisory requirements could result in costly new compliance
burdens or may require changes in the way we conduct business that could harm our business.

The effect of the Dodd-Frank Act and the CFPB on our business and operations will be significant, in part
because the function and scope of the CFPB, the reactions of our competitors and the responses of consumers
and other marketplace participants are uncertain.

Our disbursement partners generally are regulated institutions in their home jurisdiction, and money
transfers are regulated by governments in both the United States and in the jurisdiction of the recipient. If our
disbursement partners fail to comply with applicable laws, it could harm our business.
Money transfers are regulated by state, federal and foreign governments. Many of our disbursement partners
are banks and are heavily regulated by their home jurisdictions. Our non-bank disbursement partners are also
subject to money transfer regulations. We require regulatory compliance as a condition to our continued rela-
tionship, perform due diligence on our disbursement partners and monitor them periodically with the goal of
meeting regulatory expectations. However, there are limits to the extent to which we can monitor their regu-
latory compliance. Any determination that our disbursement partners or their sub-disbursement partners have
violated laws and regulations could seriously damage our reputation, resulting in diminished revenue and
profit and increased operating costs. While our services are not directly regulated by governments outside the
United States, except with respect to our Gibraltar bank as discussed below, it is possible that in some cases we
could be liable for the failure of our disbursement partners or their sub-disbursement partners to comply with
laws, which also could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our bank in Gibraltar
is regulated by the Gibraltar Financial Services Commission (the FSC), and, as such, is subject to Gibraltarian
and EU laws relating to financial institutions. As an issuer of prepaid debit cards for programs operated by
other entities, commonly known as program managers, the bank is responsible, inter alia, for anti-money
laundering laws oversight and compliance. If we were to fail to implement the requisite controls or follow the
rules and procedures mandated by the FSC and applicable law, we could be subject to regulatory fines, and
even the loss of our banking license.

We process, store and use personal information and other data, which subjects us to governmental
regulation and other legal obligations related to privacy. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such
obligations could harm our business.
We receive, store and process personal information and other customer data, including bank account numbers,
credit and debit card information, identification numbers and images of government identification cards. As a
result, we are required to comply with the privacy provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, or the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard. There are also numerous
other federal, state and local laws around the world regarding privacy and the storing, sharing, use, processing,
disclosure and protection of personal information and other customer data, the scope of which are changing,
subject to differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent among different jurisdictions or conflict with other
applicable rules. It is possible that these obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is incon-
sistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our business practices.
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Additionally, with advances in computer capabilities and data protection requirements to address ongoing
threats, we may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against potential secu-
rity breaches or to alleviate problems caused by security breaches.

Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies, our privacy-related obligations to
customers or other third parties, or our privacy-related legal obligations, or any compromise of security that
results in the unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other customer data,
may result in governmental enforcement actions, fines or litigation. If there is a breach of credit or debit card
information that we store, we could also be liable to the issuing banks for their cost of issuing new cards and
related expenses. In addition, a significant breach could result in our being prohibited from processing trans-
actions for any of the relevant network organizations, such as Visa or MasterCard, which would harm our
business. If any third parties with whom we work, such as marketing partners, vendors or developers, violate
applicable laws or our policies, such violations may put our customers’ information at risk and could harm our
business. Any negative publicity arising out of a data breach or failure to comply with applicable privacy
requirements could damage our reputation and cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could harm our
business, results of operations, financial position and potential for growth.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition

We hold significant cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and investments that are subject to
various market risks.
As of July 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $156.6 million and aggregate
short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents of $42.4 million. As of July 31, 2013, we also
had $8.3 million in investments in hedge funds, of which $0.1 million was included in “Other current assets”
and $8.2 million was included in “Investments” in our consolidated balance sheet. We liquidated most of our
investment in hedge funds in recent years. Much of the remaining balances in these funds are subject to time
restrictions. We may consider liquidating such remaining balances when their restrictions lapse. Investments in
marketable securities and hedge funds carry a degree of risk, as there can be no assurance that we can redeem
the hedge fund investments at any time and that our investment managers will be able to accurately predict the
course of price movements of securities and other instruments and, in general, the securities markets have in
recent years been characterized by great volatility and unpredictability. As a result of these different market
risks, our holdings of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and investments could be materially and
adversely affected.

Intellectual Property, Tax, Regulatory and Litigation Risks

We may be adversely affected if we fail to protect our proprietary technology.
We depend on proprietary technology and other intellectual property rights in conducting our various business
operations. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secret protection and
contractual rights to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Failure of our patents, copyrights, trade-
marks and trade secret protection, non-disclosure agreements and other measures to provide protection of our
technology and our intellectual property rights could enable our competitors to more effectively compete with
us and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we may be required to litigate in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect
our trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against
claims of infringement or invalidity. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations,
and there can be no assurances that we will be successful in any such litigation.

We may be subject to claims of infringement of intellectual property rights of others.
From time to time we may be subject to claims and legal proceedings from third parties regarding alleged
infringement by us of trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights. Such suits can be
expensive and time consuming and could distract us and our management from focusing on our businesses.
Further, loss of such suits could result in financial burdens and the requirement to modify our modes of oper-
ation, which could materially adversely affect our business.
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We are subject to tax and regulatory audits which could result in the imposition of liabilities that may or may
not have been reserved.
We are subject to audits by taxing and regulatory authorities with respect to certain of our income and oper-
ations. These audits can cover periods for several years prior to the date the audit is undertaken and could
result in the imposition of liabilities, interest and penalties if our positions are not accepted by the auditing
entity.

Our FCC Form 499-A filings for calendar years 2000 through 2006 related to payments to the Universal
Service Fund have been audited by the Internal Audit Division, or IAD, of the Universal Service Administrative
Company, or USAC, which concluded that we incorrectly reported certain revenues on Forms 499-A. USAC’s
revisions to our filing methodology resulted in additional regulatory payments for the years covered by the
audits. While we believe in the accuracy of our filing methodology and our Request for Review remains pend-
ing, we have implemented some of the revisions set forth in the IAD’s filings beginning with our calendar year
2010 Form 499-A. We have accrued for all regulatory fees we believe may be incurred under IAD’s method-
ology from 2002 through the present, in the event our Request for Review is denied and/or our methodology is
not upheld on appeal, and we have made certain payments on amounts that have been invoiced to us by USAC
and/or other agencies. As of July 31, 2013, our accrued expenses included $37.9 million for these regulatory
fees for the years covered by the audit and subsequent years through fiscal 2013. Until a final decision has been
reached in our disputes, we will continue to accrue in accordance with IAD’s methodology. If we do not
properly calculate, or have not properly calculated, the amount payable by us to the Universal Service Fund,
we may be subject to interest and penalties.

We are subject to value added tax, or VAT, audits from time-to-time in various jurisdictions. In the conduct of
such audits, we may be required to disclose information of a sensitive nature and, in general, to modify the
way we have conducted business with our distributors until the present, which may affect our business in an
adverse manner.

We are also subject to audits in various jurisdictions for various other taxes, including utility excise tax, sales
and use tax, communications services tax, gross receipts tax and property tax.

Federal and state regulations may be passed that could harm our business.
Net2Phone’s ability to provide VoIP communications services at attractive rates arises in large part from the
fact that VoIP services are not currently subject to the same level of regulation as traditional, switch-based
telephony. The use of the Internet and private IP networks to provide voice communications services is largely
unregulated within the United States, although several foreign governments have adopted laws and/or regu-
lations that could restrict or prohibit the provision of voice communications services over the Internet or pri-
vate IP networks. If interconnected VoIP services become subject to state regulation and/or additional
regulation by the FCC, such regulation will likely lead to higher costs and reduce or eliminate the competitive
advantage interconnected VoIP holds, by virtue of its lesser regulatory oversight, over traditional tele-
communications services. More aggressive regulation of the Internet in general, and Internet telephony pro-
viders and services specifically, may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our ability to offer services outside of the United States is subject to the local regulatory environment, which
may be unfavorable, complicated and often uncertain.
Regulatory treatment outside the United States varies from country to country. We distribute our products and
services through resellers that may be subject to telecommunications regulations in their home countries. The
failure of these resellers to comply with these laws and regulations could reduce our revenue and profitability,
or expose us to audits and other regulatory proceedings. Regulatory developments such as these could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.

In many countries in which we operate or our services are sold, the status of the laws that may relate to our
services is unclear. We cannot be certain that our customers, resellers, or other affiliates are currently in com-
pliance with regulatory or other legal requirements in their respective countries, that they or we will be able to
comply with existing or future requirements, and/or that they or we will continue in compliance with any
requirements. Our failure or the failure of those with whom we transact business to comply with these
requirements could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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While we expect additional regulation of our industry in some or all of these areas, and we expect continuing
changes in the regulatory environment as new and proposed regulations are reviewed, revised and amended,
we cannot predict with certainty what impact new laws in these areas will have on us, if any. For a complete
discussion of what we believe are the most material regulations impacting our business, see Item 1 to Part I
“Business—Regulation” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

We are subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business that may have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
Various legal proceedings that have arisen or may arise in the ordinary course of business have not been finally
adjudicated, which may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial
condition.

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure

Holders of our Class B common stock have significantly less voting power than holders of our Class A
common stock.
Holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to one-tenth of a vote per share on all matters on which our
stockholders are entitled to vote, while holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to three votes per
share. As a result, the ability of holders of our Class B common stock to influence our management is limited.

We are controlled by our principal stockholder, which limits the ability of other stockholders to affect our
management.
Howard S. Jonas, our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and founder, has voting power over
4,347,583 shares of our common stock (which includes 1,574,326 shares of our Class A common stock, which
are convertible into shares of our Class B common stock on a 1-for-1 basis, and 2,773,257 shares of our
Class B common stock), representing approximately 72.9% of the combined voting power of our outstanding
capital stock, as of October 10, 2013. Mr. Jonas is able to control matters requiring approval by our stock-
holders, including the election of all of the directors and the approval of significant corporate matters,
including any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. As a result, the ability of
any of our other stockholders to influence our management is limited.

Risks Related to Our Publicly Traded Equity

The price of our Class B common stock decreased significantly in prior periods, and may continue to be
subject to volatility.
The price of our Class B common stock decreased significantly in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009, although the
price has increased since fiscal 2009, after taking into account the value of stock of entities that were spun off
by the Company that were received by the Company’s stockholders, but not to the previous levels. The price of
our Class B common stock has been subject to substantial volatility during these fiscal years. As of the close of
business on October 10, 2013, the price of our Class B common stock was $18.01. See Item 5 to Part II
“Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Secu-
rities” in this Annual Report for more information on the history of the closing prices of our Class B common
stock. The price of our Class B common stock may continue to be subject to substantial volatility.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties.
Our headquarters are located in Newark, New Jersey. We own a building that contains approximately
500,000 square feet, along with an 800 car parking garage. We also lease a 75,000 square foot space in
Newark, New Jersey, as well as a space in New York, New York. Collectively, these three buildings currently
serve as the base for each of our operating segments.

We own a building in Piscataway, New Jersey, which is subject to a mortgage that is used by IDT Telecom for
certain of its operations. We also lease space in a number of other locations in metropolitan areas primarily to
house telecommunications equipment and for our retail telecom operations.
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We maintain our European headquarters in London, England and we own a 12,400 square foot condominium
interest in a building in Jerusalem, Israel. We also maintain various international office locations and tele-
communications facilities in portions of Europe, South America, Central America, the Middle East, Asia and
Africa where we conduct operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
On February 15, 2011, a jury in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas awarded Alexsam,
Inc., or Alexsam, $9.1 million in damages from us in an action alleging infringement of two patents related to
the activation of phone and gift cards (incorporating bank identification numbers approved by the American
Banking Association for use in a banking network) over a point-of-sale terminal. The judgment issued in
August 2011 awarded Alexsam an aggregate of $10.1 million including damages and interest. After we
appealed the judgment, on May 20, 2013, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals ruled on behalf of us that we
did not infringe the Alexsam patents. The Court also affirmed that we were licensed to use Alexsam’s patents
for activations of certain phone and gift cards. However, the Court denied the remainder of the appeal. The
Court remanded the case to the District Court for a recalculation of damages. Post-judgment interest continued
to accrue at an annual rate of 0.11% on the $10.1 million awarded in the judgment. We have completed a
design-around of certain of the card encoding schemes at issue in an attempt to avoid infringement of the
Alexsam patents. On September 1, 2011, Alexsam filed a related action seeking royalties for the products and
systems previously found to infringe its patents to the extent they have been used since January 1, 2011. A
bench trial was held on April 1 and April 2, 2013. On September 24, 2013, the parties entered into a Memo-
randum of Understanding pursuant to which the parties agreed to settle this matter in full and will negotiate a
final confidential settlement agreement.

On July 2, 2009, Southwestern Bell Telephone Company and nine of its affiliates (collectively Southwestern
Bell), each of which is a local exchange carrier, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas seeking an accounting as well as declaratory, injunctive and monetary relief from
us. The complaint alleged that we failed to pay “switched access service” charges for calls made by consumers
using our prepaid calling cards. The complaint alleged causes of action for (i) violation of federal tariffs,
(ii) violation of state tariffs, and (iii) unjust enrichment. On October 22, 2012, we and Southwestern Bell
entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement to fully and finally resolve the litigation and the underlying
claim and matter in dispute.

In connection with the Aerotel, Ltd., or Aerotel, arbitration that was held in June 2012, on March 15, 2013,
the arbitration panel issued its Final Award, and determined that Aerotel sustained damages, inclusive of
interest at 9% per annum through March 15, 2013, in the total amount of approximately $5.4 million. On
April 8, 2013, Aerotel filed a Petition for Judgment Vacating the Arbitration Awards in the United States Dis-
trict Court, Southern District of New York along with a Motion supporting its Petition to Vacate the Arbi-
tration Awards. After briefing, on July 18, 2013, the Court confirmed the award, and as a result, in July 2013,
we paid Aerotel $5.4 million including interest. On August 14, 2013, Aerotel filed a Notice of Appeal with the
Court of Appeals, 2nd Circuit. Aerotel’s brief is due by November 5, 2013. A date has not been set for our
opposition and Aerotel’s reply.

Our subsidiary Prepaid Cards BVBA was the exclusive licensee of a patent related to a method and process
used in prepaid calling cards that was invented by Shmuel Fromer, which has now expired. We had been
attempting to enforce this patent in Germany, and had succeeded, prevailing in infringement cases against
certain calling card providers, including Lycatel (Ireland) Limited and Lycatel Services Limited, and Mox
Telecom AG. On February 21, 2012, a nullity hearing (effectively judging the validity of the patent) with
respect to the patent, took place before the German Federal Court of Justice in Karlsruhe, between Lycatel
Services Limited as claimant, Mox Telecom AG as intervenor on the side of claimant, and Mr. Fromer, as
defendant. During this hearing, the court nullified claims 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 of the patent. The Court also ordered
the defendant to pay costs and fees in respect of all of the nullity proceedings involving Lycatel and
Mox. Except for the amount of fees and costs which may be claimed against us in connection with the
infringement proceedings that are based on applicable statutes, the outcome of this matter is uncertain, and, as
such, we are not able to make an assessment of the final result and its impact on us. Upon enforcement of the
judgments in these cases, we were required to transfer security deposits to the court. The security deposit for
each of the Lycatel and Mox cases was €250,000 ($0.3 million at July 31, 2013) and €1.5 million ($2.0 million
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at July 31, 2013) respectively. We requested release of both security deposits. The court released the Lycatel
security deposit to us. Mox is attempting to block the release of the Mox security deposit, by submitting a
payment order of approximately €1.5 million against Prepaid Cards BVBA for damages it claims were incurred
as a result of the preliminary enforcement by Prepaid Cards BVBA of the first and second instance patent
infringement judgments. Prepaid Cards BVBA has objected to this payment order. If Mox desires to further
pursue this claim it would have to initiate regular proceedings for damages, in which it would have to sub-
stantiate the claim, and provide evidence for the allegedly suffered damage. We believe that there is evidence to
the contrary that Mox would find difficult to overcome in proving this claim.

As of July 31, 2013, we had an aggregate of $10.0 million accrued for the Alexsam, Southwestern Bell and
Lycatel/Mox matters.

On May 5, 2004, we filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York,
seeking injunctive relief and damages against Tyco Group, S.A.R.L., Tyco Telecommunications (US) Inc. (f/k/a
TyCom (US) Inc.), Tyco International, Ltd., Tyco International (US) Inc., and TyCom Ltd. (collectively Tyco).
We alleged that Tyco breached a settlement agreement that it had entered into with us to resolve certain dis-
putes and civil actions among the parties. We alleged that Tyco did not provide us, as required under the
settlement agreement, free of charge and for our exclusive use, a 15-year indefeasible right to use four Wave-
lengths in Ring Configuration (as defined in the settlement agreement), or Wavelengths, on a global undersea
fiber optic network that Tyco was deploying at that time. In June 2004, Tyco asserted several counterclaims
against us, alleging that we breached the settlement agreement and are liable for damages for allegedly refusing
to accept Tyco’s offer regarding the Wavelengths referenced in the settlement agreement and for making a
public statement that Tyco failed to provide us with the use of its Wavelengths. On August 19, 2008, the
Appellate Division of the State of New York, First Department, granted summary judgment in favor of Tyco
dismissing the complaint and remanded the matter to the Supreme Court for further proceedings. On
October 22, 2009, the New York Court of Appeals issued an Order denying our appeal and affirming the
Appellate Division’s order. On or about November 17, 2009, we demanded that Tyco comply with its obliga-
tions under the settlement agreement. After further discussions and meetings between the parties regarding
Tyco’s obligations under the settlement agreement, including its obligation to provide the use of the Wave-
lengths for fifteen years in a manner fully consistent with that described in the settlement agreement, we filed a
complaint on November 24, 2010 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York,
against Tyco based upon the failure to comply with the obligations under the settlement agreement, to nego-
tiate the terms of an indefeasible right to use the Wavelengths in good faith, and to provide us with the Wave-
lengths. The complaint alleges causes of action for breach of contract and breach of duty to negotiate in good
faith. On January 6, 2011, Tyco filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, which was granted. On July 22,
2011, we filed a notice of appeal. After briefing was completed, oral argument was held on April 2, 2012. On
December 27, 2012, the Appellate Division issued an opinion and order reversing the order of the Supreme
Court which granted Tyco’s motion to dismiss our complaint. On January 31, 2013, Tyco filed a motion for
reargument or, in the alternative, leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals, which we opposed. On February 8,
2013, Tyco filed an answer with a counterclaim. On May 21, 2013, the Appellate Division denied Tyco’s
request for reargument but granted its request for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. On July 30, 2013,
Tyco filed its opening brief, we filed our response on September 6, 2013, and Tyco’s reply was filed on
October 11, 2013.

In addition to the foregoing, we are subject to other legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course
of business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance in this regard, none of
the other legal proceedings to which we are a party will have a material adverse effect on our results of oper-
ations, cash flows or financial condition.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK
Our Class B common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “IDT”.

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our Class B common stock as reported by the New
York Stock Exchange for the fiscal periods indicated. On October 28, 2011, we completed the Genie Spin-Off,
in which each of our stockholders received one share of Genie Class A common stock for every share of our
Class A common stock and one share of Genie Class B common stock for every share of our Class B common
stock held of record as of the close of business on October 21, 2011. On July 31, 2013, we completed the
Straight Path Spin-Off, in which each of our stockholders received one share of Straight Path Class A common
stock for every two shares of our Class A common stock and one share of Straight Path Class B common stock
for every two shares of our Class B common stock held of record as of the close of business on July 25, 2013.

High Low

Fiscal year ended July 31, 2012
First Quarter $24.80 $11.50
Second Quarter $14.20 $ 8.76
Third Quarter $10.49 $ 7.81
Fourth Quarter $10.73 $ 7.90
Fiscal year ended July 31, 2013
First Quarter $11.00 $ 9.61
Second Quarter $10.57 $ 8.86
Third Quarter $14.94 $ 9.81
Fourth Quarter $21.24 $13.77

On October 10, 2013, 2013, there were 534 holders of record of our Class B common stock and 4 holders of
record of our Class A common stock. All shares of Class A common stock are beneficially owned by Howard
Jonas. These numbers do not include the number of persons whose shares are in nominee or in “street name”
accounts through brokers. On October 10, 2013, the last sales price reported on the New York Stock
Exchange for the Class B common stock was $18.01 per share.

Additional information regarding dividends required by this item is incorporated by reference from the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis section found in Item 7 and from Note 10 to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our
Annual Stockholders Meeting, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120
days after July 31, 2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.
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Performance Graph of Stock
The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our Class B common stock with the
cumulative total return of the New York Stock Exchange Composite Index and the Standard & Poor’s Tele-
communication Services Index for the five years ended July 31, 2013. The graph and table assume that $100
was invested on July 31, 2008 (the last day of trading for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2008) in each of Class
B common stock with the cumulative total return of the NYSE Composite Index and the S&P Tele-
communication Services Index, and that all dividends were reinvested. Cumulative total return for our Class B
common stock includes the value of spin-offs consummated by IDT (i.e., pro rata distributions of the common
stock of a subsidiary to our stockholders). Cumulative total stockholder returns for our Class B common
stock, NYSE Composite Index and the S&P Telecommunication Services Index are based on our fiscal year.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among IDT Corporation, the NYSE Composite Index, and the S&P Telecommunication

Services Index

*$100 invested on 7/31/08 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending July 31.

7/08 7/09 7/10 7/11 7/12 7/13

IDT Corporation 100.00 48.96 348.78 467.60 369.33 811.28
NYSE Composite 100.00 78.49 87.50 103.26 103.23 129.49
S&P Telecommunication Services 100.00 90.09 97.50 116.85 152.66 161.17
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information with respect to purchases by us of our shares during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2013.

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

Average
Price per

Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

as part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum
Number of Shares

that May Yet
Be Purchased

Under the Plans
or Programs(1)

May 1 – 31, 2013 — $— — 5,064,792

June 1 – 30, 2013 — $— — 5,064,792

July 1 – 31, 2013 — $— — 5,064,792

Total — $— —

(1) Under our existing stock repurchase program, approved by our Board of Directors on June 13, 2006, we were authorized to repurchase up
to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of our Class B common stock and, until April 2011, our common stock, without regard to class. On
December 17, 2008, our Board of Directors (i) approved a one-for-three reverse stock split of all classes of our common stock which was
effective on February 24, 2009, and (ii) amended the stock repurchase program to increase the aggregate number of shares of our Class B
common stock and common stock, without regard to class, that we are authorized to repurchase from the 3.3 million shares that remained
available for repurchase to 8.3 million shares.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The selected consolidated financial data presented below for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period
ended July 31, 2013 has been derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been audited
by Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial
data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and
other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Year Ended July 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues $1,620,617 $1,506,283 $1,351,416 $1,193,131 $1,242,459
Income (loss) from continuing operations 18,078 30,934 20,987 6,988 (92,894)
Income (loss) from continuing operations per

common share—basic 0.77 1.45 0.98 0.31 (4.07)
Income (loss) from continuing operations per

common share—diluted 0.72 1.36 0.90 0.30 (4.07)
Cash dividends declared per common share 0.83 0.66 0.67 — —

As of July 31,
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total assets $ 435,407 $ 451,114 $ 568,166 $ 517,795 $ 559,620
Capital lease obligations—long-term portion — — — 407 5,210
Notes payable—long term portion 6,624 29,716 29,564 33,640 43,281

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statements that contain the
words “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends” and similar words and phrases. These forward-
looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results projected in any forward-looking statement. In addition to the factors specifically noted in the
forward-looking statements, other important factors, risks and uncertainties that could result in those differ-
ences include, but are not limited to, those discussed under Item 1A to Part I “Risk Factors” in this Annual
Report. The forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Report, and we assume no
obligation to update the forward-looking statements, or to update the reasons why actual results could differ
from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Investors should consult all of the information set
forth in this report and the other information set forth from time to time in our reports filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
including our reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

OVERVIEW
We are a multinational holding company with operations primarily in the telecommunications industry. We
have three reportable business segments, Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services, which
comprise our IDT Telecom division, and Zedge. Telecom Platform Services provides telecommunications serv-
ices, including prepaid and rechargeable calling products and international long distance traffic termination, as
well as various payment services. Consumer Phone Services provides consumer local and long distance services
in the United States. Zedge owns and operates an on-line platform for mobile phone consumers interested in
obtaining free and relevant, high quality games, apps, and personalization content such as ringtones, wall-
papers, and alerts. operates a service accessible on-line and through both an Android and iOS app that pro-
vides mobile game discovery and personalization content such as ringtones and wallpaper. All other operating
segments that are not reportable individually are included in All Other. All Other includes Fabrix, a software
development company specializing in highly efficient cloud-based video processing, storage and delivery, our
real estate holdings, and other smaller businesses.
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Discontinued Operations

Straight Path Communications, Inc.
On July 31, 2013, we completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of our subsidiary Straight Path
Communications Inc. to our stockholders of record as of the close of business on July 25, 2013. At the time of the
Straight Path Spin-Off, Straight Path owned 100% of Straight Path Spectrum, Inc. (formerly IDT Spectrum, Inc.),
which holds, leases and markets fixed wireless spectrum licenses, and 84.5% of Straight Path IP Group, Inc.
(formerly Innovative Communications Technologies, Inc.), which holds intellectual property primarily related to
communications over the Internet and the licensing and other businesses related to this intellectual property. As of
July 31, 2013, each of our stockholders received one share of Straight Path Class A common stock for every two
shares of our Class A common stock and one share of Straight Path Class B common stock for every two shares of
our Class B common stock held of record date as of the close of business on July 25, 2013. Straight Path and its
subsidiaries met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities,
results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

We intend for the Straight Path Spin-Off to be tax-free for us and our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax
purposes under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. We received an opinion from Pryor
Cashman LLP on the requirements for a tax-free distribution. Specifically, the opinion concluded that the dis-
tribution (i) should satisfy the business purpose requirement of the Internal Revenue Code for a tax-free dis-
tribution, (ii) should not be viewed as being used principally as a device for the distribution of earnings and
profits of the distributing corporation or the controlled corporation or both, and (iii) should not be viewed as
part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more persons will acquire directly or
indirectly stock representing a 50 percent or greater interest in the distributing corporation or controlled
corporation within the meaning of the relevant section of the Internal Revenue Code.

In connection with the Straight Path Spin-Off, we funded Straight Path with a total of $15.0 million in
aggregate cash and cash equivalents.

We entered into various agreements with Straight Path prior to the Straight Path Spin-Off including (1) a
Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for our relationship
with Straight Path after the spin-off, (2) a Tax Separation Agreement, which sets forth our and Straight Path’s
responsibilities with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign taxes for
periods before and including the spin-off, the preparation and filing of tax returns for such periods and dis-
putes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods, and (3) a Transition Services Agreement, which
provides for certain services to be performed by us to facilitate Straight Path’s transition into a separate
publicly-traded company. These agreements provide for, among other things, the allocation between us and
Straight Path of employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to
the spin-off, and provision of certain services by us to Straight Path following the spin-off, including services
relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, finance, treasury, accounting, tax, internal
audit, facilities, external reporting, investor relations and legal. In addition, we and Straight Path have entered
into a license agreement whereby each of us, Straight Path and our subsidiaries granted and will grant a license
to the other to utilize patents held by each entity.

Genie Energy Ltd.
On October 28, 2011, we completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of our subsidiary Genie
Energy Ltd. to our stockholders of record as of the close of business on October 21, 2011. At the time of the
Genie Spin-Off, Genie owned 99.3% of Genie Energy International Corporation, which owned 100% of IDT
Energy and 92% of Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. As of October 28, 2011, each of our stockholders received one
share of Genie Class A common stock for every share of our Class A common stock and one share of Genie
Class B common stock for every share of our Class B common stock held of record as of the close of business
on October 21, 2011. Genie and its subsidiaries met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations and
accordingly, their assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued oper-
ations for all periods presented.

We received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, substantially to the effect that, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, the distribution of shares of Genie common stock will qualify as tax-free for Genie, us
and our stockholders under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. In addition to obtaining the
IRS ruling, we received an opinion from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP on the three requirements for a tax-free
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distribution that are not addressed in the IRS ruling. Specifically, the opinion concludes that the distribution
(i) should satisfy the business purpose requirement of the Internal Revenue Code for a tax-free distribution,
(ii) should not be viewed as being used principally as a device for the distribution of earnings and profits of the
distributing corporation or the controlled corporation or both, and (iii) should not be viewed as part of a plan
(or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more persons will acquire directly or indirectly
stock representing a 50 percent or greater interest in the distributing corporation or controlled corporation
within the meaning of the relevant section of the Internal Revenue Code.

In connection with the Genie Spin-Off, we funded Genie with a total of $106.0 million in aggregate cash and
cash equivalents, including restricted cash.

We entered into various agreements with Genie prior to the Genie Spin-Off including a Separation and Dis-
tribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for our relationship with Genie after the
spin-off, and a Transition Services Agreement, which provides for certain services to be performed by us and
Genie to facilitate Genie’s transition into a separate publicly-traded company. These agreements provide for,
among other things, (1) the allocation between us and Genie of employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities
and obligations attributable to periods prior to the spin-off, (2) transitional services to be provided by us
relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, (3) the allocation of responsibilities relating
to employee compensation and benefit plans and programs and other related matters, (4) finance, accounting,
tax, internal audit, facilities, external reporting, investor relations and legal services to be provided by us to
Genie following the spin-off and (5) specified administrative services to be provided by Genie to certain of our
foreign subsidiaries. In addition, we entered into a Tax Separation Agreement with Genie, which sets forth the
responsibilities of us and Genie with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state, local and
foreign taxes for periods before and including the spin-off, the preparation and filing of tax returns for such
periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods.

IDT Entertainment
In connection with the sale of IDT Entertainment to Liberty Media Corporation in the first quarter of fiscal
2007, we were eligible to receive additional consideration from Liberty Media based upon any appreciation in
the value of IDT Entertainment over the five-year period that ended in August 2011, however, we may have
been required to pay Liberty Media up to $3.5 million if the value of IDT Entertainment did not exceed a
certain amount by August 2011. In July 2011, we revised our estimate for this commitment. Included in
“Income on sale of discontinued operations” in the accompanying consolidated statement of income in fiscal
2011 was a gain of $3.5 million from the reversal of the liability that had been recorded in a prior period. In
September 2011, we and Liberty Media executed an agreement to settle and resolve all claims related to the
additional consideration and certain other disputes and claims. Liberty Media paid us $2.0 million in Sep-
tember 2011 in consideration for the settlement and related releases, which is included in “Income on sale of
discontinued operations” in fiscal 2012 in the accompanying consolidated statement of income.

Summary Financial Data of Discontinued Operations
Revenues, income before income taxes and net income (loss) of Straight Path, Genie and their subsidiaries,
which are included in discontinued operations, were as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

REVENUES
Straight Path and subsidiaries $ 1.1 $ 0.5 $ 0.5
Genie and subsidiaries — 45.8 203.6

TOTAL $ 1.1 $46.3 $204.1

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Straight Path and subsidiaries $(4.6) $ 4.9 $ 2.3
Genie and subsidiaries — 2.6 4.4

TOTAL $(4.6) $ 7.5 $ 6.7

NET (LOSS) INCOME
Straight Path and subsidiaries $(4.6) $ 4.9 $ 1.5
Genie and subsidiaries — 1.0 (2.6)

TOTAL $(4.6) $ 5.9 $ (1.1)
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IDT Telecom
Since our inception, we have derived the majority of our revenues and operating expenses from IDT Telecom’s
businesses. IDT Telecom’s revenues represented 98.9%, 99.3% and 99.4% of our total revenues from
continuing operations in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.

Telecom Platform Services, which represented 99.1%, 98.7% and 98.0% of IDT Telecom’s total revenues in
fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, markets and distributes multiple communications and
payment services across four broad business categories, including:

• Retail Communications provides international long-distance calling products primarily to
immigrant communities worldwide, with its core markets in the United States. These products
include our flagship Boss Revolution PIN-less product (an international calling service sold through
our Boss Revolution payment platform) as well as other prepaid calling card products including
traditional, disposable calling cards.

• Wholesale Termination Services is a global telecom carrier, terminating international long distance
calls around the world for Tier 1 fixed line and mobile network operators, as well as other service
providers, through our network of 650-plus carrier interconnects.

• Payment Services provides payment offerings including domestic and international airtime top-up
sold both in traditional hard card format and over our Boss Revolution payment platform, gift
cards sold in the United States and Europe, and our recently launched bill pay and international
money transfer service. Payment Services also includes reloadable debit cards and BIN sponsorship
services offered in Europe by IDT Financial Services Limited.

• Hosted Platform Solutions provides customized communications services that leverage our
proprietary networks, platforms and/or technology to cable companies and other service providers.
The majority of Hosted Platform Solutions’ revenue is generated by our cable telephony business.

Our Consumer Phone Services segment provides consumer local and long distance services in the United States.
Since calendar 2005, this business has been in harvest mode, wherein we seek to retain existing customers but
do not actively market to new customers, and we attempt to maximize profits by optimally managing both the
life-cycle of our customer base as well as the costs associated with operating this business.

Our international prepaid calling business worldwide sells the great majority of its products to distributors at a
discount to their face value, and records the sales as deferred revenues. These deferred revenues are recognized
as revenues when telecommunications services are provided and/or administrative fees are imposed. Interna-
tional prepaid calling revenues tend to be somewhat seasonal, with the second fiscal quarter (which contains
Christmas and New Year’s Day) and the fourth fiscal quarter (which contains Mother’s Day and Father’s Day)
typically showing higher minute volumes.

Direct costs related to our telecom businesses consist primarily of three major categories: termination and
origination costs, toll-free costs and network costs.

Termination costs represent costs associated with the transmission and termination of international and domestic
long distance services. We terminate our traffic via the arbitrage market or through direct interconnections with
other carriers. This cost is primarily variable, with a price paid on a per-minute basis. Origination costs relating to
our Consumer Phone Services segment consists primarily of leased lines from the RBOCs, which are billed to us as
a monthly fee. Toll-free costs are variable costs paid to providers of toll-free services.

Network costs, which are also called connectivity costs, are fixed for a range of minutes of use, and include
customer/carrier interconnect charges and leased fiber circuit charges. Local circuits are generally leased for a
12 to 24 month term, while long haul circuits generally are leased for longer terms. Although these are not
purely variable costs, where the cost increases for each additional minute carried on our suppliers’ networks,
increases in minutes will likely result in incrementally higher network costs.

Direct costs related to our telecom business include an estimate of charges for which invoices have not yet been
received, and estimated amounts for pending disputes with other carriers. Subsequent adjustments to these
estimates may occur after the invoices are received for the actual costs incurred, but these adjustments gen-
erally are not material to our results of operations.
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Selling expenses in IDT Telecom consist primarily of sales commissions paid to internal salespersons and
independent agents, and advertising costs, which are the primary costs associated with the acquisition of
customers. General and administrative expenses include employee compensation, benefits, professional fees,
rent and other administrative costs. IDT Telecom’s Retail Communications offerings generally have higher
selling, general and administrative expenses than IDT Telecom’s wholesale carrier services business.

Telecom Competition
Over the past few years, we have experienced a continued shift in demand industry-wide, away from tradi-
tional calling cards and into wireless products and IP-based products, which, among other things, contributes
to the gradual erosion of our pricing power. The continued growth of these wireless and IP-based services has
adversely affected the sales of our traditional disposable prepaid calling card products as customers migrate
from using cards to using these alternative services. We expect pricing of wireless and IP-based services to
continue to decrease, which may result in increased substitution and increased pricing pressure on our prepaid
calling card products’ sales and margins.

To combat this trend, we have introduced in recent years new sources of revenue, such as Boss Revolution
PIN-less and international airtime top-up that have now largely replaced revenues from our traditional dis-
posable calling cards. Boss Revolution PIN-less allows users to call their families and friends overseas without
the need to enter a PIN. International airtime top-up, which enables customers to purchase airtime for a pre-
paid mobile telephone in another country, appeals to residents of developed countries such as the United States
who regularly communicate with or financially support friends or family members in a developing country.
The addition of Boss Revolution PIN-less and international airtime top-up represent successful efforts to
leverage our existing capabilities and distribution. Although Boss Revolution PIN-less and international airtime
top-up generally have lower gross margins than our traditional disposable calling cards, customers tend to
continue using these products over a longer period of time thereby allowing us to generate higher revenues and
longer lifetime value per user. The Boss Revolution payment platform provides us with a direct, real-time rela-
tionship with all of our retailers, resulting in a cost-effective and adaptable distribution model that can rapidly
respond to changes in the business environment. There can be no assurance that we will continue to grow our
Boss Revolution PIN-less and international airtime top-up sales, or that we will be able to continue to generate
new sources of revenue to offset the continuing decline in our traditional disposable calling card revenues.

The wholesale carrier industry has numerous players competing for the same customers, primarily on the basis
of price, products and quality of service. In our Wholesale Termination Services business, we have generally
had to pass along all or most of our per-minute cost savings to our customers in the form of lower prices.

Concentration of Customers
Our most significant customers typically include telecom carriers to whom IDT Telecom provides wholesale
telecommunications services and distributors of IDT Telecom’s international prepaid calling products. While
they may vary from quarter to quarter, our five largest customers collectively accounted for 10.0%, 8.1% and
7.1% of total consolidated revenues from continuing operations in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,
respectively. Our customers with the five largest receivables balances collectively accounted for 16.6% and
24.3% of the consolidated gross trade accounts receivable at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This
concentration of customers increases our risk associated with nonpayment by those customers. In an effort to
reduce our risk, we perform ongoing credit evaluations of our significant retail telecom, wholesale termination
and cable telephony customers, and in some cases, do not offer credit terms to customers, choosing instead to
demand prepayment. Historically, when we have issued credit, we have not required collateral to support trade
accounts receivable from our customers. However, when necessary, IDT Telecom has imposed stricter credit
restrictions on its customers. In some cases, this has resulted in IDT Telecom sharply curtailing, or ceasing
completely, sales to certain customers. IDT Telecom attempts to mitigate its credit risk related to specific
wholesale termination customers by also buying services from the customer, in order to create an opportunity
to offset its payables and receivables with the customer. In this way, IDT Telecom can continue to sell services
to these wholesale termination customers while reducing its receivable exposure risk. When it is practical to do
so, IDT Telecom will increase its purchases from wholesale termination customers with receivable balances
that exceed IDT Telecom’s applicable payables in order to maximize the offset and reduce its credit risk.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Critical accounting policies
are those that require application of management’s most subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of
matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Our critical accounting policies
include those related to the allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill, valuation of long-lived and intangible
assets, income and other taxes and regulatory agency fees, IDT Telecom direct cost of revenues—disputed
amounts, and contingent liabilities. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience
and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in this Annual Report for a complete discussion of our significant accounting policies.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that result from the inability or unwill-
ingness of our customers to make required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $13.1 million
and $13.0 million at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts as a
percentage of gross trade accounts receivable increased to 16.7% at July 31, 2013 from 13.6% at July 31,
2012 as a result of the decline in the gross trade accounts receivable balances at IDT Telecom and Fabrix. Our
allowance is determined based on known troubled accounts, historical experience and other currently available
evidence. Our estimates of recoverability of customer accounts may change due to new developments, changes
in assumptions or changes in our strategy, which may impact our allowance for doubtful accounts balance. We
continually assess the likelihood of potential amounts or ranges of recoverability and adjust our allowance
accordingly, however actual collections and write-offs of trade accounts receivables may materially differ from
our estimates.

Goodwill
Our goodwill balance of $14.8 million at July 31, 2013 was attributable to our Retail Communications
reporting unit in our Telecom Platform Services segment ($11.6 million) and Zedge ($3.2 million). Goodwill
and other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized. These assets are reviewed annu-
ally (or more frequently under various conditions) for impairment using a fair value approach. Intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

The goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing it
to its carrying amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its esti-
mated fair value, Step 2 is performed to determine if an impairment of goodwill is required. We estimate the
fair value of our reporting units using discounted cash flow methodologies, as well as considering third party
market value indicators. Goodwill impairment is measured by the excess of the carrying amount of the
reporting unit’s goodwill over its implied fair value.

We have the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. However, we may elect to perform the two-step quantitative
goodwill impairment test even if no indications of a potential impairment exist.

For our Retail Communications reporting unit with a negative carrying amount, we perform Step 2 of the
goodwill impairment test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. In determining
whether it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, we consider whether there are any adverse
qualitative factors indicating that impairment may exist.

For Retail Communications’ annual impairment test for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, we qualitatively assessed
whether it was more likely than not that a goodwill impairment existed and concluded that a goodwill
impairment did not exist. For Retail Communications in fiscal 2011, and for Zedge in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012
and fiscal 2011, the estimated fair values of the reporting unit substantially exceeded their respective carrying
values in Step 1 of our annual impairment tests, therefore it was not necessary to perform Step 2. In addition,
we do not believe our reporting units are currently at risk of failing Step 1. Calculating the fair value of the
reporting units, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible assets, intangible assets and
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liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should our estimates or assumptions
regarding the fair value of our reporting units prove to be incorrect, we may be required to record impairments
of goodwill in future periods and such impairments could be material.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets including Intangible Assets with Finite Useful Lives
We test the recoverability of our long-lived assets including identifiable intangible assets with finite useful lives
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of any such asset may not be
recoverable. Such events or changes in circumstances include:

• significant actual underperformance relative to expected performance or projected future operating
results;

• significant changes in the manner or use of the asset or the strategy of our overall business;
• significant adverse changes in the business climate in which we operate; and
• loss of a significant contract.

If we determine that the carrying value of certain long-lived assets may not be recoverable, we test for impair-
ment based on the projected undiscounted cash flows to be derived from such asset. If the projected undis-
counted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset, we will record an impairment loss based
on the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value of the asset. We generally measure
fair value by considering sale prices for similar assets or by discounting estimated future cash flows from the
asset using an appropriate discount rate. Cash flow projections and fair value estimates require significant
estimates and assumptions by management. Should our estimates and assumptions prove to be incorrect, we
may be required to record impairments in future periods and such impairments could be material.

In fiscal 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.4 million for the building and improvements that we
own at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey. At July 31, 2013, the carrying value of the land, building and
improvements at 520 Broad Street after the impairment charge was $37.7 million. We are considering a range
of options as to the future use or disposition of 520 Broad Street, some of which could result in an additional
loss from a further reduction in the carrying value of the land, building and improvements and such loss could
be material.

Income and Other Taxes and Regulatory Agency Fees
Our current and deferred income taxes, and associated valuation allowance as well as certain other tax and
telecom regulatory agency fee accruals, are impacted by events and transactions arising in the normal course of
business as well as in connection with special and non-routine items. Assessment of the appropriate amount
and classification of income and other taxes and certain regulatory agency fees is dependent on several factors,
including estimates of the timing and realization of deferred income tax assets, the results of IRS audits of our
federal income tax returns, other tax-related or regulatory fee-related audits, changes in tax laws or regulatory
agency rules and regulations, as well as unanticipated future actions impacting related accruals of regulatory
agency fees.

The valuation allowance on our deferred income tax assets was $167.3 million and $205.0 million at July 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. In fiscal 2012, we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of
our deferred income tax assets would be realized, therefore we reversed $36.9 million of the valuation allow-
ance related to those assets. We based our determination on a projection of future U.S. income and took into
consideration the historical U.S. performance and decided a release of the U.S. valuation that relates to the core
businesses was warranted in that period. Assumptions regarding future taxable income require significant
analysis and judgment. This analysis included financial forecasts based on historical performance of the core
business and continuance of doing business in a jurisdiction in which losses are incurred. Based on our projec-
tions, we expected that we would generate future taxable income over the next five years in the U.S. juris-
diction and will begin utilizing our net operating loss carryover through this period. Accordingly, we
concluded that a portion of our U.S. jurisdiction core business assets did not require a full valuation allowance.
In fiscal 2013, we updated the analysis and concluded that the valuation allowance related to our core U.S.
business should be maintained at the current level and will be reevaluated as warranted.

We did not release any of the valuation allowances that related to our former Straight Path Spectrum business
since it was not part of the main tax consolidated group and the portion of the Net2Phone acquired net
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operating loss that is subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limitations. We did not release any of the
valuation allowances related to our foreign operations as it is not more likely than not that the assets will be
utilized based upon the earnings history and the current profitability projections.

We have not recorded U.S. income tax expense for foreign earnings, as such earnings are permanently
reinvested outside the United States. The cumulative undistributed foreign earnings are included in accumu-
lated deficit in our consolidated balance sheets, and consisted of approximately $265 million at July 31, 2013.
Upon distribution of these foreign earnings to our domestic entities, we may be subject to U.S. income taxes
and withholding of foreign taxes, however, it is not practicable to determine the amount, if any, which would
be paid.

Our FCC Form 499-A filings for calendar years 2000 through 2006 related to payments to the Universal
Service Fund have been audited by the Internal Audit Division of USAC, which concluded that we incorrectly
reported certain revenues on Forms 499-A. USAC’s revisions to our filing methodology resulted in additional
regulatory payments for the years covered by the audits. While we believe in the accuracy of our filing
methodology and our Request for Review remains pending, we have implemented some of the revisions set
forth in the IAD’s filings beginning with our calendar year 2010 Form 499-A. We have accrued for all regu-
latory fees we believe may be incurred under IAD’s methodology from 2002 through the present, in the event
our Request for Review is denied and/or our methodology is not upheld on appeal, and we have made certain
payments on amounts that have been invoiced to us by USAC and/or other agencies. As of July 31, 2013, our
accrued expenses included $37.9 million for these regulatory fees for the years covered by the audit and sub-
sequent years through fiscal 2013. Until a final decision has been reached in our disputes, we will continue to
accrue in accordance with IAD’s methodology. If we do not properly calculate, or have not properly calcu-
lated, the amount payable by us to the Universal Service Fund, we may be subject to interest and penalties.

We use a two-step approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. We determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examina-
tion, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the
position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we
presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all
relevant information. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured to
determine the amount of tax benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured at
the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
Differences between tax positions taken in a tax return and amounts recognized in the financial statements will
generally result in one or more of the following: an increase in a liability for income taxes payable, a reduction
of an income tax refund receivable, a reduction in a deferred tax asset, or an increase in a deferred tax liability.
We review and adjust our liability for unrecognized tax benefits based on our best estimate and judgment given
the facts, circumstances and information available at each reporting date. To the extent that the final outcome
of these tax positions is different than the amounts recorded, such differences may impact income tax expense
and actual tax payments.

IDT Telecom Direct Cost of Revenues—Disputed Amounts
IDT Telecom’s direct cost of revenues includes estimated amounts for pending disputes with other carriers. The
billing disputes typically arise from differences in minutes of use and/or rates charged by carriers that provide
service to us. At July 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $18.0 million and $19.5 million, respectively, in out-
standing carrier payable disputes, for which we recorded direct cost of revenues of $6.8 million and $7.4 mil-
lion, respectively. We consider various factors to determine the amount to accrue for pending disputes,
including (1) our historical experience in dispute resolution, (2) the basis of disputes, (3) the financial status
and our current relationship with vendors and (4) our aging of prior disputes. Subsequent adjustments to our
estimates may occur when disputes are resolved or abandoned, but these adjustments are generally not
material to our results of operations. However, there can be no assurance that revisions to our estimates will
not be material to our results of operations in the future.

Contingent Liabilities
We are subject to a number of lawsuits, investigations and claims that arise out of the conduct of our global
business operations. We recognize a liability for such contingencies when both (a) information available prior
to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability had been incurred at the date
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of the financial statements and (b) the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated. At July 31, 2013, we had
accrued an aggregate of $11.8 million for various legal proceedings. We continually assess the likelihood of
any adverse judgments or outcomes to our contingencies, as well as potential amounts or ranges of probable
losses, and recognize a liability, if any, for these contingencies based on an analysis of each matter with the
assistance of outside legal counsel and, if applicable, other experts. Because many of these matters are resolved
over long periods of time, our estimate of liabilities may change due to new developments, changes in assump-
tions or changes in our strategy related to the matter.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended July 31, 2013 compared to Years Ended July 31, 2012 and 2011
The following table sets forth certain items in our statements of income as a percentage of our total revenues
from continuing operations:

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011

REVENUES:
IDT Telecom 98.9% 99.3% 99.4%
Zedge 0.4 0.3 0.2
All Other 0.7 0.4 0.4

TOTAL REVENUES 100.0 100.0 100.0
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Direct cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 83.7 84.3 82.9
Selling, general and administrative 13.5 13.7 15.0
Depreciation and amortization 0.9 1.1 1.5
Research and development 0.4 0.3 0.2
Impairment of building and improvements 0.3 — —
Severance and other charges — — 0.1

TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 98.8 99.4 99.7
Other operating gains (losses), net 0.6 (1.1) 0.3

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 1.8 (0.5) 0.6
Interest expense, net — (0.2) (0.3)
Other income (expense), net 0.3 (0.1) 0.3

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 2.1% (0.8)% 0.6%

We evaluate the performance of our operating business segments based primarily on income (loss) from oper-
ations. Accordingly, the income and expense line items below income (loss) from operations are only included
in our discussion of the consolidated results of operations.

IDT Telecom—Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services Segments

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Revenues
Telecom Platform Services $1,587.6 $1,477.1 $1,316.6 $110.5 7.5% $160.5 12.2%
Consumer Phone Services 14.5 19.3 26.4 (4.8) (24.8) (7.1) (27.0)

Total revenues $1,602.1 $1,496.4 $1,343.0 $105.7 7.1% $153.4 11.4%

Revenues. IDT Telecom revenues increased in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year
due to an increase in Telecom Platform Services’ revenues, which more than offset a decline in Consumer
Phone Services’ revenues. As a percentage of IDT Telecom’s total revenues, Telecom Platform Services’ rev-
enues increased from 98.0% in fiscal 2011 to 98.7% in fiscal 2012 and 99.1% in fiscal 2013, and Consumer
Phone Services’ revenues decreased from 2.0% in fiscal 2011 to 1.3% in fiscal 2012 and 0.9% in fiscal 2013.
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Telecom Platform Services’ revenues, minutes of use and average revenue per minute for fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011 consisted of the following:

(in millions, except revenue per minute) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $/# % $/# %

Telecom Platform Services Revenues
Retail Communications $ 656.5 $ 551.7 $ 482.4 $ 104.8 19.0% $ 69.3 14.4%
Wholesale Telecommunications Services 687.6 715.4 639.8 (27.8) (3.9) 75.6 11.8
Payment Services 191.3 153.0 118.5 38.3 25.1 34.5 29.1
Hosted Platform Solutions 52.2 57.0 75.9 (4.8) (8.4) (18.9) (24.9)

Total Telecom Platform Services revenues $1,587.6 $1,477.1 $1,316.6 $ 110.5 7.5% $ 160.5 12.2%

Minutes of use
Retail Communications 9,373 8,427 7,742 946 11.2% 685 8.9%
Wholesale Telecommunications Services 22,367 21,266 17,193 1,101 5.2 4,073 23.7
Hosted Platform Solutions 900 1,087 1,305 (187) (17.2) (218) (16.7)

Total minutes of use 32,640 30,780 26,240 1,860 6.1% 4,540 17.3%

Average revenue per minute
Retail Communications $ 0.0700 $ 0.0655 $ 0.0623 $ 0.0045 7.0% $ 0.0032 5.1%
Wholesale Telecommunications Services 0.0307 0.0336 0.0372 (0.0029) (8.6) (0.0036) (9.6)

Retail Communications’ revenues (41.4% and 37.3% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, respectively) grew 19.0% and 14.4% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, compared to the
prior fiscal year. The growth was led by penetration and acceptance of Boss Revolution within our U.S. retail
distribution network, partially offset by continued declines in sales of traditional disposable calling cards and
retail sales in Europe. We launched the Boss Revolution payment platform in the United Kingdom and Spain
during fiscal 2012, and in the first half of fiscal 2013, it was launched in Germany, Hong Kong, Singapore and
Australia.

Wholesale Termination Services’ revenues (43.3% and 48.4% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal
2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively) declined 3.9% and increased 11.8% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012,
respectively, compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was the
result of an industry-wide increase in termination rates to certain key destinations in Southern Asia which
resulted in a decline in revenues as well as direct cost of revenues. The growth in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal
2011 was due to our commitment and investments in being a recognized leader in the wholesale termination
marketplace as well as the significant increase in revenues from our web-based prepaid termination service.

Payment Services’ revenues (12.0% and 10.4% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenue in fiscal 2013 and fiscal
2012, respectively) grew 25.1% and 29.1% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, compared to the prior
fiscal year. The increase was driven by the success of our international airtime top-up offerings. Future growth
will be, in large part, contingent upon our ability to enter into new international airtime top-up partnerships
with wireless providers, as well as continued growth of international airtime top-up volume within existing
relationships and the introduction of new payment offerings through the Boss Revolution payment platform.
In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, we launched our domestic bill payment services in partnership with a
licensed domestic bill pay provider. In addition, in fiscal 2014, we initiated an international money transfer
service on a limited basis over our Boss Revolution payment platform after obtaining the requisite licenses.

Hosted Platform Solutions’ revenues (3.3% and 3.9% of Telecom Platform Services’ revenues in fiscal 2013
and fiscal 2012, respectively) declined 8.4% and 24.9% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, compared
to the prior fiscal year. The decline in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was partially due to a decrease in
revenue from our cable telephony business which is in harvest mode. The decline was also due to decreases in
revenues from call shops outside the U.S., which decreased due to price competition and migration to alter-
native wireless and IP-based services. The decline in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily due to
the loss of our largest cable telephony customer, Bresnan Broadband Holdings, LLC, which terminated its
agreement with us as part of its sale to Cablevision. In December 2010, Cablevision paid us $14.4 million in
cash to terminate the agreement, and we provided transition services to Bresnan through the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2011.
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Total minutes of use for Telecom Platform Services increased 6.1% and 17.3% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012,
respectively, compared to the prior fiscal year. Minutes of use relating to our Consumer Phone Services seg-
ment is not tracked as a meaningful business metric as the domestic traffic generated by this segment is not
carried on our network, and the international traffic generated by this segment, though carried on our own
network, is insignificant. Within Telecom Platform Services, minutes of use relating to Wholesale Termination
Services increased 5.2% and 23.7% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, compared to the prior fiscal
year. The increase in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was the result of significant increases in the first half
of fiscal 2013 from our web-based prepaid termination service as well as from wholesale telecom. Minutes of
use from Retail Communications increased 11.2% and 8.9% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively,
compared to the prior fiscal year. In fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, the increases were driven by the volume
growth in the U.S. and Asia, which more than offset the decrease in minutes of use in Europe and South
America. Hosted Platform Solutions minutes of use decreased 17.2% and 16.7% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal
2012, respectively, compared to the prior fiscal year, primarily as a result of the decline in minutes of use from
call shops, as well as, in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012, a decline in minutes of use from managed serv-
ices and cable telephony customers. In general, since our Hosted Platform Solutions business’ revenues and
cash flows are driven far more by the number of existing subscribers in the form of a per-subscriber fee rather
than by subscriber minutes of use, we do not view Hosted Platform Solutions minutes of use as a very sig-
nificant metric.

Consumer Phone Services’ revenues declined 24.8% and 27.0% in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively,
compared to the prior fiscal year as we continued to operate the business in harvest mode. This strategy has
been in effect since calendar 2005 when the FCC decided to terminate the UNE-P pricing regime, which
resulted in significantly inferior economics in the operating model for this business. The customer base for our
bundled, unlimited local and long distance services business was approximately 7,800 as of July 31, 2013
compared to 10,500 as of July 31, 2012 and 14,100 as of July 31, 2011. We currently offer local service in the
following 11 states: New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Delaware, Massachusetts, New Hamp-
shire, West Virginia, Maine, Rhode Island and California. In addition, the customer base for our long distance-
only services was approximately 35,700 as of July 31, 2013 compared to 45,200 as of July 31, 2012 and
57,300 as of July 31, 2011. We anticipate that Consumer Phone Services’ customer base and revenues will
continue to decline.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Direct cost of revenues
Telecom Platform Services $1,346.8 $1,258.8 $1,106.0 $88.0 7.0% $152.8 13.8%
Consumer Phone Services 6.3 8.6 12.1 (2.3) (27.0) (3.5) (28.8)

Total direct cost of revenues $1,353.1 $1,267.4 $1,118.1 $85.7 6.8% $149.3 13.4%

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Direct cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues
Telecom Platform Services 84.8% 85.2% 84.0% (0.4)% 1.2%
Consumer Phone Services 43.3 44.6 45.7 (1.3) (1.1)

Total 84.5% 84.7% 83.3% (0.2)% 1.4%

Direct Cost of Revenues. Direct cost of revenues of IDT Telecom increased in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012
compared to the prior fiscal year primarily as a result of the increase in minutes of use volume in our Telecom
Platform Services segment. Direct cost of revenues in Telecom Platform Services increased in fiscal 2013
compared to fiscal 2012 primarily as a result of increases in the direct cost of revenues in Retail Communica-
tions and Payment Services, partially offset by a decrease in Wholesale Termination Services direct cost of
revenues. Direct cost of revenues in Telecom Platform Services increased in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011
due to increases in the direct cost of revenues in Retail Communications, Wholesale Termination Services and
Payment Services.

Direct cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues in Telecom Platform Services decreased 40 basis points in
fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012, which primarily reflects the growth of Retail Communications revenue

39



compared to the decline in Wholesale Termination Services revenue, resulting in a positive revenue mix shift.
Direct cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues in Telecom Platform Services increased 120 basis points in
fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 due to the loss of Bresnan, our largest cable telephony customer, as well as
the evolution of our product mix, as revenues from traditional disposable calling cards declined while revenues
of Wholesale Termination Services, Boss Revolution PIN-less and international airtime top-up increased.

Direct cost of revenues in our Consumer Phone Services segment decreased in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012
compared to the prior fiscal year primarily as a result of the declining customer base.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Telecom Platform Services $189.3 $182.2 $174.0 $ 7.1 3.9% $ 8.2 4.7%
Consumer Phone Services 6.4 6.6 7.2 (0.2) (3.3) (0.6) (7.8)

Total selling, general and administrative
expenses $195.7 $188.8 $181.2 $ 6.9 3.6% $ 7.6 4.2%

Selling, General and Administrative. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in our
Telecom Platform Services segment in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was parti-
ally due to increases in employee compensation. We are continuing to expand our retail direct sales force in the
U.S., which results in more control over our product distribution and enhances our relationships with retailers.
We expect to continue to add to the direct sales force in fiscal 2014, which will likely somewhat further
increase our selling, general and administrative expenses.

The increases in selling, general and administrative expenses in our Telecom Platform Services segment were
also due to the increase in our variable costs, as our revenue grew as well. Variable selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses include costs such as marketing, bad debt, third-party transaction processing costs, and
internal sales commissions that closely track top-line performance. In particular, third-party transaction proc-
essing costs have increased in direct proportion to the rapid growth of sales on the Boss Revolution payment
platform since many of the retailers on the Boss Revolution payment platform use credit cards to pay us for
their purchases. We intend to compliment the use of credit cards with ACH transfers in order to reduce these
costs. Internal sales commissions have grown as a direct result of our effort to grow and strengthen our retail
direct sales force in the U.S. In addition, an increase in external legal fees contributed to the increase in selling,
general and administrative expenses in our Telecom Platform Services segment in fiscal 2013 compared to
fiscal 2012. These increases in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 were partially offset by a decrease in
marketing expenses in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012, although marketing expenses significantly
increased in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 to support our revenue growth. The increase in selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses in our Telecom Platform Services segment in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal
2011 was partially offset by decreases in external legal fees and bad debt expense.

As a percentage of Telecom Platform Services’ revenues, Telecom Platform Services’ selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses decreased to 11.9% from 12.3% and 13.2% in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,
respectively. We expect that Telecom Platform Services’ selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of Telecom Platform Services’ revenues will slightly increase in fiscal 2014 as we continue our
investment in several growth initiatives including further expansion of the retail sales force, increased
marketing of our existing Boss Revolution suite of products, and introduction of new payment offerings
including the roll-out of money remittances services.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses in our Consumer Phone Services segment decreased in fiscal 2013
and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year as the cost structure for this segment continued to be right-
sized to the needs of its declining revenue base.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Depreciation and amortization
Telecom Platform Services $12.3 $14.2 $17.6 $(1.9) (13.2)% $(3.4) (19.4)%
Consumer Phone Services — — 0.1 — — (0.1) (83.3)

Total depreciation and amortization $12.3 $14.2 $17.7 $(1.9) (13.2)% $(3.5) (19.6)%

Depreciation and Amortization. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was due to lower levels of capital expenditures in recent periods
and more of our property, plant and equipment becoming fully depreciated. In addition, depreciation expense
in fiscal 2013 was reduced by $0.7 million due to an adjustment in our estimate of capital expenditures subject
to sales and use tax as a result of an audit. We expect continued reductions in depreciation and amortization
expense in the future although at a reduced rate.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Severance and other charges
Telecom Platform Services $— $— $0.9 $— —% $(0.9) (100.0)%
Consumer Phone Services — — — — — — —

Total severance and other charges $— $— $0.9 $— —% $(0.9) (100.0)%

Severance and Other Charges. Severance and other charges in fiscal 2011 consisted primarily of costs to
terminate a contract for a technology development and support group.

(in millions)
Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011

Telecom Platform Services-Other operating gains (losses), net
Gains (losses) related to legal matters, net $9.3 $ (6.8) $ —
Loss on settlement of litigation (a) — (11.0) —
Gain on settlement of claim (b) — 1.8 —
Gain on termination of agreement (c) — — 14.4
Loss from alleged patent infringement (d) — — (10.8)

Total other operating gains (losses), net $9.3 $(16.0) $ 3.6

Other Operating Gains (Losses), net. Our Telecom Platform Services segment’s income from operations in
fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 included other operating gains (losses), net as follows:

(a) On October 12, 2011, we entered into a binding term sheet with T-Mobile USA, Inc. to settle litigation related to an
alleged breach of a wholesale supply agreement. In consideration of the settlement of all disputes between the parties, on
October 13, 2011, we paid T-Mobile $10 million. We incurred legal fees of $1.0 million in fiscal 2012 in connection
with this matter.

(b) On January 17, 2012, we received $1.8 million from Broadstripe, LLC in settlement of our claim stemming from
Broadstripe, LLC’s rejection of its telephony services agreements with us upon the confirmation of Broadstripe, LLC’s
bankruptcy plan and closing of its bankruptcy sale.

(c) In connection with Cablevision’s acquisition of Bresnan, Bresnan exercised its option to terminate the services being
provided by us to Bresnan under a Cable Telephony Agreement dated November 3, 2004. Pursuant to the terms of the
Agreement, in December 2010, Cablevision paid us $14.4 million to terminate the Agreement.

(d) On February 15, 2011, a jury in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas awarded Alexsam, Inc. $9.1
million in damages in an action alleging our infringement of two patents related to the activation of phone and gift cards
(incorporating bank identification numbers approved by the American Banking Association for use in a banking
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network) over a point-of-sale terminal. The judgment issued in August 2011 awarded Alexsam an aggregate of $10.1
million including damages and interest. We incurred legal fees of $0.7 million in connection with this matter.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Income from operations
Telecom Platform Services $48.5 $ 5.9 $21.6 $42.6 715.7% $(15.7) (72.5)%
Consumer Phone Services 1.8 4.1 7.1 (2.3) (55.1) (3.0) (42.8)

Total income from operations $50.3 $10.0 $28.7 $40.3 402.8% $(18.7) (65.1)%

Zedge

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Revenues $5.8 $ 3.8 $ 3.2 $2.0 53.2% $0.6 17.9%
Direct cost of revenues 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.2 15.3 0.1 18.2
Selling, general and administrative 3.8 2.6 2.2 1.2 44.2 0.4 19.0
Depreciation 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.1 22.3 0.1 15.2

Income (loss) from operations $0.3 $(0.2) $(0.2) $0.5 237.4% $ — (22.5)%

Revenues. Zedge’s revenues are entirely derived from selling its advertising inventory across its Android and
iOS apps and websites. Zedge launched its Android app in fiscal 2010 and its iOS app in fiscal 2013. Zedge’s
revenues increased in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year due to its growing user base,
its non-incentivized, user acquisition platform focused on mobile games and personalization content discovery,
its ability to optimize ad inventory performance and its direct distribution relationships with a number of
premium game publishers. The growth in Total Installs and Current Installs for the Zedge Android and iOS
apps are presented in the table below. “Total Installs” is the number of times the app has been downloaded.
“Current Installs” is the number of instances of the app currently installed across all devices. This increase in
users was a primary driver of advertising revenue growth.

(in millions)
July 31, 2013 2012 2011

Total Installs (Android and iOS) 71.7 37.6 12.8

Current Installs (Android and iOS) 30.6 18.7 7.9

Direct Cost of Revenues. Direct cost of revenues increased in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 compared to the
prior fiscal year primarily as a result of the increases in users. Direct cost of revenues as a percentage of rev-
enues was 14.7%, 19.5% and 19.4% in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. The decrease in
direct cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal years was due to
a reduction in the rate of increase of certain direct costs as a result of renegotiated hosting and ad serving
contracts.

Selling, General and Administrative. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2013
and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to increases in developer headcount which
increased employee payroll. In addition, bonus expense increased in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal
years. Zedge’s selling expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses was $24,000, $5,000
and nil in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.

Depreciation. The increase in depreciation expense in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal
year was due to increases in depreciation of capitalized payroll costs of employees working on internal use
software primarily related to the introduction of the iOS app and the launch and subsequent enhancements to
the Android app.
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All Other

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Revenues $12.7 $ 6.1 $ 5.2 $ 6.6 108.0% $ 0.9 18.1%
Direct cost of revenues 1.7 1.2 0.9 0.5 33.8 0.3 44.3
Selling, general and administrative 5.0 2.5 4.2 2.5 106.0 (1.7) (40.9)
Depreciation 1.7 1.5 2.1 0.2 10.4 (0.6) (27.5)
Research and development 7.2 4.6 2.8 2.6 56.8 1.8 61.3
Impairment of building and improvements 4.4 — — 4.4 nm — —
Other operating losses, net — — 0.2 — — (0.2) (100.0)

Loss from operations $ (7.3) $(3.7) $(5.0) $(3.6) 96.2% $ 1.3 26.2%

nm—not meaningful

Impairment of Building and Improvements. In fiscal 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.4 million
for the building and improvements that we own at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey. The following facts
and circumstances indicated that the fair value of the building and improvements may be less than their
carrying value: (1) the building was not occupied and, at that time, we did not expect to occupy it,
(2) economic uncertainty and sluggish leasing activity stalled a recovery of the real estate market in Newark,
(3) there were no potential tenants, (4) no sale of the building had been completed and, at that time, there were
no other likely buyers, (5) the building would be expensive to redevelop and (6) the building was expected to
remain vacant for the foreseeable future. We determined the fair value of the building and improvements based
on estimates of an owner/user’s market rental rate net of costs of improvements and tenant work as well as the
estimated value to an investor/developer after deducting costs of improvements and costs to achieve full occu-
pancy. At July 31, 2013, the carrying value of the land, building and improvements at 520 Broad Street after
the impairment charge was $37.7 million. We are considering a range of options as to the future use or dis-
position of 520 Broad Street, some of which could result in an additional loss from a further reduction in the
carrying value of the land, building and improvements and such loss could be material.

Other Operating Losses, net. All Other’s loss from operations in fiscal 2011 included other operating losses,
net of $0.2 million, which was comprised of losses from the settlement of certain claims of $2.8 million net of
a gain on an insurance claim of $2.6 million related to water damage to portions of our building and
improvements at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey.

Currently, we report aggregate results for all of our operating businesses other than IDT Telecom and Zedge in
All Other. Following is the results of operations in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 of Fabrix, which is
included in All Other:

Fabrix
(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Revenues $10.6 $ 3.6 $ 2.4 $ 7.0 192.8% $ 1.2 48.9%
Direct cost of revenues 1.4 0.9 0.5 0.5 52.4 0.4 86.0
Selling, general and administrative 3.1 0.9 1.4 2.2 234.8 (0.5) (35.3)
Depreciation 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 102.5 — (11.8)
Research and development 7.2 4.6 2.8 2.6 56.8 1.8 61.3

Loss from operations $ (1.4) $(3.0) $(2.5) $(1.6) (53.1)% $(0.5) (20.3)%

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011
were incurred by Fabrix, our majority-owned venture that develops and licenses a proprietary video software
platform optimized for cost effective video storage, high throughput streaming and intelligent content dis-
tribution. This software is marketed to cable and telecommunications operators, Internet service providers and
web based video portals that require deep video storage capabilities or offer unicast television applications
including video-on-demand, multi-screen delivery, cloud storage, time/place shifting and remote DVR storage
capabilities. In the first quarter of fiscal 2011, Fabrix successfully deployed its deep video storage product with
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a North American tier-1 operator. In addition, the major American cable operator that licensed the Fabrix
software in August 2010 to empower its cloud-based DVR offering continued to purchase additional product.
Finally, in the third quarter of fiscal 2013, Fabrix commenced software deliveries to a major European oper-
ator. In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, Fabrix received cash from these sales of $16.0 million, $8.0
million and $8.7 million, respectively. Fabrix generally recognizes revenue for its software licenses and support
from the date on which delivered orders were accepted by the customer over the term of the related software
support agreements.

Corporate

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

General and administrative expenses $13.9 $13.0 $14.9 $ 0.9 7.0% $(1.9) (12.6)%
Depreciation and amortization 0.1 0.3 0.6 (0.2) (63.0) (0.3) (57.1)
Severance and other charges — — 0.1 — — (0.1) (100.0)
Other operating (gain) loss — (0.1) 0.5 0.1 100.0 (0.6) (120.0)

Loss from operations $14.0 $13.2 $16.1 $ 0.8 6.5% $(2.9) (18.3)%

Corporate costs include compensation, consulting fees, treasury and accounts payable, tax and accounting
services, human resources and payroll, corporate purchasing, corporate governance including Board of Direc-
tors’ fees, internal and external audit, investor relations, corporate insurance, corporate legal, business
development, and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses including, among others, facili-
ties costs, charitable contributions and travel, as well as depreciation expense on corporate assets. Corporate
does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues.

General and Administrative. The increase in Corporate general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2013
compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily due to an increase in charitable contributions as we contributed $0.9
million to the IDT Charitable Foundation in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, as well as increases in payroll
and related expenses and stock-based compensation expense. These increases were partially offset by an
increase in fees charged to Genie for services provided pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, which
reduced Corporate general and administrative expenses by $3.3 million and $2.0 million in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, respectively. The decrease in Corporate general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2012 com-
pared to fiscal 2011 was primarily the result of the fees charged to Genie for services provided. We began
providing services to Genie in the second quarter of fiscal 2012, following the Genie Spin-Off, to facilitate
Genie’s transition into a separate publicly-traded company. In addition, the decrease in Corporate general and
administrative expenses in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was also due to a decrease in stock-based
compensation expense. As a percentage of our total consolidated revenues from continuing operations, Corpo-
rate general and administrative expenses decreased from 1.1% in fiscal 2011 to 0.9% in fiscal 2012 and fiscal
2013.

Consolidated

The following is a discussion of our consolidated stock-based compensation expense, and our consolidated
income and expense line items below income (loss) from operations.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. Stock-based compensation expense included in consolidated selling,
general and administrative expenses was $5.9 million, $3.3 million and $3.4 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012
and fiscal 2011, respectively.

At July 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based compensation, including
stock options and restricted stock, was an aggregate of $6.5 million. The unrecognized compensation cost is
expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period, of which $3.7 million is expected to be
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recognized in fiscal 2014, $1.8 million is expected to be recognized in fiscal 2015 and the remaining $1.0
million is expected to be recognized thereafter through November 2019.

(in millions) 2013 change from 2012 2012 change from 2011

Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011 $ % $ %

Income (loss) from operations $ 29.4 $ (7.1) $ 7.4 $ 36.5 514.2% $(14.5) (196.1)%
Interest expense, net (0.8) (3.0) (3.7) 2.2 72.4 0.7 19.3
Other income (expense), net 5.4 (1.8) 3.9 7.2 404.6 (5.7) (145.2)
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes (15.9) 42.8 13.4 (58.7) (137.1) 29.4 219.6

Income from continuing operations 18.1 30.9 21.0 (12.8) (41.6) 9.9 47.4
Discontinued operations, net of tax (4.7) 7.8 2.4 (12.5) (159.0) 5.4 229.3

Net income 13.4 38.7 23.4 (25.3) (65.3) 15.3 66.0
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling

interests (1.8) (0.1) 3.4 (1.7) nm (3.5) (104.0)

Net income attributable to IDT Corporation $ 11.6 $38.6 $26.8 $(27.0) (70.0)% $ 11.8 44.1%

nm—not meaningful

Interest Expense, net. The decrease in interest expense, net in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was due to
a decrease in interest expense, partially offset by a decrease in interest income. The decrease in interest expense,
net in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was due to an increase in interest income.

Other Income (Expense), net. Other income (expense), net consists of the following:

(in millions)
Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011

Gain on settlement of auction rate securities arbitration claim $ — $ — $ 5.4
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) 2.5 (2.9) (1.5)
Gain (loss) on investments 2.7 1.2 (0.1)
Gain on modification and early termination of loan payable 0.2 — —
Other — (0.1) 0.1

TOTAL $5.4 $(1.8) $ 3.9

On April 30, 2013, the holder of the note payable secured by the mortgage on our building located at 520
Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey entered into an agreement with us to settle all of our disputes. In connection
with this agreement, on May 1, 2013, we paid them $21.1 million and they released us from the note and
discharged the mortgage. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we recognized a gain of $0.2 million on the
modification and early termination of the note payable.

The gain on settlement of auction rate securities arbitration claim in fiscal 2011 related to auction rate secu-
rities that we held with an original cost of $14.3 million. In fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, we recorded an
aggregate $13.9 million loss after determining that there were other than temporary declines in the value of
these auction rate securities. In October 2010, as a result of the settlement of our arbitration claim, we received
cash of $5.7 million in exchange for these auction rate securities and recognized a gain of $5.4 million.

Income Taxes. The change in income taxes to a provision in fiscal 2013 from a benefit in fiscal 2012, and the
increase in benefit from income taxes in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, was primarily due to the reversal
of a portion of our valuation allowance of $36.9 million in fiscal 2012. In fiscal 2012, we determined that it
was more likely than not that a portion of our deferred income tax assets would be realized, therefore the
valuation allowance related to those assets was reversed. We based our determination on a projection of future
U.S. income and took into consideration the historical U.S. performance and decided a partial release of the
U.S. valuation that relates to the core businesses was warranted in that period. Assumptions regarding future
taxable income require significant analysis and judgment. This analysis included financial forecasts based on
historical performance of the core business and continuance of doing business in a jurisdiction in which losses
are incurred. Based on our projections, we expected that we would generate future taxable income over the
next five years in the U.S. jurisdiction and will begin utilizing our net operating loss carryover through this
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period. Accordingly, we concluded that a portion of our U.S. jurisdiction core business assets did not require a
full valuation allowance. In fiscal 2013, we updated the analysis and concluded that the valuation allowance
related to our core U.S. business should be maintained at the current level and will be reevaluated as war-
ranted.

We did not release any of the valuation allowances that related to our former Straight Path Spectrum business
since it was not part of the main tax consolidated group and the portion of the Net2Phone acquired net
operating loss that is subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limitations. We did not release any of the
valuation allowances related to our foreign operations as it is not more likely than not that the assets will be
utilized based upon the earnings history and the current profitability projections.

Discontinued Operations, net of tax. Discontinued operations, net of tax in fiscal 2013 was entirely due to
Straight Path’s net loss of $4.6 million.

Discontinued operations, net of tax in fiscal 2012 included Straight Path’s net income of $4.8 million and
Genie’s net income of $1.0 million for the period from August 1, 2011 through October 28, 2011, the date
that we completed the Genie Spin-Off. In addition, discontinued operations, net of tax in fiscal 2012 included
a gain of $2.0 million related to the sale of IDT Entertainment to Liberty Media in the first quarter of fiscal
2007. In September 2011, we and Liberty Media executed an agreement to settle and resolve all claims related
to the additional consideration that we were eligible to receive for IDT Entertainment based upon any
appreciation in its value over the five-year period that ended in August 2011, as well as certain other disputes
and claims. Liberty Media paid us $2.0 million in September 2011 in consideration for the settlement and
related releases.

Discontinued operations, net of tax, in fiscal 2011 included Straight Path’s net income of $1.4 million and
Genie’s net loss of $2.6 million. In addition, in July 2011, we recognized a gain of $3.5 million from the
reversal of the liability that had been recorded in a prior period related to the sale of IDT Entertainment to
Liberty Media.

Net (Income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests. The change in the net (income) loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily due to the deconsolidation of
Genie on October 28, 2011, as well as the increase in the net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in
certain IDT Telecom subsidiaries and the decrease in the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in
Fabrix, partially offset by the increase in the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in Straight Path IP
Group. The change in the net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in fiscal 2012 compared to
fiscal 2011 was primarily due to the deconsolidation of Genie on October 28, 2011.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General
We currently expect our cash from operations in fiscal 2014 and the balance of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we held as of July 31, 2013 to be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated
working capital and capital expenditure requirements during fiscal 2014.

As of July 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $156.6 million and a deficit in
working capital (current liabilities in excess of current assets) of $43.4 million. As of July 31, 2013, we also
had $8.3 million in investments in hedge funds, of which $0.1 million was included in “Other current assets”
and $8.2 million was included in “Investments” in our consolidated balance sheet.

As of July 31, 2013, we had aggregate restricted cash and cash equivalents of $42.4 million, of which $35.0
million was included in “Restricted cash and cash equivalents-short-term” and $7.4 million was included in
“Restricted cash and cash equivalents-long-term” in our consolidated balance sheet. Our restricted cash and
cash equivalents include, among other amounts, restricted balances pursuant to banking regulatory and other
requirements and customer deposits related to IDT Financial Services, our Gibraltar-based bank. We expect
customer deposits and the offsetting restricted cash and cash equivalents will continue to increase in fiscal
2014.
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We have not recorded U.S. income tax expense for foreign earnings, as such earnings are permanently
reinvested outside the United States. The cumulative undistributed foreign earnings are included in accumu-
lated deficit in our consolidated balance sheets, and consisted of approximately $265 million at July 31, 2013.
Upon distribution of these foreign earnings to our domestic entities, we may be subject to U.S. income taxes
and withholding of foreign taxes, however, it is not practicable to determine the amount, if any, which would
be paid.

In February 2011, we liquidated our Puerto Rico legal entity. The final Puerto Rico tax return was filed in
April 2011 claiming a refund of $4.8 million. We expect to receive the refund shortly after the completion of
the audits of the liquidated entity’s Puerto Rico tax returns for fiscal years 2009 and 2010.

(in millions)
Year ended July 31, 2013 2012 2011

Cash flows provided by (used in)
Operating activities $ 59.3 $ 36.5 $ 50.4
Investing activities (25.6) (4.4) (7.6)
Financing activities (36.4) (125.6) (32.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1.2 (2.3) 1.5

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations (1.5) (95.8) 11.7
Discontinued operations (3.0) 3.0 10.8

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (4.5) $ (92.8) $ 22.5

Operating Activities
Our cash flow from operations varies significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year, depending
on our operating results and the timing of operating cash receipts and payments, specifically trade accounts
receivable and trade accounts payable.

In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, Fabrix received $16.0 million, $8.0 million and $8.7 million,
respectively, in cash from sales of software licenses and support services.

On October 12, 2011, we entered into a binding term sheet with T-Mobile to settle litigation related to an
alleged breach of a wholesale supply agreement. In consideration of the settlement of all disputes between the
parties, on October 13, 2011, we paid T-Mobile $10 million. We incurred legal fees of $1.0 million in fiscal
2012 in connection with this matter.

Investing Activities
Our capital expenditures were $14.5 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $10.8 million in fiscal 2012 and $13.3
million in fiscal 2011. We currently anticipate that total capital expenditures in fiscal 2014 will be in the $16
million to $18 million range. We expect to fund our capital expenditures with our net cash provided by
operating activities and cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand.

In fiscal 2013, we used cash of $1.0 million for a deposit on the purchase of a leasehold interest in an office
building in New Jersey.

In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, we used cash of $1.2 million, nil and $3.0 million, respectively, for
additional investments.

We received $0.1 million, $3.2 million and $2.4 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,
respectively, from the redemption of certain of our investments, including investments in hedge funds.

Proceeds from insurance of $3.5 million in fiscal 2011 related to water damage in our building located at 520
Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey. We recorded a gain of $2.6 million from this insurance claim in fiscal
2011.

In fiscal 2013, we used cash of $11.4 million to purchase marketable securities. We did not purchase any
marketable securities in fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.
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Proceeds from marketable securities were $1.7 million and $5.7 million in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2011,
respectively. Proceeds from marketable securities in fiscal 2011 were from the settlement of our arbitration
claim related to auction rate securities. We held auction rate securities with an original cost of $14.3 million
for which we recorded an aggregate $13.9 million loss in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 after determining that
there were other than temporary declines in the value of these auction rate securities. In fiscal 2011, we recog-
nized a gain of $5.4 million from the settlement of the arbitration claim.

We used cash of $5.3 million in fiscal 2011 to purchase certificates of deposit at various banks. We received
cash of $3.3 million and $2.3 million in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, from the maturity of certifi-
cates of deposit.

Financing Activities
In July 2013, cash and cash equivalents held by Straight Path and its subsidiaries of $15.0 million were decon-
solidated as a result of the Straight Path Spin-Off. In October 2011, cash and cash equivalents held by Genie
and its subsidiaries of $92.4 million were deconsolidated as a result of the Genie Spin-Off. Subsequent to the
Genie Spin-Off, in November and December 2011, we funded Genie with the remaining $11.9 million of our
commitment.

In fiscal 2013, we paid aggregate cash dividends of $0.75 per share on our Class A common stock and Class B
common stock, or $17.1 million in total. In fiscal 2012, we paid aggregate cash dividends of $0.66 per share
on our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, or $15.0 million in total. In fiscal 2011, we paid
aggregate cash dividends of $0.67 per share on our common stock, Class A common stock and Class B
common stock, or $15.2 million in total.

In July 2013, our Board of Directors declared a special dividend of $0.08 per share to holders of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock. At July 31, 2013, dividends payable were $1.8 million. The special
dividend was paid on September 10, 2013 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on August 30,
2013. We expect to resume payment of regular quarterly dividends commencing with the first quarter of fiscal
2014 which we expect to pay in December 2013.

We distributed cash of $2.2 million, $1.6 million and $2.0 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,
respectively, to the noncontrolling interests in our subsidiaries.

In December 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours purchased shares of Fabrix for cash of $1.8 million.
The shares were purchased from holders of noncontrolling interests in Fabrix representing 4.5% of the equity
in Fabrix, which increased our ownership in Fabrix to 86.1% from 81.6%. In August 2013, both Fabrix and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ours purchased shares of Fabrix for aggregate cash of $1.1 million. The shares
were purchased from holders of noncontrolling interests in Fabrix representing 2.8% of the equity in Fabrix,
which increased our ownership in Fabrix to 88.4%.

On November 21, 2012, our subsidiary, Zedge, sold shares to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of $0.1 million, which
increased Shaman II, L.P.’s ownership in Zedge to 11.17% from 11.1%. On November 15, 2011, Zedge sold
shares to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of $0.1 million, which increased Shaman II, L.P.’s ownership in Zedge to
11.1% from 11%. One of the limited partners in Shaman II, L.P. is a former employee of ours.

We received proceeds from the exercise of our stock options of $0.9 million in fiscal 2013 and $1.7 million in
fiscal 2011. No options were exercised in fiscal 2012.

Repayments of capital lease obligations were nil, $1.8 million and $4.8 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and
fiscal 2011, respectively.

Our subsidiary, IDT Telecom, Inc., entered into a credit agreement, dated July 12, 2012, with TD Bank, N.A.
for a line of credit facility for up to a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. IDT Telecom may use the
proceeds to finance working capital requirements, acquisitions and for other general corporate purposes. The
line of credit facility is secured by primarily all of IDT Telecom’s assets. The principal outstanding bears
interest per annum, at the option of IDT Telecom, at either (a) the U.S. Prime Rate less 125 basis points, or
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(b) the LIBOR rate adjusted by the Regulation D maximum reserve requirement plus 150 basis points. Interest
is payable monthly and all outstanding principal and any accrued and unpaid interest is due on the maturity
date of July 11, 2014. At July 31, 2013, there was $21.1 million outstanding under the facility at an interest
rate of 1.69% per annum. On August 30, 2013, IDT Telecom repaid the entire $21.1 million loan payable. We
intend to borrow under the facility from time to time. IDT Telecom paid a closing fee of $25,000 and pays a
quarterly unused commitment fee of 0.375% per annum on the average daily balance of the unused portion of
the $25.0 million commitment. IDT Telecom is required to comply with various affirmative and negative
covenants as well as maintain certain financial targets and ratios during the term of the line of credit, including
IDT Telecom may not pay any dividend on its capital stock and IDT Telecom’s aggregate loans and advances
to affiliates or subsidiaries may not exceed $90.0 million. At July 31, 2013, there were no amounts utilized for
letters of credit under the line of credit, IDT Telecom was in compliance with all of the covenants, and IDT
Telecom’s aggregate loans and advances to affiliates and subsidiaries was $46.4 million. In March 2013, IDT
Telecom borrowed $8.0 million, which incurred interest at LIBOR plus 150 basis points, or 1.7037% per
annum. In April 2013, IDT Telecom repaid the $8.0 million.

Repayments of other borrowings were $21.3 million, $0.3 million and $4.6 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012
and fiscal 2011, respectively. On April 30, 2013, the holder of the note payable secured by the mortgage on
our building located at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey entered into an agreement with us to settle all of
our disputes. In connection with this agreement, on May 1, 2013, we paid them $21.1 million and they
released us from the note and discharged the mortgage. Repayment of borrowings in fiscal 2011 included the
$4.0 million paid in July 2011 in connection with the receipt of insurance proceeds for water damage to por-
tions of the building and improvements at 520 Broad Street.

In June 2011, a Special Committee of our Board of Directors approved the purchase by us of 0.3 million shares
of our Class B common stock from Howard Jonas at $24.83 per share, the closing price for the Class B
common stock on June 20, 2011. We paid an aggregate of $7.5 million to purchase the shares.

In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, we paid $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively to
repurchase shares of Class B common stock that were tendered by employees of ours to satisfy the employees’
tax withholding obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of restricted stock. Such
shares are repurchased by us based on their fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the
vesting date.

We have a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of our
Class B common stock and, until April 2011, common stock, without regard to class. In fiscal 2013, we
repurchased 77,843 shares of our Class B common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $0.8 million. In
fiscal 2012, we repurchased 0.3 million shares of our Class B common stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$2.6 million. There were no repurchases in fiscal 2011. As of July 31, 2013, 5.1 million shares remained avail-
able for repurchase under the stock repurchase program.

Changes in Trade Accounts Receivable, Allowance For Doubtful Accounts and Deferred Revenue
Gross trade accounts receivable decreased to $78.2 million at July 31, 2013 from $96.1 million at July 31,
2012 due to a $9.5 million decrease in IDT Telecom’s gross trade accounts receivable balance as well as a $9.2
million decrease in Fabrix’ gross trade accounts receivable balance. The decrease in IDT Telecom’s gross trade
accounts receivable balance was primarily due to collections in fiscal 2013 in excess of amounts billed during
the period, as well as offsets of certain receivable balances against payables to the same customers and write-
offs of uncollectible accounts. The decrease in Fabrix’ gross trade accounts receivable balance was due to the
receipt of $12.0 million in August 2012 from sales of software licenses in June 2012.

The allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross trade accounts receivable was 16.7% at July 31,
2013 and 13.6% at July 31, 2012 as a result of the declines in the IDT Telecom and Fabrix gross trade
accounts receivable balances and the slight increase in the IDT Telecom allowance for doubtful accounts.

Deferred revenue as a percentage of total revenues varies from period to period depending on the mix and the
timing of revenues. Deferred revenue arises from IDT Telecom’s sales of calling cards and other prepaid
products and from Fabrix’s sales of software licenses. Deferred revenue increased to $91.2 million at July 31,
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2013 from $84.4 million at July 31, 2012 as a result of a $4.9 million increase in IDT Telecom’s deferred
revenues, primarily in the U.S., and a $1.9 million increase in deferred revenues from sales of Fabrix’s software
licenses.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS
The following tables quantify our future contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of July 31,
2013:

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Payments Due by Period

(in millions) Total
Less than

1 year 1—3 years 4—5 years After 5 years

Operating leases $ 7.8 $ 2.9 $2.8 $1.7 $0.4
Purchase commitments 1.1 1.1 — — —
Revolving credit loan and notes payable (including interest) 29.1 22.0 7.1 — —

TOTAL CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS $38.0 $26.0 $9.9 $1.7 $0.4

OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Payments Due by Period

(in millions) Total
Less than

1 year 1—3 years 4—5 years After 5 years

Standby letters of credit (1) $6.4 $3.6 $2.8 $— $—

(1) The above table does not include an aggregate of $22.1 million in surety and performance bonds due to the
uncertainty of the amount and/or timing of any such payments.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We do not have any “off-balance sheet arrangements,” as defined in relevant SEC regulations that are reason-
ably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources, other than the following.

In connection with our spin-off of CTM Media Holdings, Inc., or CTM, in September 2009, we and CTM
entered into a Tax Separation Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2009, to provide for certain tax matters
including the assignment of responsibility for the preparation and filing of tax returns, the payment of and
indemnification for taxes, entitlement to tax refunds and the prosecution and defense of any tax controversies.
Pursuant to this agreement, among other things, we indemnify CTM from all liability for taxes of CTM and its
subsidiaries for periods ending on or before September 14, 2009, and CTM indemnifies us from all liability for
taxes of CTM and its subsidiaries accruing after September 14, 2009.

In connection with the Genie Spin-Off in October 2011, we and Genie entered into various agreements prior to
the Genie Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a
framework for our relationship with Genie after the Genie Spin-Off, and a Tax Separation Agreement, which
sets forth the responsibilities of us and Genie with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state,
local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the Genie Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax
returns for such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. Pursuant to the
Separation and Distribution Agreement, among other things, we indemnify Genie and Genie indemnifies us for
losses related to the failure of the other to pay, perform or otherwise discharge, any of the liabilities and
obligations set forth in the agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agreement, among other things, we
indemnify Genie from all liability for taxes of ours with respect to any taxable period, and Genie indemnifies
us from all liability for taxes of Genie and its subsidiaries with respect to any taxable period, including,
without limitation, the ongoing tax audits related to Genie’s business.
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In connection with the Straight Path Spin-Off in July 2013, we and Straight Path entered into various agree-
ments prior to the Straight Path Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the
separation and provide a framework for our relationship with Straight Path after the Straight Path Spin-Off,
and a Tax Separation Agreement, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and Straight Path with respect to,
among other things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the
Straight Path Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax returns for such periods and disputes with taxing
authorities regarding taxes for such periods. Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, the
Company indemnifies Straight Path and Straight Path indemnifies the Company for losses related to the failure
of the other to pay, perform or otherwise discharge, any of the liabilities and obligations set forth in the
agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agreement, the Company indemnifies Straight Path from all
liability for taxes of Straight Path or any of its subsidiaries or relating to the Straight Path business with respect
to taxable periods ending on or before the Straight Path Spin-Off, from all liability for taxes of the Company,
other than Straight Path and its subsidiaries, for any taxable period, and from all liability for taxes due to the
Straight Path Spin-Off.

We have a surety bond outstanding related to the $10.1 million Alexsam judgment. In addition, IDT Payment
Services and IDT Telecom have performance bonds issued through third parties for the benefit of various states
in order to comply with the states’ financial requirements for money remittance licenses and tele-
communications resellers, respectively. At July 31, 2013, we had aggregate surety and performance bonds of
$22.1 million outstanding.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
Revenues from our international operations represented 23%, 29% and 32% of our consolidated revenues
from continuing operations in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. A significant portion of
these revenues is in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Our foreign currency exchange risk is somewhat
mitigated by our ability to offset a portion of these non U.S. Dollar-denominated revenues with operating
expenses that are paid in the same currencies. While the impact from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates
affects our revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies, the net amount of our exposure to for-
eign currency exchange rate changes at the end of each reporting period is generally not material.

INVESTMENT RISK
In addition to, but separate from our primary business, we hold a portion of our assets in marketable securities
and hedge funds for strategic and speculative purposes. As of July 31, 2013, the carrying value of our market-
able securities and investments in hedge funds were $9.7 million and $8.3 million, respectively. We liquidated
most of our investment in hedge funds in recent years. Much of the remaining balances in these funds are
subject to time restrictions. We may consider liquidating such remaining balances when their restrictions lapse.
Investments in marketable securities and hedge funds carry a degree of risk, and depend to a great extent on
correct assessments of the future course of price movements of securities and other instruments. There can be
no assurance that our investment managers will be able to accurately predict these price movements. The secu-
rities markets have in recent years been characterized by great volatility and unpredictability. Accordingly, the
value of our investments may go down as well as up and we may not receive the amounts originally invested
upon redemption.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data of the Company and the report of the
independent registered public accounting firm thereon set forth starting on page F-1 herein are incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure.
None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evalua-
tion, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of July 31, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting and the attestation report of the registrant’s
independent registered public accounting firm are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on pages 58
and 59 and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The following is a list of our directors and executive officers along with the specific information required by
Rule 14a-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

Executive Officers
Howard S. Jonas—Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Marcelo Fischer—Senior Vice President—Finance
Samuel (Shmuel) Jonas—Chief Operating Officer
Mitch Silberman—Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
Joyce J. Mason—Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Menachem Ash—Executive Vice President of Strategy and Legal Affairs
David Lando—Chief Technology Officer
Bill Pereira—Chief Executive Officer, President and Co-Chairman of IDT Telecom

Directors
Howard S. Jonas—Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of IDT Corporation

Bill Pereira—Chief Executive Officer, President and Co-Chairman of IDT Telecom

Lawrence E. Bathgate II—co-founder and partner at Bathgate, Wegener & Wolf, P.C., Lakewood, New Jersey

Eric F. Cosentino—Rector of the Episcopal Church of the Divine Love, Montrose, New York

Judah Schorr—Founder of Judah Schorr MD PC, an anesthesia provider to hospitals, ambulatory surgery
centers and medical offices, and has been its President and owner since its inception

The remaining information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual
Stockholders Meeting, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after
July 31, 2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.

Corporate Governance
We have included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K certificates of our Chief Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer certifying the quality of our public disclosure. In December 2012, our Chief
Executive Officer submitted to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate certifying that he was not aware of
any violations by us of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.

We make available free of charge through the investor relations page of our web site (www.idt.net/ir) our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports, and all beneficial ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by directors,
officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our equity, as soon as reasonably practicable after such
reports are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We have adopted codes of busi-
ness conduct and ethics for all of our employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer. Copies of the codes of business conduct and ethics are available on our
web site.

Our web site and the information contained therein or incorporated therein are not intended to be
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders
Meeting, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after July 31,
2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders
Meeting, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after July 31,
2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence.
The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders
Meeting, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after July 31,
2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders
Meeting, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after July 31,
2013, and which is incorporated by reference herein.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial
Statements

Consolidated Financial Statements covered by Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

2. Financial Statement Schedule.

All schedules have been omitted since they are either included in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements or not required or not applicable.

3. The exhibits listed in paragraph (b) of this item. Exhibit Numbers 10.01 10.02, 10.03, 10.04,
10.05, 10.07, 10.08, 10.11 and 10.12 are management contracts or compensatory plans or
arrangements.

(b) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

3.01(1) Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

3.02(2) Fourth Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant.

10.01(3) Agreement, entered into as of October 21, 2009 between the Registrant and James A. Courter.

10.02(3) Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, entered into as of October 21, 2009 between the Registrant
and James A. Courter.

10.03(4) Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 2011, between the
Registrant and Howard S. Jonas.

10.04(5) 1996 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, of IDT Corporation.

10.05(6) 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan of IDT Corporation, as amended.

10.06(7) Agreement of Sale between 520 Broad Street Associates, L.L.C. and Registrant, dated
September 19, 2007 and amended October 17, 2007 and November 7, 2007.

10.07(8) Termination of the Amended and Restated Consulting Agreement, dated April 21, 2010, between
the IDT Corporation, Credit Freedom Fighters, LLC and Stephen Brown.

10.08(9) Employment Agreement, dated November 22, 2011, between IDT Corporation and Bill Pereira.

10.09(10) Purchase Agreement, dated June 16, 2009, by and among IDT Domestic Telecom, Inc., IDT
Telecom, Inc., UTCG Holdings, LLC and Carlos Gomez.

10.10(11) Credit Agreement, dated July 12, 2012, between IDT Telecom, Inc. and TD Bank, N.A.

10.11(12) Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 2011, between IDT Corporation and Liore Alroy
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.12(13) Stock Grant Agreement between the Registrant and Howard Jonas, dated December 27, 2012.

21.01* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.01* Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.

23.02* Consent of Zwick and Banyai, PLLC

31.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.02* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.02* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

99.01(14) Significant subsidiary financial statements

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* filed herewith.

(1) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed April 5, 2011.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed September 23, 2009.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, filed October 16, 2006.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed November 3, 2011.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Schedule 14A, filed November 3, 2004.

(6) Incorporated by reference to Schedule 14A, filed November 7, 2011.

(7) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed November 9, 2007.

(8) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2010 filed June 14, 2010.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed November 29, 2011.

(10) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K/A for fiscal year ended July 31, 2009, filed March 25, 2010.

(11) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2012, filed October 15, 2012

(12) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed November 3, 2011.

(13) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed December 31, 2012.

(14) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2011, filed October 11, 2011.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

IDT CORPORATION

By: /s/ Howard S. Jonas

Howard S. Jonas
Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

Date: October 15, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has
been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Titles Date

/s/ Howard S. Jonas

Howard S. Jonas

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

October 15, 2013

/s/ Marcelo Fischer

Marcelo Fischer

Senior Vice President—Finance (Principal
Financial Officer)

October 15, 2013

/s/ Mitch Silberman

Mitch Silberman

Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

October 15, 2013

/s/ Bill Pereira

Bill Pereira

Director October 15, 2013

/s/ Lawrence E. Bathgate II

Lawrence E. Bathgate II

Director October 15, 2013

/s/ Eric F. Cosentino

Eric F. Cosentino

Director October 15, 2013

/s/ Judah Schorr

Judah Schorr

Director October 15, 2013
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We, the management of IDT Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”), are responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of the Company.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promul-
gated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s board of direc-
tors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and includes those policies and procedures that:

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of assets of the Company;

2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and

3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
July 31, 2013. In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting, as
prescribed above, for the period covered by this report. Based on our evaluation, our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
July 31, 2013 was effective in all material respects.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Grant Thornton LLP has provided an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of July 31, 2013.

/s/ Howard S. Jonas

Howard S. Jonas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Marcelo Fischer

Marcelo Fischer
Senior Vice President—Finance
(Principal Financial Officer)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
IDT Corporation

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of IDT Corporation (a Delaware corporation)
and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) as of July 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control–
Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial state-
ments.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of July 31, 2013, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended July 31,
2013, and our report dated October 15, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
October 15, 2013

59



IDT Corporation

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2013 and 2012 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended July 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended July 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended July 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended July 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 F-8

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-9

F-1



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
IDT Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of IDT Corporation (a Delaware corporation)
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31,
2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of IDT Corporation and subsidiaries as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2013, in con-
formity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in Internal Control–Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated October 15, 2013 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
October 15, 2013
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IDT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 146,960 $ 148,905
Restricted cash and cash equivalents—short-term 34,988 12,636
Marketable securities 9,684 —
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,079 and $13,044 at

July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 65,078 83,017
Prepaid expenses 19,175 18,792
Deferred income tax assets, net—current portion 1,689 5,142
Other current assets 12,730 17,522
Assets of discontinued operations — 2,644

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 290,304 288,658
Property, plant and equipment, net 80,742 85,567
Goodwill 14,807 14,614
Other intangibles, net 1,390 1,907
Investments 9,605 7,133
Restricted cash and cash equivalents—long-term 7,407 9,466
Deferred income tax assets, net—long-term portion 20,000 31,744
Other assets 11,152 12,025

TOTAL ASSETS $ 435,407 $ 451,114

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Revolving credit loan payable $ 21,062 $ —
Trade accounts payable 39,323 39,844
Accrued expenses 145,432 160,104
Deferred revenue 91,227 84,364
Customer deposits 28,663 10,524
Income taxes payable 761 1,317
Dividends payable 1,837 —
Notes payable—current portion 535 560
Other current liabilities 4,829 3,241
Liabilities of discontinued operations — 1,411

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 333,669 301,365
Notes payable—long-term portion 6,624 29,716
Other liabilities 5,978 17,308

TOTAL LIABILITIES 346,271 348,389
Commitments and contingencies
EQUITY:

IDT Corporation stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—10,000; no shares issued — —
Class A common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—35,000; 3,272 shares issued and

1,574 shares outstanding at July 31, 2013 and 2012 33 33
Class B common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—200,000; 24,275 and 24,112

shares issued and 21,397 and 21,342 shares outstanding at July 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively 243 241

Additional paid-in capital 388,533 395,869
Treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 1,698 and 1,698 shares of Class A common stock and

2,878 and 2,770 shares of Class B common stock at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (98,836) (97,757)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,341 202
Accumulated deficit (203,711) (196,358)

Total IDT Corporation stockholders’ equity 88,603 102,230
Noncontrolling interests 533 495

TOTAL EQUITY 89,136 102,725

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 435,407 $ 451,114

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IDT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended July 31
(in thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011

REVENUES $1,620,617 $1,506,283 $1,351,416
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Direct cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 1,355,573 1,269,386 1,119,606
Selling, general and administrative (i) 218,469 206,906 202,410
Depreciation and amortization 14,910 16,648 20,952
Research and development 7,166 4,569 2,834
Impairment of building and improvements 4,359 — —
Severance and other charges — — 1,053

TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 1,600,477 1,497,509 1,346,855
Other operating gains (losses), net 9,251 (15,870) 2,824

Income (loss) from operations 29,391 (7,096) 7,385
Interest expense, net (824) (2,985) (3,698)
Other income (expense), net 5,383 (1,767) 3,912

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 33,950 (11,848) 7,599
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes (15,872) 42,782 13,388

Income from continuing operations 18,078 30,934 20,987
Discontinued operations, net of tax:

(Loss) income from discontinued operations (4,634) 5,851 (1,116)
Income on sale of discontinued operations — 2,000 3,500

Total discontinued operations (4,634) 7,851 2,384

NET INCOME 13,444 38,785 23,371
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,837) (137) 3,441

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO IDT CORPORATION $ 11,607 $ 38,648 $ 26,812

Amounts attributable to IDT Corporation common stockholders:
Income from continuing operations $ 16,048 $ 29,901 $ 20,244
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (4,441) 8,747 6,568

Net income $ 11,607 $ 38,648 $ 26,812

Earnings per share attributable to IDT Corporation common stockholders:
Basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 0.77 $ 1.45 $ 0.98
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.21) 0.42 0.32

Net income $ 0.56 $ 1.87 $ 1.30

Weighted-average number of shares used in calculation of basic earnings per
share 20,876 20,717 20,565

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.72 $ 1.36 $ 0.90
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.20) 0.39 0.29

Net income $ 0.52 $ 1.75 $ 1.19

Weighted-average number of shares used in calculation of diluted earnings
per share 22,315 22,060 22,482

(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general and administrative
expenses $ 5,875 $ 3,325 $ 3,414

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4



IDT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

NET INCOME $13,444 $38,785 $23,371
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (1) 4 127
Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,092 (2,272) 4,036

Other comprehensive income (loss) 2,091 (2,268) 4,163

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 15,535 36,517 27,534
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,789) (256) 3,322

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO IDT CORPORATION $13,746 $36,261 $30,856

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IDT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 13,444 $ 38,785 $ 23,371
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Net loss (income) from discontinued operations 4,634 (7,851) (2,384)
Depreciation and amortization 14,910 16,648 20,952
Impairment of building and improvements 4,359 — —
Severance and other payments — — (2,978)
Deferred income taxes 15,198 (37,925) (2,130)
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 2,743 2,098 3,319
Net realized gains from marketable securities and investments (586) — (5,379)
Gain on proceeds from insurance — — (2,637)
Interest in the equity of investments (1,968) (1,157) 57
Stock-based compensation 5,875 3,325 4,081

Change in assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (20,943) (5,733) (5,011)
Trade accounts receivable 17,606 8,728 (24,974)
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other assets 2,890 (2,100) (1,781)
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses, other current liabilities and other liabilities (22,578) 10,703 39,201
Customer deposits 17,998 9,057 130
Income taxes payable (576) (4,721) (1,430)
Deferred revenue 6,253 6,666 8,042

Net cash provided by operating activities 59,259 36,523 50,449
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (14,537) (10,830) (13,300)
Deposit on purchase of leasehold interest in building (950) — —
Collection (issuance) of notes receivable, net 750 — (88)
Increase in investments (1,219) — (3,015)
Proceeds from sales and redemptions of investments 114 3,169 2,446
Purchases of other intangibles (93) — —
Proceeds from sales of buildings — — 100
Proceeds from insurance — — 3,524
Purchases of marketable securities (11,414) — —
Proceeds from marketable securities 1,712 — 5,731
Purchases of certificates of deposit — — (5,263)
Proceeds from maturities of certificates of deposit — 3,300 2,258
Net cash used in investing activities (25,637) (4,361) (7,607)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash of subsidiaries deconsolidated as a result of spin-offs (15,000) (104,243) —
Dividends paid (17,123) (15,014) (15,178)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (2,245) (1,580) (2,010)
Purchases of stock of subsidiary (1,804) — —
Proceeds from sales of stock and exercise of stock options of subsidiary 154 133 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 921 — 1,674
Repayments of capital lease obligations — (1,781) (4,821)
Proceeds from revolving credit loan payable 21,062 — —
Repayments of borrowings (21,304) (332) (4,602)
Repurchases of Class B common stock from Howard S. Jonas — — (7,499)
Repurchases of common stock and Class B common stock (1,079) (2,816) (205)
Net cash used in financing activities (36,418) (125,633) (32,641)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (2,638) (1,984) 6,389
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (350) 4,992 (4,026)
Net cash provided by financing activities — — 8,472
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations (2,988) 3,008 10,835
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,241 (2,335) 1,512
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,543) (92,798) 22,548
Cash and cash equivalents (including discontinued operations) at beginning of year 151,503 244,301 221,753
Cash and cash equivalents (including discontinued operations) at end of year 146,960 151,503 244,301
Less cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations at end of year — (2,598) (24,475)
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding discontinued operations) at end of year $146,960 $ 148,905 $219,826
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash payments made for interest $ 1,286 $ 3,621 $ 5,008
Cash payments made for income taxes $ 483 $ 1,049 $ 4,235

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Escrow account balances included in other current assets used to reduce notes payable $ 1,976 $ — $ —
Net liabilities (assets) excluding cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries deconsolidated as

a result of spin-offs $ 1,341 $ (18,803) $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business
IDT Corporation (“IDT” or the “Company”) is a multinational holding company with operations primarily in
the telecommunications industry. The Company has three reportable business segments, Telecom Platform
Services and Consumer Phone Services, which comprise the IDT Telecom division, and Zedge Holdings, Inc.
(“Zedge”). Telecom Platform Services provides telecommunications services, including prepaid and recharge-
able calling products and international long distance traffic termination, as well as various payment services.
Consumer Phone Services provides consumer local and long distance services in the United States. Zedge owns
and operates an on-line platform for mobile phone consumers interested in obtaining free and relevant, high
quality games, apps, and personalization content such as ringtones, wallpapers, and alerts. All other operating
segments that are not reportable individually are included in All Other. All Other includes Fabrix Systems Ltd.
(formerly Fabrix T.V., Ltd.) (“Fabrix”), a software development company specializing in highly efficient cloud-
based video processing, storage and delivery, the Company’s real estate holdings, and other smaller businesses.

On July 31, 2013, the Company completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of the Company’s
subsidiary, Straight Path Communications Inc. (“Straight Path”), to the Company’s stockholders of record as
of the close of business on July 25, 2013 (the “Straight Path Spin-Off”) (see Note 2). On October 28, 2011,
the Company completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of the Company’s subsidiary, Genie
Energy Ltd. (“Genie”), to the Company’s stockholders of record as of the close of business on October 21,
2011 (the “Genie Spin-Off”) (see Note 2). Straight Path and Genie met the criteria to be reported as dis-
continued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows are classified
as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Basis of Consolidation and Accounting for Investments
The method of accounting applied to long-term investments, whether consolidated, equity or cost, involves an
evaluation of the significant terms of each investment that explicitly grant or suggest evidence of control or
influence over the operations of the investee and also includes the identification of any variable interests in
which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s
controlled subsidiaries. In addition, the Company has not identified any variable interests in which the
Company is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions between the
consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated.

Investments in businesses that the Company does not control, but in which the Company has the ability to
exercise significant influence over operating and financial matters, are accounted for using the equity method.
Investments in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating
and financial matters are accounted for using the cost method. Investments in hedge funds are accounted for
using the equity method unless the Company’s interest is so minor that it has virtually no influence over
operating and financial policies, in which case these investments are accounted for using the cost method. At
July 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $8.1 million and $6.1 million, respectively, in investments
accounted for using the equity method, and $1.5 million and $1.1 million, respectively, in investments
accounted for using the cost method. Equity and cost method investments are included in “Other current
assets” or “Investments” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company periodically eval-
uates its equity and cost method investments for impairment due to declines considered to be other than
temporary. If the Company determines that a decline in fair value is other than temporary, then a charge to
earnings is recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the accompanying consolidated statements of income,
and a new basis in the investment is established.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Revenue Recognition
Telephone service, which includes domestic and international long distance, local service, and wholesale carrier
telephony services is recognized as revenue when services are provided, primarily based on usage and/or the
assessment of fees. Revenue from Boss Revolution PIN-less international calling service and from sales of
calling cards, net of customer discounts, is deferred until the service or the cards are used or, calling card
administrative fees are imposed, thereby reducing the Company’s outstanding obligation to the customer, at
which time revenue is recognized. Domestic and international airtime top-up revenue is recognized upon
redemption. International airtime top-up enables customers to purchase airtime for a prepaid mobile telephone
in another country.

IDT Telecom enters into reciprocal transactions pursuant to which IDT Telecom is committed to purchase a
specific number of minutes to specific destinations at specified rates, and the counterparty is committed to
purchase from IDT Telecom a specific number of minutes to specific destinations at specified rates. The
number of minutes purchased and sold in a reciprocal transaction is not necessarily equal. The rates in these
reciprocal transactions are generally greater than prevailing market rates. In addition, IDT Telecom enters into
transactions in which it swaps minutes with another carrier. The Company recognizes revenue and the related
direct cost of revenue for these reciprocal and swap transactions based on the fair value of the minutes.

Zedge revenues from traditional web/mobile web and Android/iOS applications are recognized based on
blocks of impressions or ad views. Revenues from mobile games are recognized upon download by the end
user.

Revenue from Fabrix for software licenses and maintenance support is deferred and recognized on a straight-
line basis from the date on which delivered orders are accepted by the customer over the period that the sup-
port is expected to be provided since sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value to allocate
revenues to the various deliverables does not exist.

Direct Cost of Revenues
Direct cost of revenues for IDT Telecom consists primarily of termination and origination costs, toll-free costs,
and network costs—including customer/carrier interconnect charges and leased fiber circuit charges. These
costs include an estimate of charges for which invoices have not yet been received, and estimated amounts for
pending disputes with other carriers. Subsequent adjustments to these estimates may occur after the invoices
are received for the actual costs incurred, but these adjustments generally are not material to the Company’s
results of operations. Direct cost of revenues for IDT Telecom also includes the cost of airtime top-up minutes.

Direct cost of revenues for Zedge consists of ad server costs, web hosting charges, and copyright/infringement
prevention costs.

Direct cost of revenues for Fabrix consists primarily of customer support expenses.

Direct cost of revenues excludes depreciation and amortization expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company classifies the change in its restricted cash and cash equivalents as an operating activity in the
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows because the restrictions are directly related to the oper-
ations of IDT Financial Services, the Company’s Gibraltar-based bank, and IDT Telecom. In the consolidated
statements of cash flows, increases in restricted cash and cash equivalents of $5.7 million and $5.0 million in
fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, previously included in investing activities have been reclassified to
operating activities.
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Marketable Securities
The Company’s investments in marketable securities are classified as “available-for-sale.” Available-for-sale
securities are required to be carried at their fair value, with unrealized gains and losses (net of income taxes)
that are considered temporary in nature recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company uses the specific identification method in computing
the gross realized gains and gross realized losses on the sales of marketable securities. The Company periodi-
cally evaluates its investments in marketable securities for impairment due to declines in market value consid-
ered to be other than temporary. Such impairment evaluations include, in addition to persistent, declining
market prices, general economic and Company-specific evaluations. If the Company determines that a decline
in market value is other than temporary, then a charge to operations is recorded in “Other income (expense),
net” in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and a new cost basis in the investment is estab-
lished.

Long-Lived Assets
Equipment, buildings, computer software and furniture and fixtures are recorded at cost and are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range as follows: equipment—5, 7 or 20 years;
buildings—40 years; computer software—2, 3 or 5 years and furniture and fixtures—5, 7 or 10 years. Lease-
hold improvements are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of their lease
or their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter.

Costs associated with obtaining the right to use trademark and patents owned by third parties are capitalized
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant trademark and patent licenses. The fair
value of customer lists, trademark and non- compete agreements acquired in a business combination accounted
for under the purchase method are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows: customer lists are
amortized ratably over the approximately 15 year period of expected cash flows; trademark is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the 5 year period of expected cash flows; and non-compete agreement was amortized
on a straight-line basis over the 3 year term of the agreement.

The Company tests the recoverability of its long-lived assets with finite useful lives whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. The Company tests for
recoverability based on the projected undiscounted cash flows to be derived from such asset. If the projected
undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset, the Company will record an
impairment loss, if any, based on the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value of the
asset. The Company generally measures fair value by considering sale prices for similar assets or by
discounting estimated future cash flows from such asset using an appropriate discount rate. Cash flow projec-
tions and fair value estimates require significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should the esti-
mates and assumptions prove to be incorrect, the Company may be required to record impairments in future
periods and such impairments could be material.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. Goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized. These assets are reviewed
annually (or more frequently under various conditions) for impairment using a fair value approach. The
goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing it to its
carrying amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair
value, Step 2 is performed to determine if an impairment of goodwill is required. The fair value of the
reporting units is estimated using discounted cash flow methodologies, as well as considering third party
market value indicators. Goodwill impairment is measured by the excess of the carrying amount of the
reporting unit’s goodwill over its implied fair value. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units, and allo-
cating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant
estimates and assumptions by management. Should the estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of
the reporting units prove to be incorrect, the Company may be required to record impairments to its goodwill
in future periods and such impairments could be material.
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The Company has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is necessary to per-
form the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. However, the Company may elect to perform the
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test even if no indications of a potential impairment exist.

For its reporting unit with zero or negative carrying amount, the Company performs Step 2 of the goodwill
impairment test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. In determining whether it is
more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, the Company considers whether there are any adverse
qualitative factors indicating that impairment may exist.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company recorded derivatives instruments at their respective fair values. The accounting for changes in
the fair value (that is, gains or losses) of a derivative instrument is dependent upon whether the derivative has
been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and further, on the type of hedging relationship.
The Company generally recorded changes in fair value in “Other income (expense), net” in the consolidated
statements of income as the instruments did not qualify for hedge accounting.

On August 1, 2013, the Company adopted the accounting standard update that enhanced disclosures and
provided converged disclosures in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) about
financial instruments and derivative instruments that are either offset on the statement of financial position or
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether they are
offset on the statement of financial position. The Company is required to provide both net and gross
information for those assets and liabilities in order to enhance comparability between entities that prepare their
financial statements on the basis of U.S. GAAP and entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis
of IFRS. The adoption of this standard update had no effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Advertising Expense
Cost of advertising is charged to selling, general and administrative expenses in the period in which it is
incurred. In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, advertising expense was $13.1 million, $17.0 million and
$13.7 million, respectively.

Research and Development Costs
Costs for research and development are charged to expense as incurred. Research and development costs are
primarily incurred by Fabrix.

Capitalized Internal Use Software Costs
The Company capitalizes the cost of internal-use software that has a useful life in excess of one year. These
costs consist of payments made to third parties and the salaries of employees working on such software devel-
opment. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software are capitalized only to the
extent that they allow the software to perform a task it previously did not perform. Software maintenance and
training costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Capitalized internal use software costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense related to such cap-
italized software in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $6.3 million, $5.8 million and $4.7 million,
respectively. Unamortized capitalized internal use software costs at July 31, 2013 and 2012 were $10.2 million
and $8.3 million, respectively.

Repairs and Maintenance
The Company charges the cost of repairs and maintenance, including the cost of replacing minor items not
constituting substantial betterment, to selling, general and administrative expenses as these costs are incurred.

Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. Dollars at
end-of-period rates of exchange, and their monthly results of operations are translated to U.S. Dollars at the
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average rates of exchange for that month. Gains or losses resulting from such foreign currency translations are
recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reported in “Other income (expense), net” in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the
generation of future taxable income during the period in which related temporary differences become deduc-
tible. The Company considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income
and tax planning strategies in its assessment of a valuation allowance. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those tempo-
rary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date of such change.

The Company uses a two-step approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. The Company determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be
sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the
technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recog-
nition threshold, the Company presumes that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold are measured to determine the amount of tax benefit to recognize in the financial state-
ments. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. Differences between tax positions taken in a tax return and amounts
recognized in the financial statements will generally result in one or more of the following: an increase in a
liability for income taxes payable, a reduction of an income tax refund receivable, a reduction in a deferred tax
asset, or an increase in a deferred tax liability.

The Company classifies interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income tax expense.

Contingencies
The Company accrues for loss contingencies when both (a) information available prior to issuance of the
financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial
statements and (b) the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated. When the Company accrues for loss con-
tingencies and the reasonable estimate of the loss is within a range, the Company records its best estimate
within the range. When no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the Company
accrues the minimum amount in the range. The Company discloses an estimated possible loss or a range of loss
when it is at least reasonably possible that a loss may have been incurred.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to all classes of common stockholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of shares of all classes of common stock outstanding during
the applicable period. Diluted earnings per share is determined in the same manner as basic earnings per share,
except that the number of shares is increased to include restricted stock still subject to risk of forfeiture and to
assume exercise of potentially dilutive stock options using the treasury stock method, unless the effect of such
increase is anti-dilutive.
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The weighted-average number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attribut-
able to the Company’s common stockholders consists of the following:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Basic weighted-average number of shares 20,876 20,717 20,565
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 9 — 5
Non-vested restricted common stock — — 499
Non-vested restricted Class B common stock 1,430 1,343 1,413

Diluted weighted-average number of shares 22,315 22,060 22,482

The following outstanding stock options for which the exercise price of the stock option was greater than the
average market price of the Company’s stock during the period were excluded from the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share 611 619 484

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes compensation expense for all of its grants of stock-based awards based on the esti-
mated fair value on the grant date. Compensation cost for awards is recognized using the straight-line method
over the vesting period. Stock-based compensation is included in selling, general and administrative expense.

Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities
The Company collects taxes from its customers that are remitted to governmental authorities in the normal
course of its operations. These taxes, which are imposed on or are concurrent with specific revenue-producing
transactions, include Universal Service Fund (“USF”) charges, sales, use, value added and certain excise taxes.
The Company currently records USF charges that are billed to customers on a gross basis in its results of
operations, and records others on a net basis. USF charges in the amount of $0.8 million, $1.1 million and
$1.5 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, were recorded on a gross basis and
included in “Revenues” and “Direct cost of revenues” in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of
cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, investments in hedge funds
and trade accounts receivable. The Company holds cash and cash equivalents at several major financial
institutions, which often exceed FDIC insurance limits. Historically, the Company has not experienced any
losses due to such concentration of credit risk. The Company’s temporary cash investments policy is to limit
the dollar amount of investments with any one financial institution and monitor the credit ratings of those
institutions. While the Company may be exposed to credit losses due to the nonperformance of the holders of
its deposits, the Company does not expect the settlement of these transactions to have a material effect on its
results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is limited due to the large number of
customers in various geographic regions and industry segments comprising the Company’s customer base. No
single customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 or fiscal
2011. However, the Company’s five largest customers collectively accounted for 10.0%, 8.1% and 7.1% of its
consolidated revenues from continuing operations in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. The
Company’s customers with the five largest receivables balances collectively accounted for 16.6% and 24.3% of
the consolidated gross trade accounts receivable at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This concentration of
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customers increases the Company’s risk associated with nonpayment by those customers. In an effort to reduce
such risk, the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its significant retail telecom, wholesale termi-
nation and cable telephony customers. In addition, the Company attempts to mitigate the credit risk related to
specific wholesale termination customers by also buying services from the customer, in order to create an
opportunity to offset its payables and receivables and reduce its net trade receivable exposure risk. When it is
practical to do so, the Company will increase its purchases from wholesale termination customers with receiv-
able balances that exceed the Company’s applicable payables in order to maximize the offset and reduce its
credit risk.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the
accounts receivable balance. The allowance is determined based on known troubled accounts, historical
experience and other currently available evidence. Doubtful accounts are written-off upon final determination
that the trade accounts will not be collected. The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands)

Balance at
beginning of

year

Additions
charged to

costs and
expenses Deductions(1)

Balance at
end of year

2013
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $13,044 $2,743 $(2,708) $13,079

2012
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $15,364 $2,098 $(4,418) $13,044

2011
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $12,438 $3,319 $ (393) $15,364

(1) Primarily uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.

Fair Value Measurements
Fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities is defined as an exit price, which is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market partic-
ipants at the measurement date. The three-tier hierarchy for inputs used to measure fair value, which priori-
tizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, is as follows:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially
the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3 – unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities
at fair value.

A financial asset or liability’s classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the
fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities being
measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.

Note 2—Discontinued Operations

Straight Path Communications, Inc.
On July 31, 2013, the Company completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of the Company’s
subsidiary, Straight Path Communications Inc., to the Company’s stockholders of record as of the close of
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business on July 25, 2013. At the time of the Straight Path Spin-Off, Straight Path owned 100% of Straight
Path Spectrum, Inc. (formerly IDT Spectrum, Inc.), which holds, leases and markets fixed wireless spectrum
licenses, and 84.5% of Straight Path IP Group, Inc. (formerly Innovative Communications Technologies, Inc.),
which holds intellectual property primarily related to communications over the Internet and the licensing and
other businesses related to this intellectual property. As of July 31, 2013, each of the Company’s stockholders
received one share of Straight Path Class A common stock for every two shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock and one share of Straight Path Class B common stock for every two shares of the Company’s
Class B common stock held of record date as of the close of business on July 25, 2013. Straight Path and
subsidiaries met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities,
results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

The Company intends for the Straight Path Spin-Off to be tax-free for the Company and the Company’s
stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986
(the “Code”). The Company received an opinion from Pryor Cashman LLP on the requirements for a tax-free
distribution. Specifically, the opinion concluded that the distribution (i) should satisfy the business purpose
requirement of the Code for a tax-free distribution, (ii) should not be viewed as being used principally as a
device for the distribution of earnings and profits of the distributing corporation or the controlled corporation
or both, and (iii) should not be viewed as part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to which
one or more persons will acquire directly or indirectly stock representing a 50 percent or greater interest in the
distributing corporation or controlled corporation within the meaning of the relevant section of the Code.

In connection with the Straight Path Spin-Off, the Company funded Straight Path with a total of $15.0 million
in aggregate cash and cash equivalents.

Genie Energy Ltd.
On October 28, 2011, the Company completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of the Company’s
subsidiary, Genie Energy Ltd., to the Company’s stockholders of record as of the close of business on
October 21, 2011. At the time of the Genie Spin-Off, Genie owned 99.3% of Genie Energy International
Corporation, which owned 100% of IDT Energy and 92% of Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. As of October 28, 2011,
each of the Company’s stockholders received one share of Genie Class A common stock for every share of the
Company’s Class A common stock and one share of Genie Class B common stock for every share of the
Company’s Class B common stock held of record as of the close of business on October 21, 2011. Genie and
subsidiaries met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations and accordingly, their assets, liabilities,
results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

The Company received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) substantially to the effect that, for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, the distribution of shares of Genie common stock will qualify as tax-free for
Genie, the Company and the Company’s stockholders under Section 355 of the Code. In addition to obtaining
the IRS ruling, the Company received an opinion from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP on the three requirements
for a tax-free distribution that are not addressed in the IRS ruling. Specifically, the opinion concludes that the
distribution (i) should satisfy the business purpose requirement of the Code for a tax-free distribution,
(ii) should not be viewed as being used principally as a device for the distribution of earnings and profits of the
distributing corporation or the controlled corporation or both, and (iii) should not be viewed as part of a plan
(or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more persons will acquire directly or indirectly
stock representing a 50 percent or greater interest in the distributing corporation or controlled corporation
within the meaning of the relevant section of the Code.

In connection with the Genie Spin-Off, the Company funded Genie with a total of $106.0 million in aggregate
cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash.

IDT Entertainment
In connection with the sale of IDT Entertainment to Liberty Media Corporation in the first quarter of fiscal
2007, the Company was eligible to receive additional consideration from Liberty Media based upon any
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appreciation in the value of IDT Entertainment over the five-year period that ended in August 2011, however,
the Company may have been required to pay Liberty Media up to $3.5 million if the value of IDT Entertain-
ment did not exceed a certain amount by August 2011. In July 2011, the Company revised its estimate for this
commitment. Included in “Income on sale of discontinued operations” in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income in fiscal 2011 was a gain of $3.5 million from the reversal of the liability that had been
recorded in a prior period. In September 2011, the Company and Liberty Media executed an agreement to
settle and resolve all claims related to the additional consideration and certain other disputes and claims. Lib-
erty Media paid the Company $2.0 million in September 2011 in consideration for the settlement and related
releases, which is included in “Income on sale of discontinued operations” in fiscal 2012 in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income.

Summary Financial Data of Discontinued Operations
Revenues, income before income taxes and net income (loss) of Straight Path and Genie, which are included in
discontinued operations, were as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

REVENUES
Straight Path $ 1,130 $ 553 $ 500
Genie — 45,796 203,561

TOTAL $ 1,130 $46,349 $204,061

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Straight Path $(4,621) $ 4,862 $ 2,344
Genie — 2,609 4,390

TOTAL $(4,621) $ 7,471 $ 6,734

NET (LOSS) INCOME
Straight Path $(4,634) $ 4,836 $ 1,439
Genie — 1,015 (2,555)

TOTAL $(4,634) $ 5,851 $ (1,116)

The assets and liabilities of Straight Path at July 31, 2012 included in discontinued operations consist of the
following:

(in thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $2,598
Trade accounts receivable, net 37
Prepaid expenses 8
Other current assets 1

ASSETS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS $2,644

LIABILITIES
Trade accounts payable $ 1
Accrued expenses 1,162
Deferred revenue 224
Income taxes payable 20
Other current liabilities 4

LIABILITIES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS $1,411
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Note 3—Marketable Securities

The following is a summary of marketable securities at July 31, 2013. The Company did not have any market-
able securities at July 31, 2012.

(in thousands)
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value

Available-for-sale securities:
Certificates of deposit* $8,786 $— $— $8,786
Municipal bonds 898 — — 898

TOTAL $9,684 $— $— $9,684

* Each of the Company’s certificates of deposit has a CUSIP, was purchased in the secondary market through a broker and may be sold in the
secondary market.

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities were $1.7 million, nil and nil in fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. There were no realized gains or losses from sales of available-for-sale secu-
rities in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011.

The contractual maturities of the Company’s available-for-sale securities at July 31, 2013 were as follows:

(in thousands) Fair Value

Within one year $9,684
After one year through five years —
After five years through ten years —
After ten years —

TOTAL $9,684

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the balance of assets at July 31, 2013 measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale securities $— $9,684 $— $9,684

At July 31, 2013, the Company did not have any liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. At
July 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $8.3 million and $6.4 million, respectively, in investments in hedge
funds, of which $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, were included in “Other current assets” and $8.2
million and $6.3 million, respectively, were included in “Investments” in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The Company’s investments in hedge funds are accounted for using the equity method or the
cost method, therefore investments in hedge funds are not measured at fair value.

In fiscal 2011, the Company’s marketable securities included auction rate securities for which the underlying
asset was preferred stock of the Federal National Mortgage Association or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation. The fair values of the auction rate securities, which could not be corroborated by the market,
were estimated based on the value of the underlying assets and the Company’s assumptions, and were classi-
fied as Level 3.
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The following table summarizes, for the year ended July 31, 2011, the change in the balance of the Company’s
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

(in thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 218
Total gains (losses) (realized or unrealized):

Included in earnings in “Other income (expense), net” 5,379
Included in other comprehensive income 131

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements:
Sales (5,728)

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 —

Balance, end of year $ —

The amount of total gains or losses for the year included in earnings in “Other income (expense), net” attributable
to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets or liabilities still held at the end of the year $ —

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments
The estimated fair value of the Company’s other financial instruments was determined using available market
information or other appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in
interpreting these data to develop estimates of fair value. Consequently, the estimates are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that could be realized or would be paid in a current market exchange.

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents—short-term, other current assets, revolving
credit loan payable, customer deposits, dividend payable, notes payable—current portion and other current
liabilities. At July 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of these assets and liabilities approximated fair
value because of the short period of time to maturity. The fair value estimates for cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash and cash equivalents—short-term were classified as Level 1 and other current assets, revolving
credit loan payable, customer deposits, dividend payable, notes payable—current portion and other current
liabilities were classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents—long-term. At July 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of restricted
cash and cash equivalents—long-term approximated fair value. The fair value was estimated based on the
anticipated cash flows once the restrictions are removed, which was classified as Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Notes payable—long-term portion. At July 31, 2013, the carrying amount of notes payable—long-term por-
tion approximated fair value. The fair value was estimated based on the Company’s assumptions, which was
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of the Compa-
ny’s notes payable—long-term portion at July 31, 2012 without incurring excessive cost.

Other liabilities. At July 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of other liabilities approximated fair value.
The fair value was estimated based on the Company’s assumptions, which was classified as Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

The Company’s investments at July 31, 2013 and 2012 included investments in the equity of certain privately
held entities and other investments that are accounted for at cost. It is not practicable to estimate the fair value
of these investments because of the lack of a quoted market price for the shares of these entities, and the
inability to estimate their fair value without incurring excessive cost. The carrying value of these investments
was $1.5 million and $1.1 million at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which the Company believes was
not impaired.
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Note 5—Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

Equipment $ 436,127 $ 431,709
Land and buildings 51,294 55,397
Computer software 105,449 96,750
Leasehold improvements 45,141 45,109
Furniture and fixtures 6,187 6,404

644,198 635,369
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (563,456) (549,802)

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 80,742 $ 85,567

In fiscal 2013, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $4.4 million for the building and improve-
ments that it owns at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey. The following facts and circumstances indicated
that the fair value of the building and improvements may be less than their carrying value: (1) the building was
not occupied and, at the time, the Company did not expect to occupy it, (2) economic uncertainty and sluggish
leasing activity stalled a recovery of the real estate market in Newark, (3) there were no potential tenants,
(4) no sale of the building had been completed and, at that time, there were no other likely buyers, (5) the
building would be expensive to redevelop and (6) the building was expected to remain vacant for the foresee-
able future. The Company determined the fair value of the building and improvements based on estimates of
an owner/user’s market rental rate net of costs of improvements and tenant work as well as the estimated value
to an investor/developer after deducting costs of improvements and costs to achieve full occupancy. This fair
value measurement was classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. At July 31, 2013, the carrying value of
the land, building and improvements at 520 Broad Street after the impairment charge was $37.7 million. The
Company is considering a range of options as to the future use or disposition of 520 Broad Street, some of
which could result in an additional loss from a further reduction in the carrying value of the land, building and
improvements and such loss could be material.

Depreciation and amortization expense of property, plant and equipment was $14.3 million, $15.9 million and
$20.1 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.

Note 6—Goodwill and Other Intangibles

The table below reconciles the change in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment for the period
from July 31, 2011 to July 31, 2013:

(in thousands)
Telecom Platform

Services Zedge Total

Balance as of July 31, 2011 $11,805 $3,207 $15,012

Foreign currency translation adjustments (398) — (398)

Balance as of July 31, 2012 11,407 3,207 14,614

Foreign currency translation adjustments 193 — 193

Balance as of July 31, 2013 $11,600 $3,207 $14,807
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The table below presents information on the Company’s other intangible assets:

(in thousands)

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Balance

July 31, 2013
Amortized intangible assets:

Trademarks and patents 4.7 years $2,119 $(1,715) $ 404
Customer lists 6.8 years 3,154 (2,168) 986

TOTAL 6.0 years $5,273 $(3,883) $1,390

July 31, 2012
Amortized intangible assets:

Trademarks and patents 5.0 years $2,026 $(1,386) $ 640
Customer lists 7.1 years 3,154 (1,887) 1,267

TOTAL 6.2 years $5,180 $(3,273) $1,907

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.9 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. The Company estimates that amortization expense of intangible assets with
finite lives will be $0.5 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million in fiscal 2014, fiscal
2015, fiscal 2016, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2018, respectively.

Note 7—Other Operating Gains (Losses), Net

The following table summarizes the other operating gains (losses), net by business segment:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Telecom Platform Services—gains (losses) related to legal matters, net $9,251 $ (6,698) $ —
Telecom Platform Services—loss on settlement of litigation (a) — (11,022) —
Telecom Platform Services—gain on settlement of claim (b) — 1,750 —
Telecom Platform Services—gain on termination of agreement (c) — — 14,375
Telecom Platform Services—loss from alleged patent infringement (Note 16) (d) — — (10,828)
Corporate—other — 100 (500)
All Other—gain on insurance claim (e) — — 2,637
All Other—loss on settlement of claim — — (2,860)

TOTAL $9,251 $(15,870) $ 2,824

Telecom Platform Services

(a) On October 12, 2011, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with T-Mobile USA, Inc.
(“T-Mobile”) to settle litigation related to an alleged breach of a wholesale supply agreement. In
consideration of the settlement of all disputes between the parties, on October 13, 2011, the Company paid
T-Mobile $10 million. The Company incurred legal fees of $1.0 million in fiscal 2012 in connection with
this matter.

(b) On January 17, 2012, the Company received $1.8 million from Broadstripe, LLC in settlement of the
Company’s claim stemming from Broadstripe, LLC’s rejection of its telephony services agreements with
the Company upon the confirmation of Broadstripe, LLC’s bankruptcy plan and closing of its bankruptcy
sale.

(c) In connection with CSC Holdings, LLC’s (“Cablevision”) acquisition of Bresnan Broadband Holdings,
LLC (“Bresnan”), Bresnan exercised its option to terminate the services being provided by the Company
to Bresnan under a Cable Telephony Agreement dated November 3, 2004. Pursuant to the terms of the
Agreement, in December 2010, Cablevision paid $14.4 million to the Company to terminate the
Agreement.
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(d) On February 15, 2011, a jury in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas awarded
Alexsam, Inc. $9.1 million in damages in an action alleging infringement by the Company of two patents
related to the activation of phone and gift cards (incorporating bank identification numbers approved by
the American Banking Association for use in a banking network) over a point-of-sale terminal. The
judgment issued in August 2011 awarded Alexsam an aggregate of $10.1 million including damages and
interest. The Company incurred legal fees of $0.7 million in connection with this matter.

All Other

(e) In fiscal 2011, the Company received proceeds from insurance of $3.5 million related to water damage to
portions of the Company’s building and improvements at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey. The
damaged portion of the building and improvements had an estimated carrying value of $1.1 million. In
fiscal 2011, the Company recorded a gain of $2.6 million from this insurance claim.

Note 8—Revolving Credit Loan Payable

The Company’s subsidiary, IDT Telecom, Inc., entered into a credit agreement, dated July 12, 2012, with TD
Bank, N.A. for a line of credit facility for up to a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. IDT Telecom
may use the proceeds to finance working capital requirements, acquisitions and for other general corporate
purposes. The line of credit facility is secured by primarily all of IDT Telecom’s assets. The principal out-
standing bears interest per annum, at the option of IDT Telecom, at either (a) the U.S. Prime Rate less 125
basis points, or (b) the LIBOR rate adjusted by the Regulation D maximum reserve requirement plus 150 basis
points. Interest is payable monthly and all outstanding principal and any accrued and unpaid interest is due on
the maturity date of July 11, 2014. At July 31, 2013, there was $21.1 million outstanding under the facility at
an interest rate of 1.69% per annum. On August 30, 2013, IDT Telecom repaid the entire $21.1 million loan
payable. The Company intends to borrow under the facility from time to time. IDT Telecom paid a closing fee
of $25,000 and pays a quarterly unused commitment fee of 0.375% per annum on the average daily balance of
the unused portion of the $25.0 million commitment. IDT Telecom is required to comply with various affirma-
tive and negative covenants as well as maintain certain financial targets and ratios during the term of the line
of credit, including IDT Telecom may not pay any dividend on its capital stock and IDT Telecom’s aggregate
loans and advances to affiliates or subsidiaries may not exceed $90.0 million. At July 31, 2013, there were no
amounts utilized for letters of credit under the line of credit, IDT Telecom was in compliance with all of the
covenants, and IDT Telecom’s aggregate loans and advances to affiliates and subsidiaries was $46.4 million. In
March 2013, IDT Telecom borrowed $8.0 million, which incurred interest at LIBOR plus 150 basis points, or
1.7037% per annum. In April 2013, IDT Telecom repaid the $8.0 million.

Note 9—Notes Payable

The Company’s notes payable consist of the following:

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

$11.0 million secured term loan due September 2015 (a) $6,880 $ 7,121
$26.9 million secured term loan due April 2020 (b) — 22,876
$1.2 million note due June 2012 (c) 279 279

Total notes payable 7,159 30,276
Less current portion (535) (560)

Notes payable—long term portion $6,624 $29,716
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The future principal payments for the notes payable as of July 31, 2013 are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year ending July 31:
2014 $ 535
2015 271
2016 6,353
2017 —
2018 —
Thereafter —

Total notes payable $7,159

(a) The loan bears interest at the rate of 5.6% per annum and is payable in monthly installments
of principal and interest of $0.1 million, with the last installment of $6.4 million payable on
September 1, 2015. The loan is secured by a mortgage on a building in Piscataway, New
Jersey.

(b) On April 30, 2013, the Company and the holder of the note payable secured by the mortgage
on the building located at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey (the “Lender”) entered into
an agreement to settle all disputes between the Company and Lender. In connection with this
agreement, on May 1, 2013, the Company paid the Lender $21.1 million and the Lender
released the Company from the note and discharged the mortgage. In the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2013, the Company recognized a gain of $0.2 million on the modification and early
termination of the note payable, which is included in “Other income (expense), net” in the
accompanying consolidated statement of income.

During the period from April 1, 2009 through March 31, 2013 (the “Modification Period”),
(1) the note incurred interest at the rate of 8.9% per annum, however the Company only paid
interest at the rate of 6.9% per annum, (2) the Company did not repay any principal during
the Modification Period, (3) the interest of 2.0% per annum that was accruing but not payable
during the Modification Period was added to the principal balance, although this deferred
interest did not accrue interest during the Modification Period, (4) monthly payments of
principal and interest of $0.2 million commenced at the end of the Modification Period, and
(5) a final balloon payment of $25.5 million was due on the maturity date of April 1, 2020. In
July 2011, the Company made a principal payment of $4.0 million in connection with the
receipt of insurance proceeds for water damage to portions of the building and improvements
at 520 Broad Street (see Note 7). As a result of the payment, (1) the interest to be added to the
principal balance during the Modification Period was reduced to an aggregate of $1.9 million
and (2) the final balloon payment on the maturity date was reduced to $21.7 million.

(c) On June 24, 2009, the Company issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1.2
million in connection with the acquisition of the 49% interest in Union Telecard Alliance, LLC
that it did not own. The note bears interest at 0.76% per annum. The principal and interest are
payable in thirty six equal, monthly installments that began on July 24, 2009 with the last
payment on June 24, 2012. The Company has not made any payments since November 2011
due to disputes with the seller.

F-23



IDT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 10—Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

Carrier minutes termination $ 50,687 $ 51,255
Carrier network connectivity, toll-free and 800 services 11,462 12,559
Regulatory fees and taxes 38,602 30,085
Legal settlements 11,784 29,214
Compensation costs 12,836 14,340
Legal and professional fees 6,026 5,617
Other 14,035 17,034

TOTAL $145,432 $160,104

Note 11—Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists of the following:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Gain on settlement of auction rate securities arbitration claim $ — $ — $ 5,379
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) 2,538 (2,859) (1,510)
Gain (loss) on investments 2,664 1,172 (60)
Gain on modification and early termination of loan payable (Note 9) 238 — —
Gain on sales of buildings and other assets 11 197 22
Other (68) (277) 81

TOTAL $5,383 $(1,767) $ 3,912

The gain on settlement of auction rate securities arbitration claim in fiscal 2011 related to auction rate secu-
rities that the Company held with an original cost of $14.3 million. In fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, the Com-
pany recorded an aggregate $13.9 million loss after determining that there were other than temporary declines
in the value of these auction rate securities. In October 2010, as a result of the settlement of its arbitration
claim, the Company received cash of $5.7 million in exchange for these auction rate securities and recognized a
gain of $5.4 million.

Note 12—Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes are as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Domestic $ 44,355 $ 9,573 $ 26,074
Foreign (10,405) (21,421) (18,475)

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES $ 33,950 $(11,848) $ 7,599
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets consist of the following:

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

Deferred income tax assets:
Bad debt reserve $ 2,812 $ 2,751
Accrued expenses 7,096 17,666
Stock options and restricted stock 2,786 1,342
Charitable contributions 2,415 7,266
Impairment 25,566 25,671
Depreciation 989 409
Unrealized gain 507 1,102
Net operating loss 144,001 183,061
Credits 2,845 2,595

Total deferred income tax assets 189,017 241,863
Valuation allowance (167,328) (204,977)

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS, NET $ 21,689 $ 36,886

The (provision for) benefit from income taxes consists of the following:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Current:
Federal $ 671 $ 1,652 $ 4,977
State and local 148 2,503 2,413
Foreign (1,431) 1,741 3,184

(612) 5,896 10,574

Deferred:
Federal (14,181) 36,166 2,137
State and local (1,079) 764 677
Foreign — (44) —

(15,260) 36,886 2,814

(PROVISION FOR) BENEFIT FROM INCOME TAXES $(15,872) $42,782 $13,388

The benefit from income taxes in fiscal 2012 was primarily due to the $36.9 million reversal of a portion of
the Company’s valuation allowance in the United States. In fiscal 2012, the Company determined that it was
more likely than not that a portion of its deferred income tax assets would be realized, therefore the valuation
allowance related to those assets was reversed. The Company based its determination on a projection of future
U.S. income and took into consideration the historical U.S. performance and decided a partial release of the
U.S. valuation that relates to the core businesses was warranted in that period. Assumptions regarding future
taxable income require significant analysis and judgment. This analysis included financial forecasts based on
historical performance of the core business and continuance of doing business in a jurisdiction in which losses
are incurred. Based on its projections, the Company expected that it would generate future taxable income
over the next five years in the U.S. jurisdiction and will begin utilizing its net operating loss carryover through
this period. Accordingly, the Company concluded that a portion of its U.S. jurisdiction core business assets did
not require a full valuation allowance. In fiscal 2013, the Company updated the analysis and concluded that
the valuation allowance related to its core U.S. business should be maintained at the current level and will be
reevaluated as warranted.

The Company did not release any of the valuation allowances that related to its former Straight Path Spectrum
business since it was not part of the main tax consolidated group and the portion of the Net2Phone acquired
net operating loss that is subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limitations (see below). The Company
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did not release any of the valuation allowances related to its foreign operations as it is not more likely than not
that the assets will be utilized based upon the earnings history and the current profitability projections. Both
the loss and valuation allowance that were part of the Straight Path Spin-Off are reflected as reductions in the
total amounts in the deferred income tax assets, net table above.

In February 2011, the Company liquidated its Puerto Rico legal entity. The final Puerto Rico tax return was
filed in April 2011 claiming a refund of $4.8 million. The Company expects to receive the refund shortly after
the completion of the audits of the liquidated entity’s Puerto Rico tax returns for fiscal years 2009 and 2010.
The Company reversed $3.5 million of income tax expense in April 2011 as a result of this expected income
tax refund. In addition, in the first quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company reversed $2.0 million of income tax
expense related to an IRS audit that was completed in August 2010.

The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and income taxes
provided are as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

U.S. federal income tax at statutory rate $(11,883) $ 4,147 $ (2,660)
Valuation allowance — 41,961 17,411
Foreign tax rate differential (5,073) (5,800) (3,282)
Nondeductible expenses 714 (26) (40)
Other 50 — 49
Prior year tax benefit 921 2,500 2,000
State and local income tax, net of federal benefit (601) — (90)

(PROVISION FOR) BENEFIT FROM INCOME TAXES $(15,872) $42,782 $13,388

At July 31, 2013, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $175
million. This carry-forward loss is available to offset future U.S. federal and state taxable income. The net
operating loss carryforwards will start to expire in fiscal 2013, with fiscal 2009’s loss expiring in fiscal 2030.
The Company has foreign net operating losses of approximately $203 million, of which approximately $147
million does not expire, and approximately $56 million expires in two to ten years. These foreign net operating
losses are available to offset future taxable income in the countries in which the losses were incurred. The
Company’s subsidiary, Net2Phone, which provides voice over Internet protocol communications services, has
additional federal net operating losses of approximately $91 million and state net operating losses of $140
million, both of which will expire through fiscal 2027. With the reacquisition of Net2Phone by the Company
in March 2006, its losses were limited under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 to approximately $7 million
per year. The net operating losses do not include any excess benefits related to stock options or restricted
stock.

The Company has not recorded U.S. income tax expense for foreign earnings, as such earnings are perma-
nently reinvested outside the United States. The cumulative undistributed foreign earnings are included in
accumulated deficit in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, and consisted of approximately $265 mil-
lion at July 31, 2013. Upon distribution of these foreign earnings to the Company’s domestic entities, the
Company may be subject to U.S. income taxes and withholding of foreign taxes, however, it is not practicable
to determine the amount, if any, which would be paid.
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The change in the valuation allowance is as follows:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands)

Balance at
beginning of

year

Additions
charged to

costs and
expenses Deductions

Balance at
end of year

2013
Reserves deducted from deferred income taxes, net:

Valuation allowance $204,977 $ 462 $(38,111) $167,328
2012

Reserves deducted from deferred income taxes, net:
Valuation allowance $206,669 $41,925 $(43,617) $204,977

2011
Reserves deducted from deferred income taxes, net:

Valuation allowance $248,345 $ — $(41,676) $206,669

The table below summarizes the change in the balance of unrecognized income tax benefits:

Year ended July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year $ — $ 3,754 $1,754
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year — — —
Additions for tax positions of prior years 356 — 2,000
Reductions for tax positions of prior years — — —
Settlements — (3,754) —
Lapses of statutes of limitations — — —

Balance at end of year $356 $ — $3,754

All of the unrecognized income tax benefits at July 31, 2013 would have affected the Company’s effective
income tax rate if recognized. Settlements of $3.8 million in fiscal 2012 were primarily due to an agreement on
certain state tax positions and the related payment of the taxes due, as well as the settlement of a foreign audit.
The Company expects the balance to be paid in the next twelve months.

The Company elected to record interest and or penalties on taxes in the current period’s provision. In fiscal
2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the Company recorded interest and penalties on income taxes of nil, nil and
$0.1 million, respectively. As of July 31, 2013 and 2012, there was no accrued interest included in current
income taxes payable.

The Company currently remains subject to examinations of its tax returns as follows: U.S. federal tax returns
for fiscal 2010 to fiscal 2013, state and local tax returns generally for fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2013 and foreign tax
returns generally for fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2013.

Note 13—Equity

Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
The rights of holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical except for certain
voting and conversion rights and restrictions on transferability. The holders of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock receive identical dividends per share when and if declared by the Company’s Board of
Directors. In addition, the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock have identical and
equal priority rights per share in liquidation. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock do not
have any other contractual participation rights. The holders of Class A common stock are entitled to three
votes per share and the holders of Class B common stock are entitled to one-tenth of a vote per share. Each
share of Class A common stock may be converted into one share of Class B common stock, at any time, at the
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option of the holder. Shares of Class A common stock are subject to certain limitations on transferability that
do not apply to shares of Class B common stock.

Exchange Offer and Conversion of the Company’s Common Stock
On January 24, 2011, in connection with the Company’s previously announced offer to exchange one share of
its Class B common stock for each share of common stock outstanding, the Company exchanged 1.9 million
shares of its Class B common stock for 1.9 million shares of its common stock.

On April 4, 2011 at a Special Meeting of Stockholders, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment
to the Company’s certificate of incorporation to (1) effect a conversion and reclassification of each outstanding
share of common stock into one share of Class B common stock, (2) eliminate the common stock and provi-
sions relating thereto, (3) provide for the conversion of Class A common stock into Class B common stock
instead of common stock, and (4) revise the provision relating to dividends and distributions. As a result, the
Company exchanged 1.8 million shares of its Class B common stock for 1.8 million shares of its common
stock, and exchanged 0.9 million restricted shares of its Class B common stock for 0.9 million restricted shares
of its common stock. The Company no longer has any shares of common stock authorized or outstanding and
has only two classes of common stock remaining—Class A common stock, which is not publicly traded, and
Class B common stock.

In connection with the reclassification and exchange offer, certain stockholders controlled by Mr. Howard S.
Jonas, the Company’s Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, exchanged 1.7 million shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock (which is entitled to three votes per share) for 1.7 million shares of the
Company’s Class B common stock (which is entitled to one-tenth of a vote per share) so that the voting power
of shares of the Company’s capital stock over which Mr. Jonas exercises voting control remained the same as it
was immediately prior to the commencement of the exchange offer. The 1.7 million shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock were added to the Company’s treasury stock.

All of the shares of the Company’s Class B common stock that were issued in exchange for shares of the
Company’s common stock or Class A common stock, an aggregate of 5.4 million shares, were issued from the
Company’s Class B treasury shares. As a result, in the consolidated balance sheet, “Additional paid-in capital”
and “Treasury stock” were reduced by $208.5 million.

In addition, the Company’s common stock is no longer listed on the New York Stock Exchange and it was de-
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Dividend Payments
On October 16, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.15 per share to stockholders of record of the
Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock at the close of business on October 9, 2012. On
November 13, 2012, the Company paid a special dividend of $0.60 per share to stockholders of record of the
Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock as of the close of business on November 5,
2012. The aggregate dividends paid in fiscal 2013 were $17.1 million. The Company suspended payment of its
regular $0.15 per share quarterly dividends for the remainder of fiscal 2013.

In July 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a special dividend of $0.08 per share to holders of
the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock. At July 31, 2013, dividends payable were
$1.8 million. The special dividend was paid on September 10, 2013 to stockholders of record as of the close of
business on August 30, 2013. The Company expects to resume payment of regular quarterly dividends
commencing with the first quarter of fiscal 2014, which it expects to pay in December 2013.

On October 12, 2011, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.23 per share for the fourth quarter of fiscal
2011 to stockholders of record at the close of business on October 3, 2011 of the Company’s Class A common
stock and Class B common stock. On January 5, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.13 per share
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for the first quarter of fiscal 2012 to stockholders of record at the close of business on December 22, 2011 of
the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On April 3, 2012, the Company paid a
cash dividend of $0.15 per share for the second quarter of fiscal 2012 to stockholders of record at the close of
business on March 26, 2012 of the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On
June 26, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.15 per share for the third quarter of fiscal 2012 to
stockholders of record at the close of business on June 18, 2012 of the Company’s Class A common stock and
Class B common stock. The aggregate dividends paid in fiscal 2012 were $15.0 million.

On November 23, 2010, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.22 per share for the first quarter of fiscal
2011 to stockholders of record at the close of business on November 15, 2010 of the Company’s common
stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On December 28, 2010, the Company paid a cash
dividend of $0.22 per share for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 to stockholders of record at the close of
business on December 16, 2010 of the Company’s common stock, Class A common stock and Class B
common stock. On July 12, 2011, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.23 per share for the third quarter
of fiscal 2011 to stockholders of record at the close of business on July 1, 2011 of the Company’s Class A
common stock and Class B common stock. The aggregate dividends paid in fiscal 2011 were $15.2 million.

Stock Repurchases
The Company has a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of
the Company’s Class B common stock. In fiscal 2013, the Company repurchased 77,843 shares of Class B
common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $0.8 million. In fiscal 2012, the Company repurchased
0.3 million shares of Class B common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $2.6 million. There were no
repurchases in fiscal 2011. As of July 31, 2013, 5.1 million shares remained available for repurchase under the
stock repurchase program.

In June 2011, a Special Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved the purchase by the
Company of 0.3 million shares of the Company’s Class B common stock from Howard Jonas at $24.83 per
share, the closing price for the Class B common stock on June 20, 2011. The Company paid an aggregate of
$7.5 million to purchase the shares.

Purchases of Stock of Subsidiary
In December 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company purchased shares of the Company’s subsidiary,
Fabrix, for cash of $1.8 million. The shares were purchased from holders of noncontrolling interests in Fabrix
representing 4.5% of the equity in Fabrix, which increased the Company’s ownership in Fabrix to 86.1% from
81.6%. In August 2013, both Fabrix and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company purchased shares of Fabrix
for aggregate cash of $1.1 million. The shares were purchased from holders of noncontrolling interests in Fabrix
representing 2.8% of the equity in Fabrix, which increased the Company’s ownership in Fabrix to 88.4%.

Sales of Stock of Subsidiaries
On November 21, 2012, the Company’s subsidiary, Zedge, sold shares to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of $0.1 million,
which increased Shaman II, L.P.’s ownership in Zedge to 11.17% from 11.1%. On November 15, 2011, Zedge
sold shares to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of $0.1 million, which increased Shaman II, L.P.’s ownership in Zedge to
11.1% from 11%. One of the limited partners in Shaman II, L.P. is a former employee of the Company.

In November 2010, a subsidiary of Genie sold a 5.0% equity interest for $10.0 million paid in cash. Also in
November 2010, the same subsidiary of Genie sold a 0.5% equity interest for $1.0 million paid with a promis-
sory note, which was classified as “Noncontrolling interests: receivable for issuance of equity”.

Note 14—Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans
The Company’s 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, is intended to provide
incentives to executives, employees, directors and consultants of the Company. Incentives available under the
2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan may include stock options, stock appreciation rights, limited rights,
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deferred stock units, and restricted stock. In connection with the reclassification and exchange offer, in April
2011, 1.0 million shares of common stock reserved for award under the 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
and 0.1 million shares of common stock available for future grants were reclassified into 1.0 million shares of
Class B common stock reserved for award and 0.1 million shares of Class B common stock available for future
grants. In December 2011, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2005 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company’s Class B common stock available for the
grant of awards by an additional 1.1 million shares. At July 31, 2013, the Company had 5.3 million shares of
Class B common stock reserved for award under its 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 0.6 million
shares were available for future grants.

No income tax benefits were recognized in the consolidated statements of income for stock-based compensa-
tion arrangements during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011. In fiscal 2013, there was no tax benefit
resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for the Company’s stock-based
compensation. In fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the Company did not recognize the tax benefits because the
deferred tax benefit was fully reserved for due to the uncertainty of future taxable income.

Stock Options
Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock
on the date of grant. Option awards generally vest on a graded basis over three years of service and have ten-
year contractual terms. The fair value of stock options was estimated on the date of the grant using a Black-
Scholes valuation model and the assumptions in the following table. No option awards were granted in fiscal
2013 or fiscal 2011. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company’s Class B common
stock and other factors. The Company uses historical data on exercise of stock options, post vesting forfeitures
and other factors to estimate the expected term of the stock-based payments granted. The risk free rate is based
on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Year ended July 31 2012

ASSUMPTIONS
Average risk-free interest rate 1.46%
Expected dividend yield 4.6%
Expected volatility 66.8%
Expected term 6.6 years

A summary of stock option activity for the Company is as follows:

Number of
Options

(in thousands)

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at July 31, 2012 704 $16.63

Granted — —
Exercised (62) 14.92
Cancelled / Forfeited — —

OUTSTANDING AT JULY 31, 2013 642 $16.79 7.5 $2,665

EXERCISABLE AT JULY 31, 2013 438 $18.71 5.7 $1,033

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted by the Company during fiscal 2012 was $4.97.
The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2011 was $0.2 million and $0.4
million, respectively. As of July 31, 2013, there was $1.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to non-vested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.3
years.
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In August 2013, in connection with the Straight Path Spin-Off, the exercise price of each outstanding option to
purchase the Company’s Class B common stock was reduced by 15.29% of the exercise price based on the
change in the trading price of the Company’s Class B common stock following the Straight Path Spin-Off.
Further, each option holder shared ratably in a pool of options to purchase 32,155 shares of Straight Path
Class B common stock. The Company accounted for the August 2013 reduction in the exercise price of the
Company’s outstanding stock options and the grant of new options in Straight Path as a modification. The
Company determined that there was no incremental value from the modification, therefore, the Company was
not required to record a stock-based compensation charge.

On March 26, 2012, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved an
extension of the expiration dates of all outstanding stock options held by current employees and consultants of
the Company. The expiration date of every stock option was extended for three years from the prior scheduled
expiration date. The Compensation Committee also approved the issuance of new options in replacement of
certain stock options that had recently expired, setting the expiration date of the newly issued stock options
three years from the date of the new grant. All newly issued options were fully vested and the exercise prices
were unchanged. This extension or replacement applied to options to purchase an aggregate of 0.6 million
shares of the Company’s Class B common stock. The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of
$0.3 million in March 2012 for the modification or issuance of the options based on the estimated fair values
on March 26, 2012.

On November 22, 2011, there were fully vested outstanding options to purchase 0.5 million shares of the
Company’s Class B common stock, with various exercise prices and expiration dates. The exercise prices of all
of such options were above the market price for the Company’s Class B common stock on such date. On
November 22, 2011, in connection with the Genie Spin-Off, the exercise price of each outstanding option to
purchase the Company’s Class B common stock was reduced by 43.8% of the exercise price based on the
change in the trading price of the Company’s Class B common stock following the Genie Spin-Off. Further,
each option holder shared ratably in a pool of options to purchase 50,000 shares of Genie Class B common
stock, meaning that each option holder received an option to purchase one-tenth of a share of Genie Class B
common stock for each option to purchase one share of the Company’s Class B common stock held as of the
Genie Spin-Off. The Company accounted for the November 2011 reduction in the exercise price of the
Company’s outstanding stock options and the grant of new options in Genie as a modification. The Company
determined that there was no incremental value from the modification, therefore, the Company was not
required to record a stock-based compensation charge.

In April 2011, options to purchase 0.1 million shares of the Company’s Class B common stock that were
granted in April 2001 with an expiration date in April 2011 were extended for one year. The Company
recorded stock-based compensation expense of $0.3 million in April 2011 for the modification of the options.
The fair value of the options was estimated using a Black-Scholes valuation model and the following assump-
tions: (1) expected volatility of 73% based on the historical volatility of the Company’s Class B common stock
and other factors, (2) a discount rate of 0.26%, (3) expected term of one year and (4) no dividends were
expected to be paid.

Restricted Stock
The fair value of restricted shares of the Company’s Class B common stock is determined based on the closing
price of the Company’s Class B common stock on the grant date. The fair value of restricted shares of the
Company’s common stock was determined based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the
grant date. Share awards generally vest on a graded basis over three years of service.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s grants of restricted shares of Class B common stock is presented
below:

(in thousands)

Number of
Non-vested

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-

Date Fair
Value

Non-vested shares at July 31, 2012 2,128 $ 7.21
Granted 35 12.69
Vested (149) 23.36
Forfeited (1) 12.17

NON-VESTED SHARES AT JULY 31, 2013 2,013 $ 6.11

As of July 31, 2013, there was $4.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
stock-based compensation arrangements, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
0.8 years. The total grant date fair value of shares vested in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $3.5
million, $5.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

Straight Path IP Group Stock
On September 24, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a grant of 10% of the equity of the
Company’s subsidiary, Straight Path IP Group, to Howard Jonas. These Straight Path IP Group shares vested
immediately. The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $0.7 million in fiscal 2013 for the
grant of these shares, based on the estimated fair value of the shares on the grant date. On March 15, 2011,
Straight Path IP Group granted shares of its common stock to two employees of the Company representing
5.5% of Straight Path IP Group’s outstanding equity. These Straight Path IP Group shares vested immediately.
In fiscal 2011, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $0.7 million for the grant of these
shares. The fair value of the Straight Path IP Group shares was determined using the income approach.

Note 15—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The accumulated balances for each classification of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

(in thousands)

Unrealized
gain (loss) on
available-for-
sale securities

Foreign
currency

translation

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Balance at July 31, 2010 $(131) $ (886) $(1,017)
Other comprehensive income attributable to IDT Corporation 127 3,917 4,044

Balance at July 31, 2011 (4) 3,031 3,027
Genie Spin-Off — (438) (438)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to IDT Corporation 4 (2,391) (2,387)

Balance at July 31, 2012 — 202 202
Other comprehensive income attributable to IDT Corporation — 2,139 2,139

BALANCE AT JULY 31, 2013 $ — $ 2,341 $ 2,341

Note 16—Legal Proceedings

On February 15, 2011, a jury in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas awarded Alexsam,
Inc. (“Alexsam”) $9.1 million in damages from the Company in an action alleging infringement of two patents
related to the activation of phone and gift cards (incorporating bank identification numbers approved by the
American Banking Association for use in a banking network) over a point-of-sale terminal. The judgment
issued in August 2011 awarded Alexsam an aggregate of $10.1 million including damages and interest. After
the Company appealed the judgment, on May 20, 2013, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals ruled on behalf
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of the Company that it did not infringe the Alexsam patents. The Court also affirmed that the Company was
licensed to use Alexsam’s patents for activations of certain phone and gift cards. However, the Court denied
the remainder of the appeal. The Court remanded the case to the District Court for a recalculation of damages.
Post-judgment interest continued to accrue at an annual rate of 0.11% on the $10.1 million awarded in the
judgment. The Company has completed a design-around of certain of the card encoding schemes at issue in an
attempt to avoid infringement of the Alexsam patents. On September 1, 2011, Alexsam filed a related action
seeking royalties for the products and systems previously found to infringe its patents to the extent they have
been used since January 1, 2011. A bench trial was held on April 1 and April 2, 2013. On September 24, 2013,
the parties entered into a Memorandum of Understanding pursuant to which the parties agreed to settle this
matter in full and will negotiate a final confidential settlement agreement.

On July 2, 2009, Southwestern Bell Telephone Company and nine of its affiliates (collectively “Southwestern
Bell”), each of which is a local exchange carrier, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas seeking an accounting as well as declaratory, injunctive and monetary relief from
the Company. The complaint alleged that the Company failed to pay “switched access service” charges
for calls made by consumers using the Company’s prepaid calling cards. The complaint alleged causes of action
for (i) violation of federal tariffs, (ii) violation of state tariffs, and (iii) unjust enrichment. On October 22,
2012, the Company and Southwestern Bell entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement to fully and
finally resolve the litigation and the underlying claim and matter in dispute.

In connection with the Aerotel, Ltd. (“Aerotel”) arbitration that was held in June 2012, on March 15, 2013,
the arbitration panel issued its Final Award, and determined that Aerotel sustained damages, inclusive of
interest at 9% per annum through March 15, 2013, in the total amount of approximately $5.4 million. On
April 8, 2013, Aerotel filed a Petition for Judgment Vacating the Arbitration Awards in the United States Dis-
trict Court, Southern District of New York along with a Motion supporting its Petition to Vacate the Arbi-
tration Awards. After briefing, on July 18, 2013, the Court confirmed the award, and as a result, in July 2013,
the Company paid Aerotel $5.4 million including interest. On August 14, 2013, Aerotel filed a Notice of
Appeal with the Court of Appeals, 2nd Circuit. Aerotel’s brief is due by November 5, 2013. A date has not
been set for the Company’s opposition and Aerotel’s reply.

The Company’s subsidiary Prepaid Cards BVBA was the exclusive licensee of a patent related to a method and
process used in prepaid calling cards that was invented by Shmuel Fromer, which has now expired. The
Company had been attempting to enforce this patent in Germany, and had succeeded, prevailing in infringe-
ment cases against certain calling card providers, including Lycatel (Ireland) Limited and Lycatel Services
Limited, and Mox Telecom AG. On February 21, 2012, a nullity hearing (effectively judging the validity of the
patent) with respect to the patent, took place before the German Federal Court of Justice in Karls-
ruhe, between Lycatel Services Limited as claimant, Mox Telecom AG as intervenor on the side of claimant,
and Mr. Fromer, as defendant. During this hearing, the court nullified claims 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 of the patent.
The Court also ordered the defendant to pay costs and fees in respect of all of the nullity proceedings involving
Lycatel and Mox. Except for the amount of fees and costs which may be claimed against the Company in
connection with the infringement proceedings, which are based on applicable statutes, the outcome of this
matter is uncertain, and, as such, the Company is not able to make an assessment of the final result and its
impact on the Company. Upon enforcement of the judgments in these cases, the Company was required to
transfer security deposits to the court. The security deposit for each of the Lycatel and Mox cases was
€250,000 ($0.3 million at July 31, 2013) and €1.5 million ($2.0 million at July 31, 2013), respectively. The
Company requested release of both security deposits. The court released the Lycatel security deposit to the
Company. Mox is attempting to block the release of the Mox security deposit by submitting a payment order
of approximately €1.5 million against Prepaid Cards BVBA for damages it claims were incurred as a result of
the preliminary enforcement by Prepaid Cards BVBA of the first and second instance patent infringement
judgments. Prepaid Cards BVBA has objected to this payment order. If Mox desires to further pursue this
claim it would have to initiate regular proceedings for damages, in which it would have to substantiate the
claim, and provide evidence for the allegedly suffered damage. The Company believes that there is evidence to
the contrary that Mox would find difficult to overcome in proving this claim.
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As of July 31, 2013, the Company had an aggregate of $10.0 million accrued for the Alexsam, Southwestern
Bell and Lycatel/Mox matters.

On May 5, 2004, the Company filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of
New York, seeking injunctive relief and damages against Tyco Group, S.A.R.L., Tyco Telecommunications
(US) Inc. (f/k/a TyCom (US) Inc.), Tyco International, Ltd., Tyco International (US) Inc., and TyCom Ltd.
(collectively “Tyco”). The Company alleged that Tyco breached a settlement agreement that it had entered into
with the Company to resolve certain disputes and civil actions among the parties. The Company alleged that
Tyco did not provide the Company, as required under the settlement agreement, free of charge and for the
Company’s exclusive use, a 15-year indefeasible right to use four Wavelengths in Ring Configuration (as
defined in the settlement agreement) (“Wavelengths”) on a global undersea fiber optic network that Tyco was
deploying at that time. In June 2004, Tyco asserted several counterclaims against the Company, alleging that
the Company breached the settlement agreement and is liable for damages for allegedly refusing to accept
Tyco’s offer regarding the Wavelengths referenced in the settlement agreement and for making a public state-
ment that Tyco failed to provide the Company with the use of its Wavelengths. On August 19, 2008, the
Appellate Division of the State of New York, First Department, granted summary judgment in favor of Tyco
dismissing the complaint and remanded the matter to the Supreme Court for further proceedings. On
October 22, 2009, the New York Court of Appeals issued an Order denying the Company’s appeal and
affirming the Appellate Division’s order. On or about November 17, 2009, the Company demanded that Tyco
comply with its obligations under the settlement agreement. After further discussions and meetings between the
parties regarding Tyco’s obligations under the settlement agreement, including its obligation to provide the use
of the Wavelengths for fifteen years in a manner fully consistent with that described in the settlement agree-
ment, the Company filed a complaint on November 24, 2010 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York,
County of New York, against Tyco based upon the failure to comply with the obligations under the settlement
agreement, to negotiate the terms of an indefeasible right to use the Wavelengths in good faith, and to provide
the Company with the Wavelengths. The complaint alleges causes of action for breach of contract and breach
of duty to negotiate in good faith. On January 6, 2011, Tyco filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, which
was granted. On July 22, 2011, the Company filed a notice of appeal. After briefing was completed, oral
argument was held on April 2, 2012. On December 27, 2012, the Appellate Division issued an opinion and
order reversing the order of the Supreme Court which granted Tyco’s motion to dismiss the Company’s
complaint. On January 31, 2013, Tyco filed a motion for reargument or, in the alternative, leave to appeal to
the Court of Appeals, which the Company opposed. On February 8, 2013, Tyco filed an answer with a coun-
terclaim. On May 21, 2013, the Appellate Division denied Tyco’s request for reargument but granted its
request for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. On July 30, 2013, Tyco filed its opening brief, the
Company filed its response on September 16, 2013, and Tyco’s reply was filed on October 11, 2013.

In addition to the foregoing, the Company is subject to other legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary
course of business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance in this regard,
none of the other legal proceedings to which the Company is a party will have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments
The Company had purchase commitments of $1.1 million as of July 31, 2013.
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Lease Commitments
The future minimum payments for operating leases as of July 31, 2013 are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year ending July 31:
2014 $2,922
2015 1,634
2016 1,173
2017 951
2018 771
Thereafter 339

Total payments $7,790

Rental expense under operating leases was $5.9 million, $4.1 million and $4.5 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. In addition, connectivity charges under operating leases were $11.8 million,
$16.3 million and $18.9 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.

Letters of Credit
As of July 31, 2013, the Company had letters of credit outstanding totaling $6.4 million primarily for
collateral to secure mortgage repayments and a settlement agreement payment. The letters of credit out-
standing as of July 31, 2013 expire as follows: $3.6 million in the year ending July 31, 2014 and $2.8 million
in August 2015.

Surety and Performance Bonds
The Company has a surety bond outstanding related to the $10.1 million Alexsam judgment (see Note 16). In
addition, IDT Payment Services and IDT Telecom have performance bonds issued through third parties for the
benefit of various states in order to comply with the states’ financial requirements for money remittance
licenses and telecommunications resellers, respectively. At July 31, 2013, the Company had aggregate surety
and performance bonds of $22.1 million outstanding.

Customer Deposits
As of July 31, 2013 and 2012, “Customer deposits” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets included
refundable customer deposits of $28.7 million and $10.5 million, respectively, related to IDT Financial Serv-
ices, the Company’s Gibraltar-based bank.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

July 31
(in thousands) 2013 2012

Restricted cash and cash equivalents—short-term
Letters of credit related $ 3,189 $ 1,430
IDT Financial Services customer deposits 31,076 11,154
Other 723 52

Total short-term 34,988 12,636
Restricted cash and cash equivalents—long-term
Letters of credit related 2,768 2,763
IDT Financial Services related 4,639 6,703

Total long-term 7,407 9,466

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents $42,395 $22,102

Note 18—Related Party Transactions

See Note 13 for a description of the Zedge transactions under “Sales of Stock of Subsidiaries.”
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The Company entered into various agreements with Straight Path prior to the Straight Path Spin-Off including
(1) a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for the Company’s
relationship with Straight Path after the spin-off, (2) a Tax Separation Agreement, which sets forth the
responsibilities of the Company and Straight Path with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state,
local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the spin-off, the preparation and filing of tax returns for
such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods, and (3) a Transition Services
Agreement, which provides for certain services to be performed by the Company to facilitate Straight Path’s tran-
sition into a separate publicly-traded company. These agreements provide for, among other things, the allocation
between the Company and Straight Path of employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities and obligations attribut-
able to periods prior to the spin-off, and provision of certain services by the Company to Straight Path following
the spin-off, including services relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, finance, treasury,
accounting, tax, internal audit, facilities, external reporting, investor relations and legal. In addition, the Company
and Straight Path have entered into a license agreement whereby each of the Company, Straight Path and their
subsidiaries granted and will grant a license to the other to utilize patents held by each entity.

In connection with the Straight Path Spin-Off, the Company agreed to pay certain obligations of Straight Path
totaling $0.9 million, which at July 31, 2013, was included in “Accrued expenses” in the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheet.

Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, the Company indemnifies Straight Path and Straight
Path indemnifies the Company for losses related to the failure of the other to pay, perform or otherwise dis-
charge, any of the liabilities and obligations set forth in the agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agree-
ment, the Company indemnifies Straight Path from all liability for taxes of Straight Path or any of its
subsidiaries or relating to the Straight Path business with respect to taxable periods ending on or before the
Straight Path Spin-Off, from all liability for taxes of the Company, other than Straight Path and its sub-
sidiaries, for any taxable period, and from all liability for taxes due to the Straight Path Spin-Off.

The Company entered into various agreements with Genie prior to the Genie Spin-Off including a Separation
and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for the Company’s relationship
with Genie after the spin-off, and a Transition Services Agreement, which provides for certain services to be
performed by the Company and Genie to facilitate Genie’s transition into a separate publicly-traded company.
These agreements provide for, among other things, (1) the allocation between the Company and Genie of
employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the spin-off,
(2) transitional services to be provided by the Company relating to human resources and employee benefits
administration, (3) the allocation of responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and
programs and other related matters, (4) finance, accounting, tax, internal audit, facilities, external reporting,
investor relations and legal services to be provided by the Company to Genie following the spin-off and
(5) specified administrative services to be provided by Genie to certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.
In addition, the Company entered into a Tax Separation Agreement with Genie, which sets forth the
responsibilities of the Company and Genie with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state,
local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the spin-off, the preparation and filing of tax returns
for such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods.

Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, the Company indemnifies Genie and Genie
indemnifies the Company for losses related to the failure of the other to pay, perform or otherwise discharge,
any of the liabilities and obligations set forth in the agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agreement, the
Company indemnifies Genie from all liability for the Company’s taxes with respect to any taxable period, and
Genie indemnifies the Company from all liability for taxes of Genie and its subsidiaries with respect to any
taxable period, including, without limitation, the ongoing tax audits related to Genie’s business.

The Company’s Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Howard S. Jonas, is the controlling
stockholder and Chairman of the Board of Genie. The Company’s selling, general and administrative expenses
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were reduced by $3.8 million and $2.7 million in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, as a result of the
fees the Company charged to Genie for services provided pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, net of
the amounts charged by Genie to the Company. At July 31, 2013 and 2012, other current assets reported in
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet included receivables from Genie of $0.6 million and $0.7 million,
respectively.

IDT Energy, Inc., a subsidiary of Genie, supplied electricity to the Company’s facility in Piscataway, New
Jersey and electricity and natural gas to the Company’s facilities in Newark, New Jersey. In fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, IDT Energy, Inc. billed the Company $21,000 and $0.5 million, respectively, for electricity and
natural gas.

The Company provides office space, certain connectivity and other services to Jonas Media Group, a
publishing firm owned by Howard Jonas. Billings for such services were $27,000, $29,000 and $17,000 in
fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. The balance owed to the Company by Jonas Media
Group was $6,000 and $29,000 as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company obtains insurance policies from several insurance brokers, one of which is IGM Brokerage Corp.
(“IGM”). IGM was, until his death in October 2009, owned by Irwin Jonas, father of Howard Jonas, and the
Company’s General Counsel, Joyce J. Mason. IGM is currently owned by Irwin Jonas’ widow—the mother of
Howard Jonas and Joyce Mason. Jonathan Mason, husband of Joyce Mason and brother-in-law of Howard
Jonas, provides insurance brokerage services via IGM. Based on information the Company received from IGM,
the Company believes that (1) IGM received commissions and fees from payments made by the Company
(including payments from third party brokers) in the aggregate amounts of $15,000 in fiscal 2013, $19,000 in
fiscal 2012 and $15,000 in fiscal 2011, which fees and commissions inured to the benefit of Mr. Mason, and
(2) the total payments made by the Company to IGM for various insurance policies were nil in fiscal 2013 and
$0.2 million in each of fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011. Neither Howard Jonas nor Joyce Mason has any owner-
ship or other interest in IGM or the commissions paid to IGM other than via the familial relationships with
their mother and Jonathan Mason.

Mason and Company Consulting, LLC (“Mason and Co.”), a company owned solely by Jonathan Mason,
receives an annual fee for the insurance brokerage referral and placement of the Company’s health benefit plan
with Brown & Brown Metro, Inc. Based on information the Company received from Jonathan Mason, the
Company believes that Mason and Co. received from Brown & Brown Metro, Inc. commissions and fees from
payments made by the Company in the amount of $24,000 in fiscal 2013, $20,000 in fiscal 2012 and $24,000
in fiscal 2011. Neither Howard Jonas nor Joyce Mason has any ownership or other interest in Mason and Co.
or the commissions paid to Mason and Co., other than via the familial relationships with Jonathan Mason.

Beginning in August 2009, IDT Domestic Telecom, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company, leases space in a
building in the Bronx, New York. Howard Jonas and Shmuel Jonas, the Company’s Chief Operating Officer,
and the son of Howard Jonas, are members of the limited liability company that owns the building. IDT
Domestic Telecom rented office, storage and parking space for two years for $0.1 million per year and
incurred costs of $0.1 million to build-out the space. In August 2009, the limited liability company was paid
an aggregate of $0.3 million for the lease and the build-out costs. The initial lease expired at the end of April
2012. For the six month period from May 1, 2012 to October 31, 2012, IDT Domestic Telecom was charged
aggregate rent of $34,512. The parties entered into a new lease, which became effective November 1, 2012 and
has a one-year term, with a one-year renewal option for IDT Domestic Telecom with the same terms.
Aggregate annual rent under the new lease is $69,025.

The Company had net loans receivable outstanding from employees aggregating $0.2 million and $0.3 million
as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which are included in “Other current assets” in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
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On September 14, 2009, the Company completed a pro rata distribution of the common stock of CTM Media
Holdings, Inc. (“CTM Holdings”) to the Company’s stockholders of record as of the close of business on August 3,
2009 (the “CTM Spin-Off”). The Company and CTM Holdings entered into a Master Services Agreement, dated
September 14, 2009, pursuant to which, among other things, the Company provided certain administrative and
other services to CTM Holdings on an interim basis. Such services included assistance with periodic reports
required to be filed with the SEC as well as maintaining minutes, books and records of meetings of the Board of
Directors and its committees, and assistance with corporate governance. Howard Jonas is the controlling stock-
holder and Chairman of the Board of CTM Holdings. In fiscal 2011, the Company’s selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses were reduced by $0.1 million for the amounts charged to CTM Holdings.

The Company and CTM Holdings entered into a Tax Separation Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2009,
to provide for certain tax matters including the assignment of responsibility for the preparation and filing of tax
returns, the payment of and indemnification for taxes, entitlement to tax refunds and the prosecution and
defense of any tax controversies. Pursuant to this agreement, the Company indemnifies CTM Holdings from all
liability for taxes of CTM Holdings and its subsidiaries for periods ending on or before September 14, 2009,
and CTM Holdings indemnifies the Company from all liability for taxes of CTM Holdings and its subsidiaries
accruing after September 14, 2009. Also, for periods ending on or before September 14, 2009, the Company
shall have the right to control the conduct of any audit, examination or other proceeding brought by a taxing
authority. CTM Holdings shall have the right to participate jointly in any proceeding that may affect its tax
liability unless the Company has indemnified CTM Holdings. Finally, CTM Holdings and its subsidiaries agreed
not to carry back any net operating losses, capital losses or credits for any taxable period ending after
September 14, 2009 to a taxable period ending on or before September 14, 2009 unless required by applicable
law, in which case any refund of taxes attributable to such carry back shall be for the account of the Company.

Note 19—Defined Contribution Plans

The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan available to all employees meeting certain eligibility criteria. The Plan
permits participants to contribute up to 20% of their salary, not to exceed the limits established by the Internal
Revenue Code. The Plan provides for discretionary matching contributions of 50%, up to the first 6% of compen-
sation. The discretionary matching contributions vest over the first five years of employment. The Plan permits the
discretionary matching contributions to be granted as of December 31 of each year. All contributions made by
participants vest immediately into the participant’s account. In fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, the Company’s cost for
contributions to the Plan was $1.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The Company did not incur any cost for
contributions to the Plan in fiscal 2011. In fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, the Company contributed 51,861 shares
and 92,843 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Class B common stock to the Plan for matching contributions.
In fiscal 2011, the Company’s matching contributions were made using forfeited funds. The Company’s Class A
common stock and Class B common stock are not investment options for the Plan’s participants.

Note 20—Business Segment Information

The Company has three reportable business segments, Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Serv-
ices, which comprise the IDT Telecom division, and Zedge. All other operating segments that are not report-
able individually are included in All Other. The Company’s reportable segments are distinguished by types of
service, customers and methods used to provide their services. The operating results of these business segments
are regularly reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker.

The Telecom Platform Services segment provides telecommunications services, including prepaid and recharge-
able calling products and international long distance traffic termination, as well as various payment services.
The Consumer Phone Services segment provides consumer local and long distance services in the United States.
Zedge owns and operates an on-line platform for mobile phone consumers interested in obtaining free and
relevant, high quality games, apps, and personalization content such as ringtones, wallpapers, and alerts. All
Other includes Fabrix, a software development company specializing in highly efficient cloud-based video
processing, storage and delivery, the Company’s real estate holdings, and other smaller businesses. Corporate
costs include certain services, such as compensation, consulting fees, treasury and accounts payable, tax and
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accounting services, human resources and payroll, corporate purchasing, corporate governance including
Board of Directors’ fees, internal and external audit, investor relations, corporate insurance, corporate legal,
business development, and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses including, among
others, facilities costs, charitable contributions and travel, as well as depreciation expense on corporate assets.
Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues.

In fiscal 2013, the Company began reporting Zedge as a separate reportable segment, therefore Zedge is no
longer included in All Other. To the extent possible, comparative historical results have been reclassified and
restated as if the fiscal 2013 business segment structure existed in all periods presented.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as the accounting policies of the Company as a whole.
The Company evaluates the performance of its business segments based primarily on income (loss) from oper-
ations. IDT Telecom depreciation and amortization are allocated to Telecom Platform Services and Consumer
Phone Services because the related assets are not tracked separately by segment. There are no other significant
asymmetrical allocations to segments.

Operating results for the business segments of the Company are as follows:

(in thousands)

Telecom
Platform
Services

Consumer
Phone

Services Zedge All Other Corporate Total

Year ended July 31, 2013
Revenues $1,587,623 $14,514 $5,811 $12,669 $ — $1,620,617
Income (loss) from operations 48,495 1,824 340 (7,267) (14,001) 29,391
Depreciation and amortization 12,339 1 798 1,676 96 14,910
Impairment of building and improvements — — — 4,359 — 4,359

Year ended July 31, 2012
Revenues $1,477,091 $19,307 $3,793 $ 6,092 $ — $1,506,283
Income (loss) from operations 5,945 4,062 (248) (3,703) (13,152) (7,096)
Depreciation and amortization 14,208 9 652 1,519 260 16,648

Year ended July 31, 2011
Revenues $1,316,601 $26,440 $3,216 $ 5,159 $ — $1,351,416
Income (loss) from operations 21,608 7,100 (202) (5,016) (16,105) 7,385
Depreciation and amortization 17,628 59 566 2,094 605 20,952
Severance and other charges 926 — — — 127 1,053

Telecom Platform Services’ income from operations in fiscal 2013 included net gains of $9.3 million related to
legal matters.

Telecom Platform Services’ income from operations in fiscal 2012 included other operating losses, net of $15.9
million comprised of $6.5 million for estimated losses from pending litigation, a loss of $11.0 million from the
settlement of litigation with T-Mobile (see Note 7) and a $0.2 million loss on the settlement of an unrelated
claim, net of a gain of $1.8 million for cash received from Broadstripe, LLC in settlement of the Company’s
claim stemming from Broadstripe, LLC’s rejection of its telephony services agreements with the Company (see
Note 7).

Telecom Platform Services’ income from operations in fiscal 2011 included a gain of $14.4 million related to
the termination of a cable telephony agreement with one of its customers (see Note 7) and an expense of $10.8
million related to an action alleging patent infringement (see Note 16).

All Other’s loss from operations in fiscal 2011 included a loss of $2.9 million from the settlement of other
claims partially offset by a gain of $2.6 million related to an insurance claim for water damage to portions of
the Company’s building and improvements at 520 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey (see Note 7).
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Total assets for the reportable segments are not provided because a significant portion of the Company’s assets
are servicing multiple segments and the Company does not track such assets separately by segment.

Geographic Information
Revenue from customers located outside of the United States as a percentage of total revenues from continuing
operations and revenue from customers located in the United Kingdom as a percentage of total revenues from
continuing operations were as follows. Revenues by country are determined based on selling location.

Year ended July 31 2013 2012 2011

Revenue from customers located outside of the United States 23% 29% 32%

Revenue from customers located in the United Kingdom 13% 14% 13%

Net long-lived assets and total assets held outside of the United States, which are located primarily in Western
Europe, were as follows:

(in thousands)
United
States

Foreign
Countries Total

July 31, 2013
Long-lived assets, net $ 77,568 $ 3,174 $ 80,742
Total assets 292,007 143,400 435,407

July 31, 2012
Long-lived assets, net $ 81,668 $ 3,899 $ 85,567
Total assets 310,209 140,905 451,114

July 31, 2011
Long-lived assets, net $ 85,934 $ 4,537 $ 90,471
Total assets 430,868 137,298 568,166

Note 21—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The table below presents selected quarterly financial data of the Company for its fiscal quarters in fiscal 2013
and fiscal 2012:

Quarter Ended
(in thousands,
except per share data) Revenues

Direct cost
of revenues

Income
(loss)
from

operations

Income
(loss)
from

continuing
operations

Net income
(loss)

attributable
to IDT

Corporation

Income (loss) per share
—basic

Income (loss) per share
—diluted

From
continuing
operations

Net
income

(loss)

From
continuing
operations

Net
income

(loss)

2013:
October 31 $ 400,117 $ 335,251 $ 6,683 $ 5,620 $ 3,614 $ 0.24 $ 0.17 $ 0.23 $ 0.16
January 31 411,456 344,486 5,655 3,908 2,953 0.16 0.14 0.15 0.13
April 30(a) 396,936 331,163 15,687 10,081 8,691 0.46 0.42 0.43 0.39
July 31(b) 412,108 344,673 1,366 (1,531) (3,651) (0.09) (0.17) (0.09) (0.17)

TOTAL $1,620,617 $1,355,573 $ 29,391 $18,078 $11,607 $ 0.77 $ 0.56 $ 0.72 $ 0.52

2012:
October 31(c) $ 376,643 $ 319,330 $(10,930) $ (7,958) $ (4,326) $(0.40) $(0.21) $(0.40) $(0.21)
January 31 365,314 306,348 4,121 3,019 2,656 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.12
April 30(d) 379,576 319,793 (3,108) (1,823) 2,989 (0.11) 0.14 (0.11) 0.14
July 31(e) 384,750 323,915 2,821 37,696 37,329 1.79 1.78 1.70 1.69

TOTAL $1,506,283 $1,269,386 $ (7,096) $30,934 $38,648 $ 1.45 $ 1.87 $ 1.36 $ 1.75

(a) Included in income from operations was other operating gains of $9.6 million related to legal matters.

(b) Included in income from operations was a charge for impairment of building and improvements of $4.4 million.

(c) Included in loss from operations was other operating loss of $11.0 million from the settlement of litigation with T-Mobile.

(d) Included in loss from operations was other operating loss of $6.5 million for the estimated loss from pending litigation.

(e) Included in income from continuing operations was a benefit from income taxes of $36.6 million primarily due to the reversal of a portion
of the valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets.

F-40



Exhibit 21.01

DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

Entrix Telecom, Inc. (DE) IDT Payment Services, Inc. (DE)
IDT America, Corp. (NJ) IDT Telecom, Inc. (DE)
IDT Domestic Telecom, Inc. (DE) IDT Wireless, Inc. (DE)
IDT Domestic-Union, LLC (DE) Net2Phone, Inc. (DE)
IDT Financial Services, LLC (DE) Zedge Holdings, Inc. (DE)
IDT Payment Services of New York, LLC (DE)

FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES

Name Country of Formation

IDT Corporation de Argentina S.A. Argentina
IDT Telecom Asia Pacific (Australia) PTY. LTD. Australia
Expercom S.A. Belgium
IDT Europe B.V.B.A. Belgium
IDT Brasil Telecomunicações Ltda Brazil
IDT Brazil Limitada Brazil
IDT Telecom Canada Corp. Canada
IDT Chile S.A. Chile
IDT Germany GmbH Germany
Younip Telecom GmbH Germany
IDT Financial Services Holding Limited Gibraltar
IDT Financial Services Limited Gibraltar
IDT Telecom Asia Pacific Limited Hong Kong
Interdirect Tel Limited (dormant) Ireland
Fabrix T.V. Ltd. Israel
IDT General Development Israel Ltd. Israel
IDT Italia S.R.L. Italy
DirectTel Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
DYP C.V. Netherlands
Homer Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
IDT Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
IDT Netherlands B.V. Netherlands
MJP C.V. Netherlands
Pryd Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
STA Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Strategic Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
TimeTel Dutch Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Zedge Europe AS Norway
IDT Peru S.R.L. Peru
IDT Telecom South Africa (PTY) LTD South Africa
IDT Spain S.L. Spain
IDT Global Limited United Kingdom
IDT Retail Europe Limited United Kingdom
Dofitel S.A. Uruguay
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated October 15, 2013, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and
internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of IDT Corporation on Form 10-K for the
year ended July 31, 2013. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration
Statements of IDT Corporation on Forms S-3 (File No. 333-53719, effective May 27, 1998, File No. 333-61565,
effective August 14, 1998, File No. 333-71991, effective April 16, 1999, File No. 333-77395, effective April 29,
1999, File No. 333-80133, effective June 7, 1999, File No. 333-86261, effective August 31, 1999, File No. 333-
104286, effective March 19, 2004, File No. 333-115403, effective May 12, 2004, and File No. 333-119190,
effective September 22, 2004) and Forms S-8 (File No. 333-73167, effective March 1, 1999, File No. 333-
100424, effective October 8, 2002, File No. 333-105865, effective June 5, 2003, File No. 333-116266, effective
June 8, 2004, File No. 333-130287, effective December 13, 2005, File No. 333-130288, effective December 13,
2005, File No. 333-130562, effective December 21, 2005, File No. 333-146718, effective October 15, 2007, File
No. 333-154257, effective October 14, 2008 and File No. 333-177247, effective October 11, 2011).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
October 15, 2013
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the use, in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of IDT Corporation of our report dated October 6,
2011 on our audit of the balance sheet of American Shale Oil, LLC (A Development Stage Company) as of
July 31, 2011 and the related statement of operations, members’ (deficit) interest and cash flows for the year then
ended.

/s/ Zwick and Banyai, PLLC

Zwick and Banyai, PLLC
Southfield, Michigan

October 15, 2013
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Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Howard S. Jonas, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of IDT Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 15, 2013

/s/ Howard S. Jonas
Howard S. Jonas

Chief Executive Officer
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Certification of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Marcelo Fischer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of IDT Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 15, 2013

/s/ Marcelo Fischer
Marcelo Fischer

Senior Vice President—Finance
(Principal Financial Officer)
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IDT CORPORATION

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of IDT Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fiscal 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Howard S. Jonas, Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 15, 2013

/s/ Howard S. Jonas
Howard S. Jonas

Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of
this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to IDT Corporation and will be retained by
IDT Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.02

IDT CORPORATION

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of IDT Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fiscal 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Marcelo Fischer, Principal Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 15, 2013

/s/ Marcelo Fischer
Marcelo Fischer

Senior Vice President—Finance
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of
this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to IDT Corporation and will be retained by
IDT Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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